
As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 23, 1995
Registration No. 33- / V

'••*?

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

• 1 '
Form s-i

REGISTRATION STATEMENT
Under

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933
35 14 4214

* B F . 0 3 3 I . . * - • - "

-NETCCATE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
Delaware

(State or other Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or orgaalxatloa)

(Exact aame of Registrant as specified In Its charier)

7372
(Primary Standard Industrial
Classification Code Number)

50] East Mlddtefleld Road
Mountain View, CA 94043

(415) 254-1900

94-3200270
(I.RS. Employer

Identification Number)

i I - J V
_ \ ~ (Address, iadndlag tip code, and telephone number, Including

area code, of Registrant's principal executive offices)

Peter U S . Currle
Vice President and Chler Financial Officer

Netscape Communications Corporation
501 East Mlddlefleld Road

• Mountain View, CA 94043
. -, ; ' ; (415) 254-1900

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, Including area code, of agent for service)

I

Copies to;

Wil

Larry W. So-nslnl, E M .
James N. Slrawbridge, Esq.

Jose F. Maclas, Esq.
Dehra B. Rosier, Esq.

on Sonsinl Goodrich A Rosatl
Professional Corporation

650 Page Mill Road
Palo Alto, California 94304

(415) 493-9300

William D. Sherman, Esq.
Peter E. Williams III, Esq.

C. Jeffrey Char, Esq.
Aki Y. Sttojl, Esq.

Morrison & Foerster
755 Page Mill Koad

Palo Alto, California 94304
(415) 813-5600

I
Approximate dale of commencement of proposed sale to the public

As soon as practicable after the effective date of this Registration Statement.

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to
Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), check the following box. D

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462 (b) under the Securities Act,
please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration
statement for the same offering. D .

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462 (c) under the Securities Act, check the
following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for
the same offering. D

If delivery of the prospectus is expected to be made pursuant to Rule 434. please ch jck the following box. D

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of Each Class of
Securities to be Registered

Common Stock, $.0001 par value

Proposed Maximum Aggregate
Offering Price ( I T

$56,350,000

Amount of
Registration Fee

$19,431.03

(1) Estimated solely for the purpose of calculating the amount of the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457(a).

The Registrant hereby amends this Registration Statement on inch date or dates ai mar be necessary to delay Its
effective date until the Registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this Registration
Statement shall thereafter become effective In accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until the
Registration Statement shall become effective on such date ai the Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a),
may determine.
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

This Registration Statement contains two forms of prospectuses: one to be used in connection with an
offering in tbe United States (the "U.S. Prospectus") and the other to be used in connection with a
concurrent international offering (the "International Prospectus"). The two prospectuses are identical except
for the front cover and inside front cover pages. The form of U.S. Prospectus is included herein and is followed
by the differing front cover and inside front cover pages to be used in the International Prospectus. The pages
for the International Prospectus included herein are labelled "Alternative Page for International Prospectus."



PKOSPMCTVS (Subject to Completion)
Issued June 23, 1995

3,500,000 Shares

NETSCAPE

ffi"S'

COMMON STOCK
Of the 3,500.000 Share* of Common Stock offered, 3,000,000 Share* are being offend Initially In the United Stale* and Canada by the

U.S. Underwriter* and S00,000 Shan* arm being offend initially otatlde of the United Stattt and Canada by the International
Underwriter*. See "Underwriter*." All of the Share* of Common Stock offered hereby axe being told by the Company.

Prior to thi* offering, there hat been no public market for the Common Stock of the Company, ft i* currently
estimated that the initial public offering price wilt be between • and I per tha^e. See "Underwriter*"

far a diteiiulan of the factor* to be comidered in determining the initial pul'lit offering price.

THIS OFFERING INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK. SEE "RISK FACTORS"
COMMENCING ON PAGE 5.

THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION NOR HAS THE

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION
PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS PROSPECTUS. ANY

REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

PRICE $ A SHARE

Price to
Public

Underwriting
Dittounti and

CommU*lon*(l)
Proceed* to

Company(2)

Per Share
Total(S) . s
(1) The Company has agreed to indemnify the U.S. Underwriters and the International Underwriter* against certain

liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 19S3, as amended.
(2 Before deducting expenses payable by the Company estimated at S'760,000.

The Company has granted the U.S. Underwriters an option, exercisable within SO days of the date hereof, to
purchase up to an aggregate of C$5,000 additional Shares at the price to publit less underwriting discounts and
commissions for the purpose of covering over-allotments, if any. If the U.S. Underwriters exercise such option in
full, the total price to public, underwriting discounts and commissions and proceeds to Company will be S ,
S andS , respectively. See "Underwriters."

The Shares are offered, subject to prior sale, when, as and if accepted by the Underwriters
named herein and subject to approval of certain legal matters by Morrison fy Foerster, counsel
for the Underwriters. It is expected that delivery of certificates for the Shares will be made on
or about , 1996, at the office of Morgan Stanley $ Co. Incorporated, New York, N.Y.,
against payment therefor in New York funds.

MORGAN STANLEY & CO.
Incorporated

, 1996

HAMBRMCHT & QUIST



No person is authorized ID connection with any offering made hereby to give any information or to make
any representation other than as contained in this Prospectus, and, if given or made, such information or
representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the Company or any Underwriter. This
Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy by any person in any
jurisdiction in which It Is unlawful for such person to make such an offering or solicitation. Neither the
delivery of this Prospectus nor any sale made hereunder shall under any circumstances imply that the
information contained herein is correct as of any date subsequent to the date hereof.

Until , 1995 (25 days after the commencement of this offering), all dealers effecting
transactions in the Common Stock, whether or not participating In this distribution, may be required to
deliver a Prospectus. This delivery requirement is in addition to the obligation of dealers to deliver a
Prospectus when acting as Underwriters and with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.
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The Company intends to furnish to its stockholders annual reports containing consolidated financial
statements audited by an independent public accounting firm and quarterly reports for the first three quarters
of each fiscal year containing interim unaudited financial information.

The Company has applied for registration of the following trademarks: Netscape, Netscape Navigator
and the Company's logo. This Prospectus also includes product names and other trade names and trademarks
of the Company and of other organizations.

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OVER-AIXOT OR
EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THF
COMMON STOCK OF THE COMPANY AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHER-
WISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE
DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. • «»««.

Except as otherwise noted herein, all information in this Prospectus assumes (ii a two-for-one stock split
of the Common Stock, (U) the conversion of each outstanding share of Preferred Stock into two shares of
Common Stock, which will occur automatically upon the closing of the offering, (Hi) an increase in the
authorized number of shares of Common Stock from 30,000.000 to 100,000,000. (iv) an increase in the
authorized number of shares of undestgnated Preferred Stock from 2,000.000 to 5,000.000, and (iv) no
exercise of the Underwriters' over-allotment option. See "Description of Capital Stock" and "Underwriters,"
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY
The following summary is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information and the consolidated

financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus.

THE COMPANY

Netscape Communications Corporation is a leading provider of open cbent, server and integrated
applications software that enables infonnation exchange and commerce over the Internet and private Internet
Protocol networks. The Company's products are designed to deliver high levels of performance, ease of use
and security. These products allow individuals and organizations to execute secure financial transactions across
the Internet, such as the buying and selling of merchandise, publications, software and information. In
addition, through the use of the Company's software, organizations can extend their internal information
systems and enterprise applications to geographically dispersed facilities, remote offices and mobile employees.

To reach a diverse and worldwide audience, Netscape delivers its suite of products and services through
multiple distribution channels. The Company offers its products via a direct sales force, telesales and the
Internet as well as through original equipment manufacturers, systems integrators, value added resellers and
software retailers. To accelerate the acceptance of the Company's products and facilitate the adoption of the
Internet as a commercial marketplace, Netscape has also initiated or is pursuing strategic relationships with
leading telecommunications, commerce and computing companies with complementary resources and
technologies. These companies include Apple Computer, Inc., Delphi Internet Services Corporation, Digital
Equipment Corporation, First Data Corporation, MasterCard International, Inc., MCI Telecommunications
Corporation, Novell, Inc., RSA Data Security, Inc., Silicon Graphics, Inc. and Sun Microsystems, Inc.

THE OFFERING
Common Stock offered

U.S. offering 3.000,000 shares
International offering 500,000 shares

Total 3,500.000 shares
Common Stock to be outstanding after the offering 30,502,244 shares(l)
Use of proceeds For general corporate purposes, including working capital

and capital expenditures
Proposed Nasdaq National Market symbol NSCP

SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Period from

Inception
(April 4, 1994) to Quarter Ended

December 31, 1994 March 31, 1995
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues $ 695,871 $ 4,737,591
Gross profit 476,781 4,402,690
Total operating expenscs{2) 9,001,556 7,119,731
Operating loss (8,524,775) (2,717,041)
Net loss (8,469,845) (2,699,023)

March 31, 1995
Actual Pro Forma(3) As Adjusted (4)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital (deficit) $(2,587,063) $14,712,937 $56,277,937
Total assets 12,312,523 29,612,523 71,177.523
Deferred revenue 7,244,626 7,244,626 7,244.626
Long-term obligations 2,352.411 2,352,411 2,352,411
Total stockholders' equity (deficit) (271,484) 17,028,516 58,593,516

(1) Based on shares of Common Stock outstanding at May 31, 1995. Excludes J .084,800 shares of Common Stock issuable upon
exercise of outstanding options at May 31, 1995, with a weighted average exercise price of $0.16 per share. See "Capitalization."
"Management — Stock Plans" and Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) Total operating expenses for the quarter ended March 31, 1995 include $861,512 in amortization of deferred compensation related to
stock option grants. See Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(3) The pro forma balances reflect the issuance of 2,000.000 (hares of Scries C Preferred Stock in April 1995 for net cash proceeds of
approximately $17,300,000.

(4) Adjusted to reflect the issuance of 2,000,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock in April 1995 for ML cash proceeds of approximately
$17,300,000 and the sale of the shares of Common Stock offered hereby (at an assumed initial public offering price of $13.00 per
share and after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimaied offering expenses) and the
application of the net proceeds therefrom. See "Use o f Proceeds," "Capitalization" and "Underwriters." See Note 10 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.



THE COMPANY

Netscape Communications Corporation ("Netscape" or the "Company") is a leading provider of open
client, server and integrated applications software that enables information exchange and commerce over the
Internet and private Internet Protocol ("IP") networks. The Company's products are designed to deliver high
levels of performance, ease of use and security. These products allow individuals and organizations to execute
secure financial transactions across the Internet, such as the buying and selling of merchandise, publications,
software and information. In addition, through the use of the Company's software, organizations can extend
their internal information systems and enterprise applications to geographically dispersed facilities, remote
offices and mobile employees.

The Internet is a global web of computer networks which International Data Corporation ("IDC")
estimates had approximately 38 million users worldwide at the end of 1994. IDC estimates that today
approximately 73%, or 28 million, of these users are in organizations connecting private IP networks to the
Internet to access e-mail and newsgroups. By 1999, IDC estimates that there will be nearly 200 million users
of the Internet. Of these users, IDC estimates that 125 million users will have full Internet access, which, in
addition to e-mail and newsgroups, includes file transfer capabilities and access to graphic and multimedia
information on the World Wide Web (the "Web").

The Internet provides organizations with new means to conduct business. Commercial uses of the
Internet include business-to*business and business-to-consumer transactions, product marketing, advertising,
entertainment, electronic publishing, electronic services and customer support. The Company believes that
organizations will also increasingly use the Internet and private IP networks to improve communications,
distribute information, lower operating costs and re-engineer operations.

The Company's goal is to make its software the de facto standard for navigating, publishing information
and executing transactions on the Internet and private IP networks. The Netscape Navigator, introduced in
December 1994, was the first commercially available client for the Web to include built-in security
capabilities, which facilitate commercial transactions over the Internet. The Company's products enable the
creation, editing, organization and retrieval of documents that contain audio and Wdeo clips, graphical images
and formatted text. These products are also designed to provide enhanced security for the controlled access of
confidential information on the Internet and private IP networks and the execution of financial transactions.
The Company's core development group includes key members of the engineering teams that developed the
original Mosaic Web client at NCSA and the original Web server software at CHRN and NCSA, as well as
leading software security specialists.

To reach a diverse and worldwide audience, Netscape delivers its suite of products and services through
multiple distribution channels. The Company offers its products via a direct sales force, telesales and the
Internet as well as through original equipment manufacturers, systems integrator, value added resellers and
software retailers. To accelerate the acceptance of the Company's products and further facilitate the adoption
of the Internet as a commercial marketplace, Netscape has initiated or is pursuing strategic relationships with
leading telecommunications, commerce and computing companies with complementary resources and
technologies. These companies include Apple Computer, Inc., Delphi Internet Services Corporation, Digital
Equipment Corporation, First Data Corporation, MasterCard International, Inc., MCI Telecommunications
Corporation, Novell, Inc., RSA Data Security, Inc., Silicon Graphics, Inc. and Sun Microsystems, Inc.

The Company was incorporated in Delaware in April 1994. Netscape's home page can be located on the
Web at http://home.netscape.com. The Company's principal executive office is located at 501 East
Middlefield Road, Mountain View, California 94043 and its telephone number is (415) 254-1900. Except as
otherwise noted herein, all references to "Netscape" or the "Company" shall mean Netscape Communica-
tions Corporation, a Delaware corporation and its Japanese subsidiary, Netscape Communications (Japan),
Ltd.



RISK FACTORS

In evaluating the Company's business, prospective investors should consider carefully the following
factors in addition to the other information presented in this Prospectus.

Limited Operating History; Accumulated Deficit. The Company was founded in April 1994 and
commenced shipment of its initial product in December 1994. Accordingly, the Company has only a limited
operating history upon which an evaluation of the Company and its prospects can be based. The Company's
prospects must be considered in light of the risks, expenses and difficulties frequently encountered by
companies in their early stage of development, particularly companies in new and rapidly evolving markets. To
address these risks, the Company must, among other things, respond to competitive developments, continue to
attract, retain and motivate qualified persons, and continue to upgrade its technologies and commercialize
products and services incorporating such technologies. There can be no assurance that the Company will be
successful in addressing such risks. The Company has incurred net losses since: inception and expects to
continue to operate at a loss for the foreseeable future. As of March 31, 1995, the Company had an
accumulated deficit of $11.2 million. Although the Company has experienced revenue growth in recent
periods, such growth rates will not be sustainable and are not indicative of future operating results. There can
be no assurance that the Company will achieve or sustain profitability. See "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

Potential Fluctuations in Quarterly Results. As a result of the Company's limited operating history, the
Company does not have historical financial data for a significant number of periods on which to base planned
operating expenses. Accordingly, the Company's expense levels are based in part on its expectations as to future
revenues and to a large extent are fixed. However, the Company typically operates with no backlog. As a result,
quarterly sales and operating results generally depend on the volume and timing of and ability to fulfill orders
received within the quarter, which are difficult to forecast. The Company may be unable to adjust spending in a
timely manner to compensate for any unexpected revenues shortfall. Accordingly, any significant shortfall of
demand for the Company's products and services in relation to the Company's expectations would have an
immediate adverse impact on the Company's business, operating results and financial condition. In addition, the
Company plans to increase its operating expenses to fund greater levels of research and development, increase its
sales and marketing operations, develop new distribution channels and broaden its customer support capabilities.
To the extent that such expenses precede or are not subsequently followed by increased revenues, the Company's
business, operating results and financial condition will be materially adversely affeded.

The Company has in the past and expects in the future to experience significant fluctuations in quarterly
operating results that may be caused by many factors, including demand for the Company's products,
introduction or enhancement of products by the Company and its competitors, market acceptance of new
products, mix of distribution channels through which products are sold, mix of products and services sold, and
general economic conditions. As a result, the Company believes that period-to-period comparisons of its
results of operations are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as any indication of future
performance. Due to all of the foregoing factors, it is likely that in some futute quarter the Company's
operating results will be below the expectations of public market analysts and investors. In such event, the
price of the Company's Common Stock would likely be materially adversely affected. See "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

Developing Market; Unproven Acceptance of the Company's Products. The market for the Company's
software and services has only recently begun to develop, is rapidly evolving and is characterized by an
increasing number of market entrants who have introduced or developed products and services for communi-
cation and commerce over the Internet and private IP networks. As is typical in the case of a new and rapidly
evolving industry, demand and market acceptance for recently introduced products and services are subject to
a high level of uncertainty. The industry is young and has few proven products. Moreover, critical issues
concerning the commercial use of the Internet (including security, reliability, cost, ease of use and access, and
quality of service) remain unresolved and may impact the growth of Internet use. While the Company believes
that its software products offer significant advantages for commerce and communication over the Internet and
private IP networks, there can be no assurance that commerce and communication over the Internet or private



IP networks will become widespread, or that the Company's products for commerce and communication over
the Internet or private IP networks will become widely adopted for these purposes.

In particular, client software may be subject to price erosion due to free client software distributed by
online services providers, Internet access providers and others. In addition, it is likely that computer operating
systems companies will bundle client software with their operating systems at little or no additional cost to
users, which would also cause the price of the Company's client products to decline. Further, market
acceptance of the Company's server and integrated application software products is substantially dependent
upon the adoption of the Internet and private IP networks for commerce and communications. The adoption
of tbe Internet for commerce and communications, particularly by those individuals and enterprises which
have historically relied upon alternative means of commerce and communication, generally requires the
acceptance of a new way of conducting business and exchanging information. In particular, enterprises that
have already invested substantial resources in other means of conducting commerce and exchanging
information may be particularly reluctant to adopt a new strategy that may make their existing personnel and
infrastructure obsolete. In addition, there can be no assurance that individual PC users in business or at home
will adopt the Internet for online commerce or communication.

Because the market for the Company's products and services is new and evolving, it is difficult to predict
with any assurance the future growth rate, if any, and size of this market. There can be no assurance that the
market for the Company's products and services will develop, that the Company's products or services will be
adopted, or that individual PC users in business or at home will use the Internet or private IP networks for
commerce and communication. If the market fails to develop, develops more slowly than expected or becomes
saturated with competitors, or if tbe Company's products do not achieve market acceptance, the Company's
business, operating results and financial condition will be materially adversely affected. See "Business —
Industry Background."

Competition. The market for Internet-based software and services is new, intensely competitive, rapidly
evolving and subject to rapid technological change. The Company expects competition to persist, intensify and
increase in the future. Almost all of the Company's current and potential competitors have longer operating
histories, greater name recognition, larger installed customer bases and significantly greater financial, technical
and marketing resources than the Company. The additional competition could materially adversely affect the
Company's business, operating results or financial condition. The Company's current and potential competi-
tors can be divided into several groups: Microsoft Corporation ("Microsoft"), browser software vendors, Web
server software and service vendors, PC and Unix software vendors and online service providers.

Microsoft has licensed browser software from Spyglass Inc. {"Spyglass"), and has announced its
intention to improve and bundle the browser with its Windows 95 operating system. Microsoft's browser will
access the Microsoft Network, its announced online service, and will also offer Internet access. While the
anticipated penetration of this software into Microsoft's installed base of PC user*, will increase the size and
usefulness of the Internet, it could also have a material adverse impact on Netscape's ability to sell client
software. In addition, Microsoft may choose to develop Web server software as a complement to its product
line and to support the Microsoft Network. This could have a materially adverse impact on Netscape's ability
to sell server software or integrated applications. Microsoft has a longer operating history, a much larger
installed base and number of employees and dramatically greater financial, technical and marketing resources,
access to distribution channels and name recognition than the Company.

In addition, International Business Machines Corporation ("IBM") has incorporated client software in
its OS/2 operating system, and the Company believes that other PC operating system vendors, including
Apple Computer, Inc. ("Apple"), will also eventually incorporate some Web client functionality into their
operating systems as standard features. This may also be true of Unix operating systems vendors, such as Sun
Microsystems. Inc. ("Sun"), Hewlett-Packard Company ("HP"), IBM. Digital Equipment Corporation
("Digital"), The Santa Cruz Operation, Inc. ("SCO") and Silicon Graphics, Inc. ("SGI"). If these
companies incorporate Web client functionality into their software products, they could subsequently offer this
functionality at little or no additional cost to customers. Further, in the event that client products incorporated
into operating systems by Microsoft or other Unix or PC software vendors gain market acceptance, these

10



organizations will be better positioned than the Company to sell Web server and applications software
products. In addition, software companies which have server products in other product categories may choose
in the future to enhance the functionality of existing products or develop new products which incorporate
support for Hypertext Transfer Protocol ("HTTP"). For example, Lotus Development Corporation ("Lotus,"
whose potential acquisition by IBM has recently been announced) may extend Notes in this manner, and
Novell, Inc. ("Novell") may provide add-ons to Netware for Web publishing. In addition, Oracle Corporation
("Oracle"), Sybase, Inc. ("Sybase") and Informix Software, Inc. ("Informix") may incorporate Web server
functionality into their database products. Additional competition could come from client/server applications
and tools vendors, other database companies, multimedia companies, document management companies,
networking software companies, network management companies and educational software companies. There
can be no assurance that the Company will be able to compete successfully against current or future
competitors or that competitive pressures faced by the Company will not materially adversely affect its
business, operating results and financial condition. See "Business — Competition."

New Product Development and Technological Change. Substantially all of the Company's revenues have
been derived, and substantially all of the Company's future revenues are expected to be derived, from the
license of its software and sale of its associated services. Accordingly, broad acceptance of the Company's
products and services by customers is critical to the Company's future success, as is the Company's ability to
design, develop, test and support new software products and enhancements on a timely basis that meet
changing customer needs and respond to technological developments and emerging industry standards. There
can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in developing and marketing new software products
and enhancements that meet changing customer needs and respond to such technological changes or evolving
industry standards. The Company's current products are designed around certain standards, including, for
example, security standards, and current and future sales of the Company's products will be dependent, in
part, on industry acceptance of such standards. Other companies, like Microsoft and IBM are proposing
alternative standards, the adoption of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business,
operating results or financial condition. In addition, there can be no assurance that the Company will not
experience difficulties that could delay or prevent the successful development, introduction and marketing of
new products and enhancements, or that its new products and enhancements will adequately meet the
requirements of the marketplace and achieve market acceptance. The Company will be substantially
dependent in the near future upon its server and integrated application software products that are still being
developed or have been recently released. In particular, the Company has not yet commercially released the
Netscape Publishing System, the Netscape Community System or the Netscape IStore integrated applica-
tions software products, the Netscape News Server or the Netscape authoring tools. Further, because the
Company has only recently commenced shipment of its products, there can be no assurance that, despite
testing by the Company and by current and potential customers, errors will not be found in the Company's
products, or, if discovered, successfully corrected in a timely manner. If the Company is unable to develop on
a timely basis new software products, enhancements to existing products or error corrections, or if such new
products or enhancements do not achieve market acceptance, the Company's business, operating results and
financial condition will be materially adversely affected. See "Business — Products" and "— Research and
Development."

Evolving Distribution Channels. The Company's distribution strategy is to develop multiple distribution
channels. The Company has historically sold its products through direct sales and OEMs, Tbe Company
expects to increasingly utilize OEMs and has only recently begun utilizing systems integrators, VARs and
software retailers (collectively, "Resellers"). The Company expects that any material increase in sales
through Resellers as a percentage of total revenues, especially in the percentage of sales through OEMs and
VARs, will adversely affect the Company's average selling prices and gross maigins due to the lower unit
prices that are typically charged when selling through indirect channels. Moreover, there can be no assurance
that the Company will be able to attract Resellers that will be able to market the Company's products
effectively and will be qualified to provide timely and cost-effective customer support and service. In addition,
the Company's agreements with Resellers typically do not restrict Resellers from distributing competing
products, and in many cases may be terminated by either party without cause. Further, in some cases the
Company has granted exclusive distribution rights which are limited by territory and in duration. Conse-



quently, the Company may be adversely affected should any Reseller fail to adequately penetrate its market
segment. The inability to recruit, or the loss of, important Resellers, or their inability to penetrate their
respective market segments, could materially adversely affect the Company's business, operating results or
financial condition. See "Business— Marketing and Distribution."

The Company plans to expand its field sales force and its telesales organization There can be no assurance
that such internal expansion will be successfully completed, that the cost of such expansion will not exceed the
revenues generated, or that the Company's sales and marketing organization will be able to successfully compete
against the significantly more extensive and well-funded sales and marketing operations of many of the Company's
current or potential competitors. The Company's inability to effectively manage its internal expansion could have a
material adverse effect on the Company's business, operating results or financial condition.

In addition to expanding its direct sales channels, the Company will continue to distribute its products
electronically through the Internet. Distributing the Company's products through the Internet makes the
Company's software more susceptible than other software to unauthorized copying and use. The Company
currently allows potential customers to electronically download its client and server software for a free trial
period. There can be no assurance that, upon expiration of the evaluation period, the Company will be able to
collect payment from users that retain a copy of the Company's software. If, as a result of changing legal
interpretations of liability for unauthorized use of the Company's software or otherwise, users were to become
less sensitive to avoiding copyright infringement, the Company's business, operating results and financial
condition would be materially adversely affected.

Management of Growth. The rapid execution necessary for the Company to fully exploit the market
window for its products and services requires an effective planning and management process. The Company's
rapid growth has placed, and is expected to continue to place, a significant strain on the Company's
managerial, operational and financial resources. As of June 5,1995, the Company had grown to 213 employees
from 102 employees on January 16, 1995, and the Company expects this rapid growth to continue. The
Company recently hired James L. Barksdale as its new President and Chief Executive Officer in January 1995
and Peter L.S. Currie as its Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in April 1995. In addition, most of the
Company's development and engineering staff was only recently hired. To manage its growth, the Company
must continue to implement and improve its operational and financial systems and to expand, train and
manage its employee base. For example, the Company is currently in the process of building its internal
maintenance and support organization. The Company is also in the process of evaluating and purchasing a
major new management information system. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to
purchase or successfully implement this system on a timely basis. Further, the Company will be required to
manage multiple relationships with various customers and other third parties. Although the Company believes
that it has made adequate allowances for the costs and risks associated with this expansion, there can be no
assurance that the Company's systems, procedures or controls will be adequate to support the Company's
operations or that Company management will be able to achieve the rapid execution necessary to fully exploit
the market window for the Company's products and services. The Company's future operating results will also
depend on its ability to expand its sales and marketing organizations, implement a VAR channel to penetrate
different and broader markets and expand its support organization commensurate with the increasing base of
its installed products. If the Company is unable to manage growth effectively, the Company's business,
operating results and financial condition will be materially adversely affected. See "Business — Research and
Development" and "— Employees."

Security Risks and System Disruptions. Despite the implementation into the Company's products of the
Secure Sockets Layer ("SSL"), the Company's security architecture based on encryption and authentication
technology licensed from RSA Data Security, Inc. ("RSA"), the Company's products may be vulnerable to
break-ins and similar disruptive problems caused by Internet users. Such computer break-ins and other
disruptions would jeopardize the security of information stored in and transmitted through the computer
systems of end users of the Company's products, which may result in significant liability to the Company and
may also deter potential customers. Persistent security problems continue to plague public and private data
networks. Recent break-ins reported in the press and otherwise occurred at General Electric Co. ("GE"),
Sprint Corporation ("Sprint"), and IBM, as well as the computer systems of NETCOM On-Line Communi-
cation Services, Inc. ("NETCOM") and the San Diego Supercomputer Center, and have included incidents
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involving hackers bypassing firewalls by posing as trusted computers and involving the theft of confidential
information. Alleviating problems caused by third parties may require significant expenditures of capital and
resources by the Company and may cause interruptions, delays, or cessation of service to the Company's
customers; such expenditures or interruptions could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business,
operating results or financial condition. Moreover, the security and privacy concerns of existing and potential
customers, as well as concerns related to computer viruses, may inhibit the growth of the Internet marketplace
generally, and the Company's customer base and revenues in particular. The Company attempts to limit its
liability to customers, including liability arising from a failure of the security feature contained in the
Company's products, through contractual provisions. However, there can be no assurance that such limitations
will be enforceable. The Company currently does not have product liability insurance to protect against these
risks and there can be no assurance that such insurance will be available to the Company on commercially
reasonable terms. See "Business — Security Risks."

In addition, the Company maintains secure Web servers which contain confidential information of the
Company and its customers. The Company's operations are dependent in part upon its ability to protect its
network infrastructure against damage from physical break-ins, natural disasters, operational disruptions and
other events. Any damage or failure that causes interruptions in the Company's operations could materially
adversely affect the Company's business, operating results or financial condition. In addition, physical break-
ins could result in the theft or loss of confidential or critical business information of the Company or its
customers. See "Business — Facilities."

Government Regulation and Legal Uncertainties. The Company is not currently subject to direct
regulation by any government agency, other than regulations applicable to businesses generally, and there are
currently few laws or regulations directly applicable to access to or commerce on the Internet. However, due to
the increasing popularity and use of the Internet, it is possible that a number of laws and regulations may be
adopted with respect to the Internet, covering issues such as user privacy, pricing and characteristics and
quality of products and services. For example, the Exon Bill (which was recently approved by the Senate)
would prohibit distribution of obscene, lascivious or indecent communications on the Internet. The adoption of
any such laws or regulations may decrease the growth of the Internet, which could in turn decrease the
demand for the Company's products and increase the Company's cost of doing business or otherwise have an
adverse effect on the Company's business, operating results or financial condition. Moreover, the applicability
to the Internet of existing laws governing issues such as property ownership, libel and personal privacy is
uncertain. Further, due to the encryption technology contained in the Company's products, such products are
subject to U.S. export controls. There can be no assurance that such export controls, either in their current
form or as may be subsequently enacted, will not limit the Company's ability to distribute products outside of
the United States or electronically. While Netscape takes precautions against unlawful exportation, the global
nature of the Internet makes it virtually impossible to effectively control the distribution of the Company's
products. In addition, federal or state legislation or regulation may further limit levels of encryption or
authentication technology. Any such export restrictions or new legislation or regulation could have a material
adverse impact on the Company's business, operating results or financial condition. See "Business —
Marketing and Distribution."

Dependence on the Internet. Although some sales of the Company's products will depend upon growth of
private IP networks, sales of the Company's products will depend in large part upon a robust industry and
infrastructure for providing Internet access and carrying Internet traffic. The Internet may not prove to be a
viable commercial marketplace because of inadequate development of the necessary infrastructure, such as a
reliable network backbone or timely development of complementary products, such as high speed modems.
Because global commerce and online exchange of information on the Internet and other similar open wide
area networks are new and evolving, it is difficult to predict with any assurance whether the Internet will prove
to be a viable commercial marketplace. There can be no assurance that the infrastructure or complementary
products necessary to make the Internet a viable commercial marketplace will be developed, or, if developed,
that the Internet will become a viable commercial marketplace. If the necessary infrastructure or complemen-
tary products are not developed, or if the Internet does not become a viable commercial marketplace, the



Company's business, operating results and financial condition will be materially adversely affected. See
"Business — Industry Background."

Dependence on Key Personnel. The Company's performance is substantially dependent on the perform-
ance of its executive officers and key employees, most of whom have worked together for only a short period of
time. Given the Company's early stage of development, the Company is dependent on its ability to retain and
motivate high quality personnel, especially its management and highly skilled development teams. The
Company does not have "key person" life insurance policies on any of its employees. The loss of the services of
any of its executive officers or other key employees could have a material adverse effect on the business,
operating results or financial condition of the Company.

The Company's future success also depends on its continuing ability to identify, hire, train and retain
other highly qualified technical and managerial personnel. Competition for such personnel is intense, and there
can be no assurance that the Company will be able to attract, assimilate or retain other highly qualified
technical and managerial personnel in the future. The inability to attract and retain the necessary technical
and managerial personnel could have a material adverse effect upon the Company's business, operating results
or financial condition. See "Business — Employees" and "Management."

Proprietary Rights, In December 1994, the Company entered into an agreement with the University of
Illinois (the "University") and Spyglass. Under the terms of the agreement, the University and Spyglass
agreed not to assert any claim of trademark infringement arising out of the Company's prior use of the word
"Mosaic" or other symbols or words used by the Company to market itself or its products. The University and
Spyglass further agreed not to assert against the Company any claim of copyright infringement, trade secret
misappropriation or related claims based on the Company's use of former University employees in the
development of the Company's present and future products. As consideration for these covenants not to assert
any such claims, the Company agreed to make certain payments to the University over a two-year period. If
the Company does not make these payments within the specified time periods, the University or Spyglass
could assert claims of intellectual property infringement against the Company. Such h'tigation could result in
substantial costs and diversion of resources even if ultimately decided in favor of the Company. Further,
although the Company believes that it has not infringed the intellectual property rights of the University or
Spyglass, any such litigation and the outcome of such h'tigation could have a material adverse effect on the
Company's business, operating results or financial condition. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and "Business — Proprietary Rights."

The Company's success and ability to compete is dependent in part upon its proprietary technology.
While the Company relies on trademark, trade secret and copyright law to protect its technology, the
Company believes that factors such as the technological and creative skills of its personnel, new product
developments, frequent product enhancements, name recognition and reliable product maintenance are more
essential to establishing and maintaining a technology leadership position. The Company presently has no
patents or patent applications pending. There can be no assurance that others will not develop technologies
that are similar or superior to the Company's technology. The source code for the Company's proprietary
software is protected both as a trade secret and as a copyrighted work. Despite these precautions, it may be
possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use the Company's products or technology without
authorization, or to develop similar technology independently. In addition, effective copyright and trade secret
protection may be unavailable or limited in certain foreign countries, and the global nature of the Internet
makes it virtually impossible to control the ultimate destination of the Company's products. The Company
generally enters into confidentiality or license agreements with its employees, consultants and vendors, and
generally controls access to and distribution of its software, documentation and other proprietary information.
To license its products, the Company primarily relies on "shrink wrap" licenses that are not signed by the end-
user and, therefore, may be unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions. Despite the Company's
efforts to protect its proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of the Company's
products or to obtain and use information that the Company regards as proprietary. Policing unauthorized use
of the Company's products is difficult. There can be no assurance that the steps taken by the Company will
prevent misappropriation of its technology or that such agreements will be enforceable. In addition, litigation
may be necessary in the future to enforce the Company's intellectual property rights, to protect the Company's
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trade secrets, to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others, or to defend against claims
of infringement or invalidity. Such litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and
could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, operating results or financial condition.

Unisys Corporation ("Unisys")recently announced its intention to require the payment of royalties for
the use of compression technology associated with the Graphics Interchange Format ("GIF"), a popular file
format based on compression technology patented by Unisys. The Company's products have the ability to
decompress files, including files stored in GIF. White the Company has received notice of Unisys' intention to
enforce such patent, the Company believes its technology falls outside the scope of such patent. However, the
Company could incur additional costs and liability should its products be found to be within the scope of the
Unisys patent. The assertion of these patent rights by Unisys, if successful, could result in additional costs to
the Company or prevent the Company's products from enabling users to view files compressed in GIF. From
time to time the Company has, in addition to the notice from Unisys, received, and may receive in the future,
notice of claims of infringement of other parties' proprietary rights. Although the Company does not believe
that its products infringe the proprietary rights of any third parties, there can be no assurance that
infringement or invalidity claims (or claims for indemnification resulting from infringement claims) will not
be asserted or prosecuted against the Company or that any such assertions or prosecutions will not materially
adversely affect the Company's business, financial condition or results of operations. Irrespective of the
validity or the successful assertion of such claims, the Company would incur significant costs and diversion of
resources with respect to the defense thereof which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's
business, financial condition or results of operations. If any claims or actions are asserted against the
Company, the Company may seek to obtain a license under a third party's intellectual property rights. There
can be no assurance, however, that under such circumstances, a license would be available on reasonable
terms or at all.

Risks Associated with International Expansion. A key component of the Company's strategy is its
planned expansion into international markets. In particular, the Company intends to establish foreign
subsidiaries in Europe by the end of 1995. If the international revenues generated by these subsidiaries are not
adequate to offset the expense of establishing and maintaining these foreign operations, the Company's
business, operating results or financial condition could be materially adversely affected. To date, the Company
has only limited experience in developing localized versions of its products and marketing and distributing its
products internationally. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to successfully market, sell
and deliver its products in these markets. In addition to the uncertainty as to the Company's ability to expand
its international presence, there are certain risks inherent in doing business on an international level, such as
unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, tariffs and other trade barriers, difficulties in staffing and
managing foreign operations, longer payment cycles, problems in collecting accounts receivable, political
instability, fluctuations in currency exchange rates, seasonal reductions in business activity during the summer
months in Europe and certain other parts of the world and potentially adverse tax consequences, which could
adversely impact the success of the Company's international operations. There can be no assurance that one or
more of such factors will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's future international operations
and, consequently, on the Company's business, operating results and financial condition. See "Business —
Marketing and Distribution."

Concentration of Stock Ownership. Upon completion of this offering, the present directors, executive
officers and their respective affiliates will beneficially own approximately 69,5% of the outstanding Common
Stock, assuming no exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment option and 68.4% of the outstanding Common
Stock assuming full exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment option. As a result, these stockholders will be
able to exercise significant influence over all matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of
directors and approval of significant corporate transactions. Such concentration of ownership may also have
the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of the Company. See "Description of Capital Stock —
Antitakeover Effects of Provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and Delaware Law" and
"Principal Stockholders."

No Prior Public Market. Possible Volatility of Stock Price. Prior to this offering, there has been no
public market for the Company's Common Stock, and there can be no assurance that an active public market
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for the Common Stock will develop or be sustained after the offering. The initial offering price will be
determined by negotiation between the Company and the Underwriters based upon several factors. See
"Underwriters" for a discussion of the factors to be considered in determining the initial public offering price.
The market price of the Company's Common Stock is likely to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide
fluctuations in response to quarterly variations in operating results, announcements of technological innova-
tions or new products by the Company or its competitors, changes in financial estimates by securities analysts,
or other events or factors. In addition, the stock market has experienced significant price and volume
fluctuations that have particularly affected the market prices of equity securities of many high technology
companies and that often have been unrelated to the operating performance of such companies. In the past,
following periods of volatility in the market price of a company's securities, securities class action litigation has
often been instituted against such a company. Such litigation could result in substantial costs and a diversion
of management's attention and resources, which would have a material adverse effect on the Company's
business, operating results and financial condition. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the
market price of the Company's Common Stock. See "Underwriters."

Shares Eligible for Future Sale. Sales of a substantial number of shares of Common Stock in the public
market following this offering could adversely affect the market price for the Common Stock. See "Shares
Eligible for Future Sale" and "Description of Capital Stock."

Effect of Certain Charter Provisions; Antitakeover Effects of Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and
Delaware Law. The Board of Directors has the authority to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock
and to determine the price, rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, of those
shares without any further vote or action by the stockholders. The rights of the holders of Common Stock will
be subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of any Preferred Stock that may be
issued in the future. The issuance of Preferred Stock, while providing desirable flexibility in connection with
possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third
party to acquire a majority of the outstanding voting stock of the Company. The Company has no present
plans to issue shares of Preferred Stock. Further, certain provisions of the Company's Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation, including provisions that create a classified board of directors, and Amended and
Restated Bylaws and of Delaware law could delay or make difficult a merger, tender offer or proxy contest
involving the Company. See "Management — Executive Officers and Directors," "Description of Capital
Stock — Preferred Stock" and "•— Antitakeover Effects of Provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation,
Bylaws and Delaware Law."

Dilution. Investors participating in this offering will incur immediate, substantial dilution. To the extent
outstanding options to purchase the Company's Common Stock are exercised, there will be further dilution.
See "Dilution."
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds to the Company from the sale of 3,500,000 shares of Common Stock being offered
hereby are estimated to be approximately $41.6 milh'on at an assumed initial public offering price of
$13.00 per share (approximately $47.9 million if the Underwriters' over-allotment option is exercised in full).
The principal purposes of this offering are to obtain additional capital, create a public market for the
Company's Common Stock and facilitate future access by the Company to public equity markets. The
Company expects to use the net proceeds from this offering for general corporate purposes, including working
capital and capital expenditures. A portion of the proceeds may also be used to acquire or invest in
complementary businesses or products or to obtain the right to use complementary technologies; however,
there are no plans, negotiations or discussions with respect to any such transactions at the present time.
Pending use of the net proceeds for the above purposes, the Company intends to invest such funds in short-
term, interest-bearing, investment grade obligations.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has never paid cash dividends on its Common Stock or other securities. The Company
currently anticipates that it will retain all of its future earnings for use in the expansion and operation of its
business and does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

13

\f



CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth (i) the total capitalization of the Company at March 31,1995, (ii) the pro
forma capitalization at March 31,1995 assuming the conversion of each outstanding share of Preferred Stock,
including 2,000.000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock issued in April 1995. into two shares of Common
Stock, and (in) the as adjusted capitalization at March 31, 1995 assuming the conversion of the Preferred
Stock and reflecting the sale by the Company of 3,500,000 shares of Common Stock offered hereby at an
assumed initial public offering price of $13.00 per share and after deducting estimated underwriting discounts
and commissions and estimated offering expenses.

March 31. IMS
Actual Pro Forma As adjusted

Long term obligations (1) $ 2,352,411 $ 2.352,411 $ 2,352,411
Total stockholders' equity (deficit):

Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value, issuable in series;
7,608,222 shares authorized, 7,008,222 shares issued and
outstanding, actual; 11,286,222 shares authorized, none
issued and outstanding, pro forma; 5,000,000 shares
authorized, none issued and outstanding, as adjusted . . . 701 — —

Common Stock, $0.0001 par value; 20,000,000 shares
authorized, 8,759,800 shares issued and outstanding,
actual; 30,000,000 shares authorized, 26,776,244 shares
issued and outstanding, pro forma; 100,000,000 shares
authorized, 30,276,244 shares issued and outstanding, as
adjusted(2) 876 2,678 3,028

Additional paid-in capital 12,612,953 29,911,852 71,476,502
Deferred compensation (1,717,146) (1,717,146) (1,717,146)
Accumulated deficit (11,168,868) (11,168,868) (11,168,868)

Total stockholders' equity (deficit) (271,484) 17,028,516 58,593,516

Total capitalization $ 2,080,927 $ 19,380,927 $ 60,945,927

(1) See Notes 4 and 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
(2) As of March 31,1995, there were options outstanding to purchase a total of 3,795,800 shares of Common

Stock at a weighted average exercise price of $0.10 per share and 2,364,638 shares were reserved for grant
of future options under the Company's 1994 Stock Option Plan. Subsequent to March 31, 1995 and
through May 31, 1995, the Board of Directors granted options to purchase an additional 1,671,000 shares
at a weighted average exercise price of $0.27 per share. In addition, the Board of Directors adopted the
1995 Stock Option Plan, the 1995 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and the 1995 Director Option Plan,
pursuant to which 4,500,000, 1,000,000 and 100,000 shares, respectively, were reserved for issuance
thereunder. See "Management — Stock Plans" and Notes 6 and 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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DILUTION

The pro forma net tangible book value of the Company as of March 31, 1995, including the issuance of
2,000,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock in April 199S for net proceeds of appioximately $17,300,000, was
$16,983,516 or $0.63 per share of Common Stock. Pro forma net tangible book value per share is determined
by dividing the pro forma tangible book value of the Company (total tangible asset* less total liabilities) by the
number of outstanding shares of Common Stock at that date (assuming the conversion of each outstanding
share of Preferred Stock, including 2,000,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock issued in April 1995, into two
shares of Common Stock). After giving effect to the sale by the Company of the 3,500,000 shares of Common
Stock offered hereby (based upon an assumed initial public offering price of $13.00 per share and after
deduction of estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses), the
Company's pro forma net tangible book value at March 31, 1995 would have been $58,548,516 or $1.93 per
share. This represents an immediate increase in pro forma net tangible book value to existing stockholders of
$1.30 per share and an immediate dilution to new investors of $11.07 per share. The following table illustrates
the per share dilution:

Assumed initial public offering price per share $13.00
Pro forma net tangible book value per share as of March 31, 1995 $ 0.63
Increase in pro forma net tangible book value per share attributable to new

investors 1.30
Pro forma net tangible book value per share after offering
Dilution per share to new investors

The following table sets forth on a pro forma basis as of March 31, 1995 the difference between the
number of shares of Common Stock purchased from the Company, the total consideration paid, and the
average price per share paid by the existing stockholders and by the new investors (based upon an assumed
initial public offering price of $13.00 per share before deduction of estimated underwriting discounts and
commissions and estimated offering expenses), assuming the conversion of each outstanding share of
Preferred Stock, including 2,000,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock issued in April 1995, into two shares
of Common Stock:

Share* Purchased
Ni

Total Consideration

Existing stockholders 26,776,244
New investors 3,500,000

Total 30,276,244

$28,024,805
45,500,000

$73,524,805

Average
Price

Per Share

$ 1.05
13.00

The foregoing table assumes no exercise of the Underwriters' over-allotment option and no exercise of
stock options outstanding at March 31, 1995. As of March 31, 1995, there were options outstanding to
purchase a total of 3,795,800 shares of Common Stock at a weighted average exercise price of $0.10 per share
and 2,364,638 shares were reserved for grant of future options under the Company's 1994 Stock Option Plan.
Subsequent to March 31, 1995 and through May 31,1995, the Board of Directors granted options to purchase
an additional 1,671,000 shares at a weighted average exercise price of $0.27 per share. In addition, the Board
of Directors adopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan, the 1995 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and the 1995
Director Option Plan, pursuant to which 4,500,000, 1,000,000 and 100,000 shares, respectively, were reserved
for issuance thereunder. To the extent that any of these options are exercised, there will be further dilution to
new investors. See "Capitalization," "Management — Stock Plans" and Notes 6 and 10 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and the notes thereto and Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations included elsewhere herein. The consolidated statement of operations data set forth
below with respect to the period from inception (April 4, 1994) to December 31, 1994, and the consolidated
balance sheet data at December 31, 1994, are derived from, and are qualified by reference to, the audited
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Prospectus and should be read in conjunction with
those consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. The consolidated statement of operations data for
the quarter ended March 31,1995, and the balance sheet data at March 31, 1995, are derived from unaudited
consolidated financial statements that have been prepared on the same basis as the audited financial
statements and in the opinion of management, contain all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring
adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of the results of operations for such period. The historical results
are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected in tbe future.

lnc«ptloa Quarter
(April 4,1994) to Ended

December 31,1994 March 31,1995

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues:

Product revenues $ 378,490 $ 4,496,031
Service revenues 317,381 241,560

Total revenues 695,871 4,737,591
Cost of revenues:

Cost of product revenues 114,777 273,169
Cost of service revenues 104,313 61,732

Total cost of revenues 219,090 334,901

Gross profit 476,781 4,402,690
Operating expenses:

Research and development 2,031,986 1,981,292
Sales and marketing 2,813,689 2,897,915
General and administrative 1,669,193 1,740,524
Property rights agreement and related charges 2,486,688 500,000

Total operating expenses 9,001,556 7,119,731
Operating loss (8,?24,775) (2,717,041)
Interest income 55,238 45,074
Interest expense (308) (27,056)
Net loss $(8,469,845) $(2,699,023)

Net loss per share $ (0.25) .$ (0.08)

Shares used in computing net loss per share 33,481,438 34,255,882

December 31, 1994 March 31, 1995

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital (deficit) $(1,337,613) $(2,587,063)
Total assets 7,158,641 12,312,523
Long-term obligations 725,000 2,352,411
Stockholders* equity (deficit) 1,083,585 (271,484)
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Oferricw

Netscape Communications Corporation is a leading provider of open client, server and integrated
applications software that enables information exchange and commerce over the Internet and private IP
networks. The Company was formed in April 1994 and commenced shipments of its initial product in
December 1994. Through March 31, 1995, the Company derived the substantial majority of its revenues from
product licenses. In particular, for the quarter ended March 31, 1995, product revenue from Netscape
Navigator and Netscape Commerce Server accounted for 52% and 32%, respectively, of the Company's total
product revenues. In addition, bundled product licenses that included both Netscape Navigator and Netscape
Commerce Server, accounted for an additional 10% of the Company's product revenues in the quarter ended
March 31, 1995.

The Company has only a limited operating history upon which an evaluation of the Company and its
prospects can be based. The Company's prospects must be considered in light of the risks, expenses and
difficulties frequently encountered by companies in their early stage of development, particularly companies in
new and rapidly evolving markets. To address these risks, the Company must, among other things, respond to
competitive developments, continue to attract, retain and motivate qualified persons, and continue to upgrade
its technologies and commercialize products and services incorporating such technologies. There can be no
assurance that the Company will be successful in addressing such risks. The Company has incurred net losses
since inception and expects to continue to operate at a loss for the foreseeable future. As of March 31, 1995.
the Company had an accumulated deficit of $11.2 million. Although the Company has experienced revenue
growth in recent periods, such growth rates will not be sustainable and are not indicative of future operating
results. There can be no assurance that the Company will achieve or sustain profitability.

Results of Operations

Revenues

The Company derives its revenues from license fees for its software products and fees for services, which
are generally charged separately from software licenses. Product revenues consist of product licensing fees, and
service revenues consist of fees for maintenance and support services, training, consulting and advertising
space. Product revenues are recognized upon delivery only if no significant obligations of the Company remain
and collection of the resulting receivable is considered probable. Product returns and sales allowances (which
have not been significant through March 31, 1995) and costs of free telephone support are estimated and
provided for at the time of sale. Service revenues from customer maintenance fees for ongoing customer
support and product updates are recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance agreement, which is
typically 12 months. Payment for maintenance fees are generally made in advance and are non-refundable.
Service revenues from training and consulting are recognized when the services are performed. Service
revenues from the sale of advertising space are recognized in the period in which the advertisement is
displayed on the Company's home page.

Total Revenues. Total revenues were $696,000 and $4,738,000 for the period from inception (April 4,
1994) through December 31, 1994 (the "Inception Period") and for the quarter ended March 31, 1995,
respectively. The Inception Period reflects only two weeks of product sales and seivice revenues. The quarter
ended March 31, 1995 is the first full quarter in which the Company's products and services were made
commercially available. Digital and SGI accounted for 14% and 9%, respectively, of total revenues in the
quarter ended March 31, 1995.

Product Revenues. Product revenues were $379,000 and $4,496,000 for the Inception Period and for the
quarter ended March 31, 1995, respectively. Product revenues in the Inception Period and the quarter ended
March 31, 1995 were attributable to licenses of Netscape Navigator, Netscajie Commerce Server and
Netscape Communications Server. During each of these periods, licenses of Netscape Navigator accounted
for a majority of the Company's product revenues.
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Through the quarter ended March 31,1995, the Company had distributed substantially all of its products
through direct sales (including field sales and telesales), sales over the Internet through the Company's
electronic store and OEMs. Beginning in the quarter ending June 30, 1995, the Company began offering its
products through VARs and through distribution for retail sale. Currently, only the Company's Netscape
Navigator Personal Edition product is being offered through distribution for retail sale.

Service Revenues. Service revenues were $317,000 and $242,000 for the Inception Period and for the
quarter ended March 31, 1995, respectively. In each of the Inception Period and the quarter ended March 31,
1995, service revenues were attributable to fees for consulting, maintenance and support and, to a lesser
extent, training. The Company began selling advertising space on its home page in the quarter ending June 30,
1995. The Company expects that service revenues will increase as a percentage of total revenues in the future.

International Revenues. International revenues (sales outside of North America) were immaterial in the
Inception Period and were approximately 10% of total revenues for the quarter ended March 31,1995. As of
March 31, 1995, all international revenues had been recognized by the U.S. parent corporation and
denominated in U.S. currency. The Company established a subsidiary in Japan in December 1994 and intends
to establish subsidiaries in Europe. Although its Japanese subsidiary had not recognized any revenues as of
March 31, 1995, it had entered into several OEM reseller arrangements pursuant to which it has received
prepaid royalty payments denominated and collected in Japanese currency. Such prepaid royalties have been
deferred at March 31, 1995 due to the Company's remaining obligation to deliver foreign country localized
versions of its products. The Company expects to invoice customers of its international subsidiaries in local
currencies. The Company has not engaged in foreign currency hedging activities, and international revenues
are currently subject to currency exchange fluctuation risks. The Company anticipates that international
revenues will increase as a percentage of total revenues in the future, and, as a result, foreign currency
exposure may increase.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of Product Revenues. Cost of product revenues consists primarily of th< cost of product media and
duplication, manuals, packaging materials, amounts paid for licensed technology, and fees paid to third party
vendors for sales administration, order fulfillment and free telephone support. Cost of product revenues was
$115,000 and $273,000 for the Inception Period and for the quarter ended March 31, 1995, respectively, and
was 30% and 6%, respectively, of the related product revenues. In each of the Inception Period and the quarter
ended March 31, 1995, cost of product revenues consisted primarily of the cost of product media and
duplication, manuals, packing materials and fees paid to third party vendors. The Company believes that cost
of product revenues may increase as a percentage of the related product revenues in future periods due to
amounts paid for licensed technology to be incorporated in future products and increased costs associated with
providing free telephone support. Some of the Company's products include free telephone support for a certain
period of time and such costs are accrued at the time of sale. Increases in the cost of product revenues as a
percentage of the related product revenues would adversely effect gross margins. All development costs
incurred to date in the research and development of new software products and enhancements to existing
software products have been expensed as incurred. As a result, cost of product revenues does not include
amortization of capitalized software development costs. See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Cost of Service Revenues. Cost of service revenues consists primarily of personnel related costs incurred
in providing customer support, consulting services and training to customers. Cost of service revenues also
includes fees paid to a third party related to the sale of advertising space on the Company's home page. Cost of
service revenues was $104,000 and $62,000 for the Inception Period and for the quarter ended March 31,
1995, respectively, and was 33% and 26%, respectively, of related service revenues. In each of the Inception
Period and the quarter ended March 31,1995, cost of service revenues related primarily to consulting services
and to maintenance and support provided by the Company. In future periods, the Company believes that the
cost of service revenues will increase as a percentage of the related service revenues as a result of personnel
related costs incurred in building the Company's customer support and training organizations and due to fees

18

L.



incurred in connection with selling advertising space. Increases in the cost of service revenues as a percentage
of related service revenues would have an adverse impact on the Company' gross margins.

Gross margins may be impacted by the mix of distribution channels used by the Company, the mix of
products sold, the mix of product revenues versus service revenues and the mix of international versus North
American revenues. The Company typically realizes higher gross margins on direct sales than on sales through
indirect channels and higher gross margins on product revenues than on service revenues. If sales through
indirect channels, especially OEMs and VARs, increase as a percentage of total revenue, or if, as the
Company anticipates, service revenues increase as a percentage of total revenues, the Company's gross
margins will be adversely impacted.

Operating Expenses

The Company's operating expenses have increased in absolute dollar amounts in every consecutive
quarter through the quarter ended March 31,1995. This trend reflects the Company's rapid transition from the
product development phase to its first full quarter of marketing and licensing products and offering services.
The Company believes that continued expansion of operations is essential to achieving and maintaining
market leadership. As a consequence, the Company intends to continue to increase expenditures in all
operating areas.

The Company has recorded deferred stock compensation of $2,579,000 for the difference between the
grant price and the deemed fair value of the Company's Common Stock for 6,654,600 shares subject to
options granted in the first quarter of 1995. The deferred stock compensation is being amortized to operating
expenses over the related 50-month vesting periods of the options. In addition, the Company intends to record
a significant amount of deferred stock compensation in the second quarter of 1995. The amortization of all
such deferred stock compensation amounts over future periods, generally 50 months, will have a material
adverse impact on the Company's results of operations.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and
consulting fees to support product development. Research and development expenses were $2,032,000 and
$1,981,000 for the Inception Period and for the quarter ended March 31, 1995, respectively, and were 292%
and 42%, respectively, of total revenues. Research and development expenses for the quarter ended March 31,
1995 included a non-cash charge of $16,000 related to the amortization of deferred stock compensation. To
date, all software development costs have been expensed as incurred. The Company believes that significant
investments in research and development are required to remain competitive in the software business. As a
consequence, the Company intends to increase the absolute amount of its research and development
expenditures in the future.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries (including sales
commissions), consulting fees, trade show expenses, advertising and cost of marketing literature. Sales and
marketing expenses were $2,814,000 and $2,898,000 for the Inception Period and for the quarter ended
March 31, 1995, respectively, and were 404% and 61%, respectively, of total revenues. Sales and marketing
expenses for the quarter ended March 31, 1995 included a non-cash charge of $25,000 related to the
amortization of deferred stock compensation. The Company intends to increase the level of sales and
marketing expenses in future periods.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and fees
for professional services. General and administrative expenses were $1,669,000 and $1,741,000 for the
Inception Period and for the quarter ended March 31, 1995, respectively, Bnd were 240% and 37%,
respectively, of total revenues. General and administrative expenses for the quarter ended March 31, 1995
included a non-cash charge of $821,000 related to the amortization of deferred stock compensation. The
Company intends to increase the level of general and administrative expenses in future periods.

Property Rights Agreement and Related Charges. The Company has segregated certain expenses
totaling $2,487,000 and $500,000 for the Inception Period and for the quarter ended March 31, 1995,
respectively. These expenses relate to an agreement with the University of Illinois and Spyglass and associated
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costs, including fees for expert and professional services, trademark search costs and other related expenses.
The Company will incur additional charges related to this agreement in the event that it enters into certain
types of agreements with two specified companies. See Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income Taxes

As of December 31, 1994, the Company bad federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$7,000,000. The Company also had federal research and development tax credit carryforwards of approxi-
mately $90,000. The net operating loss and credit carryforwards will expire in 2009 if not utilized. The
Company also has state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $5,000,000 which will expire in 2002
if not utih'zed. Utilization of the net operating losses and credits may be subject to a substantial annual
limitation due to the ownership change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and similar
state provisions. See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Factors Affecting Operating Results

As a result of the Company's limited operating history, the Company dees not have historical financial
data for a significant number of periods on which to base planned operating expenses. Accordingly, the
Company's expense levels are based in part on its expectations as to future revenues and to a large extent are
fixed. However, the Company typically operates with no backlog. As a result, quarterly sales and operating
results generally depend on the volume and timing of and ability to fulfill orders received within the quarter,
which are difficult to forecast. The Company may be unable to adjust spending in a timely manner to
compensate for any unexpected revenues shortfall. Accordingly, any significant shortfall of demand for the
Company's products and services in relation to the Company's expectations would have an immediate adverse
impact on the Company's business, operating results and financial condition. In addition, the Company plans
to increase its operating expenses to fund greater levels of research and development, increase its sales and
marketing operations, develop new distribution channels and broaden its customer support capabilities. To the
extent that such expenses precede or are not subsequently followed by increased revenues, the Company's
business, operating results and financial condition will be materially adversely affected.

The Company has in the past and expects in the future to experience significant fluctuations in quarterly
operating results that may be caused by many factors, including demand for the Company's products,
introduction or enhancement of products by the Company and its competitors, market acceptance of new
products, mix of distribution channels through which products are sold, mix of products and services sold, and
general economic conditions. As a result, the Company believes that period-to-period comparisons of its
results of operations are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as any indication of future
performance. Due to all of the foregoing factors, it is likely that in some future quarter the Company's
operating results will be below the expectations of public market analysts and investors. In such event, the
price of the Company's Common Stock would likely be materially adversely affected.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company has primarily financed its operations through private sales of equity securities. In the
quarter ended March 31,1995, cash provided by operating activities of $803,000 was primarily attributable to
an increase in deferred revenues, partially offset by the growth in accounts receivable and a net loss. Cash used
in investment activities in the quarter ended March 31, 1995 related primarily to $1,667,000 in capital
expenditures. Cash flows from financing activities in the quarter ended March 31, 1995 of $2,584,000 were
primarily attributable to the net proceeds from the issuance of installment notes payable, and, to a lesser
extent, Common Stock.

Deferred revenues consists of the unrecognized portion of revenues received pursuant to maintenance and
support contracts and pursuant to OEM reseller agreements with significant obligations remaining. Pursuant
to the OEM reseller agreements, the Company receives non-refundable prepaid royalties. The significant
obligations resulting in the deferral of revenues relate primarily to unreleased products. Deferred revenues
increased from $2,575,000 at December 31, 1994 to $7,245,000 at March 31, 1995 due to an increase in the
number of OEM reseller agreements and, to a lesser extent, the number of maintenance and support contracts.
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Capital expenditures were approximately $2,663,000 and $1,667,000 for the Inception Period and the
quarter ended March 31, 1995. respectively. The Company has no material commitments other than
obligations under installment notes payable and operating leases. The Company estimates that 1995 capital
expenditures will be approximately $12,000,000, of which $5,000,000 is related to the implementation of a new
management information systems. See Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

At March 31, 1995, the Company's principal source of liquidity was approximately $4,900,000 in cash
and cash equivalents. In addition, the Company completed an equity financing in April 1995 that resulted in
net proceeds of approximately $17,300,000 to the Company. Further, the Company has a $2,200,000 debt
facility agreement, secured by certain assets of the Company, of which $100,000 was available at March 31,
1995. See Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 115, "Accounting
for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities," during the Inception Period. The adoption of SFAS
No. 115 did not have a material impact on the Company's results of operations or financial condition.

The Company believes that the net proceeds from this offering, together with available funds and cash
flows expected to be generated by operations, will be sufficient to meet its anticipated cash needs for working
capital and capital expenditures for at least the next 12 months. Thereafter, if cash generated by operations is
insufficient to satisfy the Company's liquidity requirements, the Company may stJl additional equity or debt
securities or obtain additional credit facilities. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities will
result in additional dilution to the Company's stockholders.
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BUSINESS

Orerriew
Netscape is a leading provider of open client, server and integrated applications software that enables

information exchange and commerce over the Internet and private IP networks. The Company's products are
designed to deliver high levels of performance, ease of use and security. These products allow individuals and
organizations to execute secure financial transactions across the Interact, such as the buying and selling of
merchandise, publications, software and information. In addition, through the use of the Company's software,
organizations can extend their internal information systems and enterprise applications to geographically
dispersed facilities, remote offices and mobile employees.

Industry Background
Internet
The Internet is a global web of computer networks which International Data Corporation ("IDC")

estimates had approximately 38 million users worldwide at the end of 1994. IDC estimates that today
approximately 73%, or 28 million, of these users are in organizations connecting private IP networks to the
Internet to access e-mail and newsgroups. By 1999, IDC estimates that there will be nearly 200 million users
of the Internet. Of these users, IDC estimates that 125 million users will have full Internet access, which, in
addition to e-mail and newsgroups, includes file transfer capabilities and access to graphic and multimedia
information on the World Wide Web.

Developed over 25 years ago, this "network of networks" allows any computer attached to the Internet to
talk to any other using the Internet Protocol. The Internet has historically been used by academic institutions,
defense contractors and government agencies primarily for remote access to host computers and for sending
and receiving e-mail and has traditionally been subsidized by the U.S. Federal Government. As an increasing
number of commercial entities have come to rely on the Internet for business communications and commerce,
the level of federal subsidies has significantly diminished, and funding for the Interact infrastructure and
backbone operations has shifted primarily to the private sector. In addition, according to industry market
research, in October 1994 the number of commercial domains on the Internet surpassed the number of
educational domains for the first time. Industry sources also estimate that in the 12 months ending January
1995, approximately 2.6 million additional servers were connected to the Internet, for a total of approximately
4.9 million Internet servers.

Further, individuals are connecting directly to the Interact through Internet ascess services such as those
provided by MCI Telecommunications Corporation ("MCI"), NETCOM, Performance Systems Interna-
tional, Inc. ("PSI"), and UUNET Technologies, Inc. ("UUNET"). These services are growing as easy-to-
use software packages make accessing the Internet as easy as getting onto th« popular consumer online
services. To compete with these direct Internet access providers, consumer online services including America
OnLine, Inc. ("AOL"), CompuServe, Inc. ("CompuServe"), and Prodigy Services Co. ("Prodigy"), have
also introduced Internet access gateways for their existing subscribers. With these gateways, the online
services effectively become large Internet "on-ramps," bringing large numbeis of subscribers onto the
Internet. IDC estimates that by the end of 1996, more than 16 million subscribers to consumer online services
will have full Internet access, as compared to less than one million at the end of 1994.

World Wide Web
Much of the recent growth in Internet use by businesses and individuals has been driven by the

emergence of a network of servers and information available on the Internet called the World Wide Web
("Web"). The Web, based on a client/server model and a set of standards for information access and
navigation, can be accessed using software that allows non-technical users to exploit the capabilities of the
Internet, The Web enables users to find, retrieve and link information on the Internet in a consistent way that
makes the underlying complexities transparent to the user. Electronic documents are published on Web
servers in a common format described by the Hypertext Markup Language ("HTML"). Web client software
can retrieve these documents across the Interact by making requests using & standard protocol called
Hypertext Transfer Protocol ("HTTP"). The first Web client (or "browser") with a graphical user interface
to utilize these protocols was NCSA Mosaic, first released in April 1993 by the National Center for
Supercomputing Applications at the University of Illinois ("NCSA"). The Netscajw Navigator, introduced in
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December 1994, was the first commercially available Web client to include built-in security capabilities,
facilitating commercial transactions over the Internet.

The proliferation of Web clients has created significant demand for software to enable Internet servers
and private servers on corporate networks to function as Web servers. These servers are used by content
providers to offer their products and services on the Internet and to publish confidential company information
to employees inside the enterprise. Industry market research estimates that there were over 22,000 Web-
capable servers on the Internet by May 1995, as compared with approximately 1,265 in June 1994. Web usage
is expected to be further fueled by advances in Web client, server and application software, in concert with
technological developments that drive cost reductions and performance enhancements,

Internet Commerce

The Internet provides organizations with new means to conduct business. Commercial uses of the
Internet include business-to-business and business-to-consumer transactions, product marketing, advertising,
entertainment, electronic publishing, electronic services and customer support. The Internet offers a new and
powerful medium for traditional retail and mail order businesses to target and manage a wider customer base
more rapidly, economically and productively. The Company believes that only a small fraction of this retail
business is currently conducted electronically. Another important application for Internet commerce is
electronic publishing through advertiser supported and fee-based Internet services. Electronic publishing
offers substantial savings as compared to publishing on paper or computer discs. In addition, Web software
permits the publishing of audio files and video clips as well as text and graphical data.

In addition to retailers and publishers, other new businesses are appearing on the Web as it provides
access to a growing base of education, business and home customers. Business information providers such as
DowJones, Individual, Inc., and Reuters have started customized news services on the Web. Financial service
institutions are providing online banking information, stock information and trading services. Examples of
popular consumer information services recently introduced include ESPNet, Knight-Ridder's Mercury Center
and Sportsline U.S.A. Companies from many industries are publishing product and company information to
their channel partners and customers, providing customer support via the Web, allowing customers to
immediately buy products online, and collecting customer feedback and demographic information
interactively.

Enterprise Applications

As an increasing number of organizations provide their employees with Web access from their desktops,
an opportunity is emerging for internal information systems and enterprise applications hosted on internal Web
servers. The Internet enables organizations to extend their internal information systems and enterprise
applications to geographically dispersed facilities, remote offices, and mobile employees using Web client and
server software. IDC estimates that shipments of IP-enabled computers increased from 1.5 million in 1992 to
5.2 million in 1994. The Company believes that organizations will increasingly use private IP networks to
improve communications, distribute information, lower operating costs and re-engineer operations.

For example, Web servers with secure communications capabilities will enable organizations to
electronically publish confidential company information within departments and across company locations.
Secure news servers can be used to host discussion groups and facilitate corporate communications in a
manner similar to groupware products such as Lotus Notes. Through the use of Web client and server
software, organizations can implement "team computing," thereby allowing engineers and product marketing
people to collaborate more effectively to speed product development and improve time to market. In addition,
sales, product and order information can be published in internal Web servers for access by a sales force to
ensure that information critical to the selling process is readily available.
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The Company believes that the market opportunity for Web server software inside the internal enterprise
application is substantial. IDC estimates that by the end of 1995 there will be more than 10 million servers on
private enterprise networks, and that number is estimated to grow to more than 25 million in 1997.

Netscape

Netscape is a leading provider of open client, server and integrated applications software that enables
information exchange and commerce over the Internet and private IP networks. The Company's products arc
designed to deliver high levels of performance, ease of use and security. These products allow individuals and
organizations to execute secure financial transactions across the Internet, such as the buying and selling of
merchandise, publications, software and information. In addition, through the use of the Company's software,
organizations can extend their internal information systems and enterprise applications to geographically
dispersed facilities, remote offices and mobile employees.

The Company's goal is to make its software the de facto standard for publishing information and
executing transactions on the Internet and private IP networks. The Company's strategy is to enable enhanced
communications and electronic commerce by developing and offering industry leading software and services.
The Company's strategy includes the following key elements:

Offer Complete Suite of Easy-to-Use, High Performance, Secure Internet and IP-based Software

To address the issues that have historically limited the use of the Internet as a popular communications
network and commercial marketplace, the Company's products include the following features:

Comprehensive Product Line. The Company offers a suite of client, servei and integrated applications
software products that support communications, electronic commerce, electronic publishing and related uses
for the enterprise and the individual.

Ease of Use. The Company's client software provides a consistent point and click graphical user
interface that is independent of the server protocol, client operating system or means of network access. The
Company's server software facilitates the operation of Web server sites by providing capabilities such as
subscriber administration and content management.

High Performance and Scalability. The Company's products are engineered for rapid retrieval and
display of information, even at the relatively low 14.4 kbps dial-up transmission speeds employed by many
users. The Company's suite of products support a complete spectrum of multimedia content, including a
variety of text, graphical images and audio and video formats, and are compatible with industry standard Web
servers and browsers. In addition, the Company's server products employ a multiprocessing technology which
enables them to support a large number of users.

Multi-platform Support. The Company's software is designed to operate on most popular computer
platforms including Microsoft Windows and Windows NT, Apple Macintosh and numerous versions of the
Unix operating system. In addition, the Company expects to support Windows 95.

Enhanced Security. The Company's products employ leading IBM OS/2 open standards for data and
communications security and are designed to enable secure commerce and communications. The Company
has defined and implemented its security architecture, the Secure Sockets Layer, based upon encryption and
server authentication technology licensed from RSA Data Security, Inc., a leader in computer data security. A
group of 19 industry-leading companies in the banking, credit card, communications, software and computer
hardware businesses have announced their support for SSL.

Leverage Relationships With Leading Strategic Partners

To accelerate the acceptance of the Company's products and facilitate the adoption of the Internet as a
communications network and a commercial marketplace, the Company has developed strategic partnerships
with leading technology, infrastructure and financial services partners.

Technology Providers. The Company has entered into and intends to further pursue selected technology
licenses and partnerships. These relationships are designed to ensure the compatibility of Netscape's products
with other complementary, leading technologies and tools. For example, to facilitate content creation and
management for the Internet, the Company has worked with leading multimedia publishing providers, such as
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Adobe Systems Incorporated and Macromedia, Inc. To enhance the functionality of its Netscape Navigator
Personal Edition client product, the Company has licensed complementary networking software from Shiva
Corporation and the Eudora electronic mail application from Qualcomm, Inc. The Company also has a license
to bundle tbe Oracle database with its integrated applications products. Further, Netscape intends to
incorporate Sun's Java programming language into certain of its products, further enhancing the capability of
Netscape's clients to display and manipulate information.

Infrastructure Providers. The Company has developed and intends to continue to develop strategic
relationships with the leading telecommunications companies and Internet access service providers worldwide.
For example, MCI deploys Netscape client and server software for the intemetMCI service and market-
placeMCI online. In addition, Pacific Bell has selected Netscape client software for its Internet product
offerings. The Company also has Internet access agreements with MCI, Portal Information Network and
NETCOM to allow purchasers of the Netscape Navigator Personal Edition to choose between those service
providers in automatically registering for Internet access. The Company intends to allow additional Internet
service providers to offer their service through Netscape's user registration servei.

Financial Services Providers. The Company is pursuing relationships with leading banks and transaction
processing companies, such as First Data Corporation and Wells Faigo Bank, N.A., to establish a secure
financial payment system on the Internet. Netscape is also a member of the CommerceNet consortium, which
is working towards the first large scale market trial of electronic commerce on the Internet.

Support and Enhance Open Industry Standards

By leveraging existing technologies and standards, the Company intends to shorten its product time to
market and accelerate and broaden market acceptance of its products. All of Netscape's products are designed
based on existing Internet standards and are compatible with the installed base of Web servers and clients.
The Company also actively participates in leading standard setting organizations including the Internet
Engineering Task Force and the World Wide Web Consortium. The Company intends to implement and
proactively contribute to future standards created by these standard setting entities. For example, the
Company has proposed its SSL security architecture to the World Wide Web Consortium as a new open
standard for secure Internet communications. In addition, the Company has joined a consortium of companies
to invest in Terisa Systems, Inc. ("Terisa"), which will promote and sell development tools using security
protocols, such as SSL and Secure Hypertext Transfer Protocol ("SHTTP"). The Company intends to
incorporate SHTTP into its products and intends to work as a shareholder in Terisa to promote the broadest
adoption of open security protocols as SSL and SHTTP. The Company has also proposed its extensions to the
HTML language to the World Wide Web Consortium for inclusion in a new generation of the HTML
standard.

Develop Multiple Distribution Channels

The Company's objective is to become the de facto industry standard by rapidly disseminating its
products and services through multiple distribution channels worldwide.

Direct Channels. The Company's direct distribution channels include a direct sales force and telesales.
The direct sales force targets medium to large-sized organizations for Internet commerce and enterprise
communications market opportunities. These organizations require server software for individual sites or on-
line services, typically large-scale applications, often including financial transaction processing and security.
Other enterprise applications require multi-server installations and large site licenses for clients. In cases
where customers require industry-specific applications, the Company also provides training, support and
consulting.

Indirect Channels. The Company distributes its products indirectly through OEMs, systems integrators,
VARs and software retailers. Computer equipment OEMs, systems integrators and VARs complement the
Company's direct sales efforts for institutional customers and provide sales support and service primarily for
server products. Telecommunication and online service companies, as providers of Internet access, also sell the
Company's products to individual business and home PC users for personal information publishing, browsing
and shopping. For example, the Company has agreements with Digital, SGI, Sun, Apple, Mitsubishi
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Corporation ("Mitsubishi"), Toshiba Corporation ("Toshiba"), NEC Corporation ("NEC"), Sony Corpora-
tion ("Sony"), Novell, MCI, Pacific Bell, Delphi Internet Services Corporation ("Delphi") and others to
bundle Netscape's server or client software with certain of their product offerings. Customers can also
purchase Netscape Navigator Personal Edition software at traditional software retailers.

Internet Distribution. Organizations and individuals also have the option to evaluate and purchase
software directly from the Company via the Internet. The Company believes that this strategy has facilitated
the acceptance of its products and establishment of its brand name.

Industry Lending Technical and Management Teams

The Company believes that one of its key competitive advantages is its development and management
teams. The Company's core development group includes key members of the engineering teams that
developed the original Mosaic Web client at NCSA and the original Web seiver software at Centre for
European Particle Research ("CERN") and NCSA, as well as leading software security specialists.

The Company has also established a senior management team which combines leading executives from
several of the key industries involved in the Internet, including telecommunications, software and computing
industries. For example, James H. Clark, the Company's Chairman, is the founder and former Chairman of
the Board of Silicon Graphics, Inc. and James L. Barksdale, the Company's President and Chief Executive
Officer, was President and Chief Executive Officer of AT&T Wireless Services and Chief Operating Officer as
well as Chief Information Officer of Federal Express Corporation.

Products

The Company provides a comprehensive line of client, server and application software for communica-
tions and commerce on the Internet and private IP networks. These products enable the retrieval and
presentation of information and dynamically changing data in multiple forms, including video, audio and
graphical content. These products are designed to provide enhanced security for the controlled access of
confidential information on private IP networks and the Internet and the execution of financial transactions.

Market

Individual PC User

Enterprise

Internet Commerce

Product Type

Client

Server

Integrated Application

Netscape Product

Navigator LAN Edition
Navigator Personal Edition

Communications Server
Commerce Server
Proxy Server
News Server*

Merchant System
Publishing System*
Community System*
IStore*

U.S. End
User
Price

$39
S45

$1,500
$5,000
$2,500
$2,500

$50,000+
$50,000+
$50,000+
$20,000+

* Expected to be commercially available by the end of 199S

Netscape Client Software

The Netscape Navigator product line is client software that allows users to easily exchange information
and conduct commerce on the Internet. Netscape Navigator features a point-and-click graphical user
interface and hyperlink capability that enable users to navigate the Internet's vast array of networked
resources. Netscape Navigator integrates all major Internet functions, including Web browsing, file transfers,
news group communications and e-mail, under one simple, easy-to-leam and use interface.
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Netscape Navigator features several improvements over other HTTP-compatible browsers:

Speed, The Company's client software is engineered for rapid retrieval and display of information,
even at the relatively low 14.4 kbps dial-up transmission speeds employed t>y many users. Performance
gains are substantially greater for users accessing the Internet over higher capacity lines. The Company's
client software also employs technologies such as document and image caching and the simultaneous
loading of multiple images to accelerate the presentation of information.

Simplicity. Netscape Navigator has been designed to make the Internet easy to learn and use.
Netscape Navigator includes intuitive user interface technologies such as a toolbar for frequently used
commands and bookmarks for quickly accessing Web sites. Additionally, Navigator works transparently
with other software such as search tools and personal productivity applications.

Open Standards. Netscape Navigator software communicates seamlessly with virtually all popular
Internet server protocols, including HTTP, file transfer protocol ("FTP") and simple mail transport
protocol ("SMTP") making it compatible with the existing installed base of Web servers from a variety
of vendors.

Security. Netscape Navigator is designed to provide enhanced security so communications with
servers across the Internet can be protected against third party access or interference. This security is
based on an encrypted data stream that will allow for future enhancements with new protocols.

Consistency Across Platforms. Netscape Navigator is available in functionally equivalent versions
for Microsoft Windows and Windows NT, Apple Macintosh and various Unix platforms. This common
look and feel is a major advantage in mixed computing environments, minimizing training and support.
Netscape has introduced its beta version of the Navigator for Microsoft Windows 95 and expects to ship
the commercial version by the end of 1995.

The Company currently offers two versions of its Navigator client software.

Netscape Navigator LAN Edition. Netscape Navigator LAN Edition is intended for users who already
have IP connections to the Internet or internal networks. It incorporates all of the features described above
and is available for Windows, Mac and various Unix platforms. It is compatible with all standard IP
implementations on these platforms.

Netscape Navigator Personal Edition. Netscape Navigator Personal Edition is intended for companies
and individuals without direct IP connections who want dial-up access to the Internet. It includes a fully
integrated TCP/IP stack, an implementation of the Point to Point Protocol ("PPP"), a dialer and an e-mail
application. All components are installed and configured through easy-to-use installation programs and feature
automatic access to a choice of Internet service providers through Netscape's seiver.

Netscape Server Software

Netscape server software provides the basic communication services, security, administration and other
capabilities necessary for implementing and operating Web server sites.

Multi-Platform Support. Netscape server software currently operates on Intel-compatible PCs and
on many of the leading Unix platforms, including those from Digital, HP, IBM, SGI and Sun. Netscape's
Communications and Commerce servers also operate on the Microsoft Windows NT operating system.

Open Standards. Netscape server products support the HTTP, HTML and SSL protocols and, as a
result, are compatible with the installed base of Web browsers. The Company also intends to support the
SHTTP security protocol.

High Performance and Scalability. Netscape server products are based on process models which
enable them to support a large number of users. Depending on the underlying platform, Netscape servers
use either multi-threaded processing or a proprietary process management algorithm to efficiently handle
peak demand. As a result, the Company believes its server software delivers documents faster than other
HTTP servers,

Ease of Use. Netscape servers include automated installation and configuration capabilities, and
improved user management and maintenance through use of intuitive, online forms.
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Security. Netscape server products employ SSL server authentication and data encryption based on
technology licensed from RSA. Server authentication uses a certificate and a digital signature to verify
the legitimacy of the server. Data encryption protects the privacy of client/server communications by
encrypting the data stream between two entities.

The Netscape server software line currently includes three products: the Netscape Communications
Server, the Netscape Commerce Server, and the Netscape Proxy Server. The Company expects that the
Netscape News Server will be commercially available by the end of 1995.

Netscape Communications Server. The Netscape Communications Server enables organizations to
publish on the Internet and to reach new audiences online. In addition, corporations may conduct cost-
effective online marketing and customer support programs, and may facilitate internal communications and
collaborations among employees and workgroups.

Netscape Commerce Server. The Netscape Commerce Server provides all of the functionality of the
Communications Server, plus SSL-based security features for transactions conducted over the Internet. On
enterprise networks, the security features can be used to restrict access to information and applications.

Netscape Proxy Server. The Netscape Proxy Server is designed to improve the performance and security
of communications within a private IP network or between a private IP network and the Internet. Performance
is improved because the server stores frequently accessed pages locally. Security is enhanced because the
server provides encrypted communications through a firewall onto the Internet.

Netscape News Server. The Netscape News Server, which is expected to be commercially available by
the end of 199S, enables companies to create their own public and private discussion groups for information
exchange between employees, customers or any other audience. It is compatible with the Internet's Usenet
news hierarchy and incorporates the open SSL protocol, allowing users to create secure forums for confidential
or proprietary information exchange.

Integrated Applications

Netscape intends to offer comprehensive solutions that enable organizations to conduct full-scale
electronic commerce on the Internet. These applications are being designed to address different business
needs, including the presentation of multimedia formats, support for large numbers of merchants and
products, the need for real time data management, support for special communities of interest, and the
automation of high volumes of online transactions. All integrated applications are being designed to use the
Netscape Commerce Server, which provides enhanced security, including data encryption and server
authentication. These applications will be based on a modular architecture that enables integration between
applications and the addition of Internet applications as needed. The integrated applications are being
designed to provide the capability to manage large-scale commercial sites on the Internet.

All integrated applications are being designed to perform merchant authentication, credit authorization
and transaction settlement. Merchant authentication will be performed by a certification authority that
validates the server and gives it a signed digital signature that can be checked over the network. Credit card
authorization will occur online by checking records to ensure no abnormal activity has occurred and that the
transaction does not exceed the authorized credit limit. A merchant bank will perform transaction settlement
by transferring funds from the customer's account to the merchant's account.

The Netscape Merchant Server was commercially released by the Company in March 1995. The
Company expects to introduce the Netscape Publishing System, the Netscape Community Server and the
Netscape IStore by the end of 1995.

Netscape Merchant System. The Merchant System allows users to set up and manage virtual storefronts.
By storing product information in a relational database, it provides the flexibility to add and delete products,
change prices and import new graphics. Furthermore, display pages are automatically updated, which
simplifies the task of managing thousands of products.

28



With the Merchant System, shoppers may browse or make multi-level queries and view automatically
generated pages displaying items that meet their stated criteria. An electronic shopping basket allows shoppers
to hold items and allows purchases of any one or many products at a time of a customer's choosing, even if the
basket contains items from several merchants in the mall. At the point of sale, the Merchant System
automatically forwards the shopping basket and payment information to credit card authorization and
processing partners.

Netscape Publishing System. The Publishing System, which is expected to be commercially available by
the end of 1995, is designed for fee-based electronic publishers. It is being designed to allow organizations to
display and update information dynamically and to provide the billing and management tools to make
electronic publishing on the Internet viable.

The Publishing System will manage critical data for a publisher content, files, pricing information, access
authorization, user demographic information and advertising response rates. It is being designed to display
context-sensitive advertising to subscribers based upon specified criteria, including available demographic
information, entry path and time. The Publishing System will archive past issues, link related stories and
create HTML pages on the fly in response to user queries by concept or keyword.

Netscape Community System. The Community System, which is expected to be commercially available
by the end of 1995, is being designed to give organizations the ability to create virtual communities based upon
shared interest. It will support such popular activities as e-mail, bulletin boards and news groups. These
applications will let electronic publishers or merchants communicate with their customers in new ways, by
explaining product features online and offering customer support.

Netscape IStore. Netscape IStore, which is expected to be commercially available by the end of 1995, is
being designed to provide the integrated data management, on-line credit card authorization, billing and order-
processing capabilities required for a single merchant to build and manage a virtual storefront. It will feature
an embedded relational database for easy information tracking and management, pre-configured reports for
easy information retrieval and analysis, and easy forms-based set-up and administration.

Authoring Tools

The Netscape authoring tools are currently under development by the Company and are currently
scheduled for release in the first half of 1996. The Company is designing authoring tools to provide content
providers with a software solution for building an online presence. The authoring tools are intended to extend
beyond document creation and to leverage existing multimedia and document creation tools and formats.
Content providers are expected to be able to more productively create, edit and organize documents
specifically for the Internet to include hypermedia text with images, audio and video. By integrating and
organizing multiple content creation and management tools and standards, the authoring tools are expected to
provide a more compelling content creation environment for content providers. The Company believes that
these tools, once developed, will significantly enhance the ability of electronic merchants and publishers to
develop Web sites.

Security Risks

Despite the implementation into the Company's products of the SSL the Company's products may be
vulnerable to break-ins and similar disruptive problems caused by Internet users. Such computer break-ins
and other disruptions would jeopardize the security of information stored in and transmitted through the
computer systems of end users of the Company's products, which may result in significant liability to the
Company and may also deter potential customers. Persistent security problems continue to plague public and
private data networks. Recent break-ins reported in the press and otherwise occurred at GE, Sprint, and IBM,
as well as the computer systems of NETCOM and the San Diego Supercomputer Center, and have included
incidents involving hackers bypassing firewalls by posing as trusted computers and involving the theft of
confidential information. Alleviating problems caused by third parties may require significant expenditures of
capital and resources by the Company and may cause interruptions, delays, or cessation of service to the
Company's customers; such expenditures or interruptions could have a material adverse effect on the
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Company's business, operating results and financial condition. Moreover, the security and privacy concerns of
existing and potential customers, as well as concerns related to computer viruses, may inhibit the growth of the
Internet marketplace generally, and the Company's customer base and revenues in particular. The Company
attempts to limit its liability to customers, including liability arising from a failure of the security feature
contained in the Company's products, through contractual provisions. However, there can be no assurance that
such limitations will be enforceable. The Company currently does not have product liability insurance to
protect against these risks and there can be no assurance that such insurance will be available to the Company
on commercially reasonable terms.

Services

Support Programs

The Company has made a commitment to provide timely, high quality technical support to meet the
diverse needs of its customers and partners and to facilitate the adoption and use of its products. The Company
offers several support products:

Netscape HelpDesk Support. The Company offers a full spectrum of sjinual support intended for
organizations who need to internally support large-scale deployment of Netscape Navigator software and
for authorized VARs and systems integrators providing direct support to their customers. This program
offers access to technical experts, support and training materials, support tools call histories, maintenance
releases and software updates.

Netscape Consultation Support. For individuals and for small groups using Netscape Navigator
software, the Company offers support through a toll-free telephone number on a time and materials
payment basis. This service provides online technical support and bug fixes or software releases as
required. Netscape Consultation Support is particularly economical for self-supporting departments who
consolidate questions through a department system administrator.

Netscape Server Licensee Support. The Company offers an annual support program targeted at
system administrators who have licensed Netscape servers. The program features are similar to those in
Netscape HelpDesk Support but are oriented toward the Netscape server software.

Netscape Advanced Support. The Company offers medium to large-sized organizations and
strategic partners 24 hour support, partner specific training and consulting, online access to support
information, and early access to new software releases.

Netscape Server Administration Training Course. The Company offers a two-day course intended
for Unix system administrators who are implementing an Internet HTTP presence with Netscape
software. The topics covered include server site preparation, configuration and installation, HTML
authoring, security, CGI scripts, hands-on labs and a discussion of the Company and the role of its
products on the Internet.

Consulting

The Company offers consulting services for particularly complex application design, integration and
installation. Consulting services are provided at negotiated rates, and typically include on-site support during
the installation process by Company engineers.

Training

Netscape offers hands-on training courses and materials to resellers and end users covering installation,
configuration and troubleshooting. In addition, courses and materials cover security and encryption, user
support, data loading and content creation, HTML user interface design, HTML template scripting and
integration with the data base.
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Advertising Space

For its most frequently visited Web pages, Netscape has created a program which enables advertisers to
display their logo or message on a hyperlinked button with access to their Web site. The Company charges a
monthly fee for the advertising spots which varies depending on the specific page location and the number of
visits to the page.

Marketing and Distribution

Target Markets

The Company's target markets are the Internet commerce, enterprise and individual PC user markets.

Internet Commerce Market. The Company believes that many major corporations will begin to publish
information on the Internet and to offer products and services for sale. Companies are expected to use the
Internet to publish corporate product and support information as "electronic brochures". Corporations likely
to offer products and services for sale include telecommunications companies, information service providers,
mail order and traditional retailers, publishers, and financial service providers.

Enterprise Market. Medium and large-sized organizations, particularly those with geographically dis-
bursed employee bases, are expected to increasingly use the Internet in conjunction with private IP networks
to facilitate internal communications. Many Fortune 500 companies already maintain extensive private
communication networks today, which can be enhanced and extended through use of the Internet.

Individual PC Users. While the number of business desktop computer users accessing the Internet is
increasing rapidly, the Company believes that only a small fraction of business computer users currently use
the Internet. In addition, the popularity of online information services, such as Prodigy, CompuServe and
AOL, as well as home shopping services, such as QVC and Home Shopping Network, coupled with the
approximately 33 million home computers estimated by IDC to be in the United States today, suggest that the
home market for commercial applications on the Internet will be substantial. The accessibility and ease of use
of the Company's products are designed to address the demands of this marketplace.

The key targeted markets are illustrated below:

Target Markets

Internet Commerce

Enterprise

Individual PC User

Netscape Products

Merchant System
Publishing System*
Community System*
IStore*

Communications Server
Commerce Server
Proxy Server
News Server*

Navigator LAN Edition
Navigator Personal Edition

Channels

Systems Integrators
VARs
Direct Sales

OEMs
Direct Sales
Systems Integrators
VARs
Telesales
Internet

Retail
OEMs
Telesales
Internet

* Expected to be commercially available by the end of 1995.
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The market for the Company's software and services has only recently begun to develop, is rapidly
evolving and is characterized by an increasing number of market entrants who have introduced or developed
products and services for communication and commerce over the Internet and private IP networks. As is
typical in the case of a new and rapidly evolving industry, demand and market acceptance for recently
introduced products and services are subject to a high level of uncertainty. The industry is young and has few
proven products. Moreover, critical issues concerning the commercial use of the Internet (including security,
reliability, cost, ease of use and access, and quality of service) remain unresolved and may impact the growth
of Internet use. While the Company believes that its software products offer significant advantages for
commerce and communication over the Internet and private IP networks, there can be no assurance that
Internet Commerce and communication will become widespread, or that the Company's products for
commerce and communication over the Internet and private IP networks will become widely adopted for these
purposes.

Marketing

The Company uses a variety of marketing programs to stimulate demand for its products and services.
These programs are focused on the target markets mentioned above and are designed to leverage the Internet
itself as a powerful marketing vehicle. In addition, the Company has developed co-marketing programs with
channel partners designed to take advantage of their complementary marketing capabilities. The key elements
of the Company's marketing strategy include:

Marketing on the Internet. Netscape Navigator is designed to automatically access the Netscape home
page on the Company's Web server each time it starts up. The home page provides frequently updated help for
new users, news about the Company, directories to interesting sites on the Internet and a variety of product
and technical support information. The Company makes its products available for evaluation and purchase
through its home page. Customer information is collected electronically through an automated registration
process, creating the basis for ongoing marketing of upgrades, new products, add-on products and
merchandise.

Target marketing. The Company focuses direct marketing efforts on new electronic merchants,
companies now publishing on the Web and decision makers using the Internet for internal use in medium and
large-sized enterprises. The Company addresses these customers through a referral program for Netscape
Navigator users, outbound telemarketing, direct response advertising and seminar programs. The goal of these
efforts is to identify potential buyers of the Company's products, create awareness of the Company's product
offerings and generate leads for follow-on sales calls.

Marketing to PC users. Client products are marketed widely to PC users in loth the business and home
PC market segments. Retail distribution through national resellers, reseller agreements with Internet access
providers, and bundling arrangements with PC hardware and software OEMs are being used to make the
Company's client products rapidly available to a large number of potential customers. In order to stimulate
demand for its products, the Company also advertises in PC industry publications and engages in sales
promotions with distribution partners.

Distribution

The Company's objective is to become the de facto industry standard in part through rapid dissemination
of its products and services through multiple distribution channels worldwide. The Company has designed its
distribution strategy to address the particular requirements of its diverse institutional and individual target
customers. The Company's direct distribution efforts consist of a direct sales foice and telesales as well as
marketing directly via the Netscape home page on the Internet. The Company's products arc distributed
indirectly through OEMs, systems integrators, VARs and software retailers.

Direct Sales. The Company's direct sales force targets primarily medium to large-sized organizations,
including telecommunications companies, retailers, publishers and entertainment companies. The Company
believes that these organizations are most likely to become the electronic merchants and information
publishers for commerce on the Internet. In addition, these organizations have a substantial installed base of
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private IP networks and are expected to employ Web servers for internal enterprise applications. In certain
instances, the Company's direct sales force works with complementary hardware OEMs, VARs and systems
integrators to deliver complete solutions for major customers.

Telesales. The Company's telesales organization, based in Mountain View, California, receives customer
orders as well as proactively contacts potential customers obtained from a variety of sources.

Internet Sales. The Company offers its products and services electronically via the Internet. Internet
sales and distribution is particularly well suited to address the large base of Internet users.

OEMs. The Company has established OEM relationships to leverage its sales efforts. For example, the
Company has agreements with Digital, SGI, Sun, Apple, Mitsubishi, Toshiba, NEC, Sony, Novell, MCI,
Pacific Bell, Delphi and others to bundle Netscape's server or client software with certain of their product
offerings.

VARs and Systems Integrators. VARs and systems integrators customize, configure and install the
Company's software products with complementary hardware, software and services. In combining these
products and services, these resellers are able to deliver more complete Netscapo-based solutions to address
specific customer needs. The Company may also help these VARs and systems integrators design customized
applications to meet the unique requirements of these customers. Since April 1, 1995, more than 150 VARs
have been qualified by the Company to resell its products.

Software Retailers. In June 199S, the Company introduced its Netscape Navigator Personal Edition
product for distribution through leading software retailers.

The Company has historically sold its products through direct sales and OEMs. The Company expects to
increasingly utilize OEMs and has only recently begun utilizing systems integrators, VARs and software
retailers (collectively, "Resellers"). The Company expects that any material increase in sales through
Resellers as a percentage of total revenues, especially in the percentage of sales through OEMs and VARs,
will adversely affect the Company's average selling prices and gross margins due to the lower unit prices that
are typically charged when selling through indirect channels. Moreover, there ct.n be no assurance that the
Company will be able to attract Resellers that will be able to market the Company's products effectively and
will be qualified to provide timely and cost-effective customer support and service. In addition, the Company's
agreements with Resellers typically do not restrict Resellers from distributing competing products, and in
many cases may be terminated by either party without cause. Further, in some cases the Company has granted
exclusive distribution rights which are limited by territory and in duration. Consequently, the Company may
be adversely affected should any Reseller fail to adequately penetrate its market segment. The inability to
recruit, or the loss of, important Resellers, or their inability to penetrate their respective market segments,
could materially adversely affect the Company's business, operating results or financial condition.

The Company plans to expand its field sales force and its telesales organization. There can be no
assurance that such internal expansion will be successfully completed, that the co^t of such expansion will not
exceed the revenues generated, or that the Company's sales and marketing organization will be able to
successfully compete against the significantly more extensive and well-funded sales and marketing operations
of many of the Company's current or potential competitors. The Company's inability to effectively manage its
internal expansion could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, operating results or
financial condition.

In addition to expanding its direct sales channels, the Company will continue to distribute its products
electronically through the Internet. Distributing the Company's products through the Internet makes the
Company's software more susceptible than other software to unauthorized copying and use. The Company
currently allows potential customers to electronically download its client and server software for a free trial
period. There can be no assurance that, upon expiration of the evaluation period, the Company will be able to
collect payment from users that retain a copy of the Company's software. If, as a result of changing legal
interpretations of liability for unauthorized use of the Company's software or otherwise, users were to become
less sensitive to avoiding copyright infringement, the Company's business, operating results and financial
condition would be materially adversely affected.
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International

International revenues (sales outside of North America) were immaterial in the Inception Period and
accounted for approximately 10% of total revenues for the quarter ended March 31, 1995. However, the
Company believes that approximately 30% of all Internet servers are located outside the U.S. The Company
intends to translate and localize its products to address certain international markets.

The Company believes it is important to have a strong international presence. The Company intends to do
business in markets outside the U.S. through a combination of subsidiaries and distributors. The Company
intends to employ a mix of channels similar to the U.S. model, through the use of OEMs, systems integrators,
VARs and software retailers.

A Japanese subsidiary, Netscape Communications (Japan), Ltd. was established at the end of 1994. The
Company has established relationships with computer hardware manufacturers, system integrators, and
trading houses in Japan, including Information Services International - Dentsu, Itochu Techno-Science,
Mitsubishi, NEC, NTT PC Communications, Softbank Corp., Software Japan International, Sony and
Toshiba. The Company intends to establish a presence in European markets and other Pacific Rim countries
in the second half of 1995.

In particular, the Company intends to establish foreign subsidiaries in Europe by the end of 1995. If the
international revenues generated by these subsidiaries are not adequate to offset the expense of establishing
and maintaining these foreign operations, the Company's business, operating results or financial condition
could be materially adversely affected. To date, the Company has only limited experience in developing
localized versions of its products and marketing and distributing its products internationally. There can be no
assurance that the Company will be able to successfully market, sell and deliver its products in these markets.
In addition to the uncertainty as to the Company's ability to expand its international presence, there are
certain risks inherent in doing business on an international level, such as unexpected changes in regulatory
requirements, tariffs and other trade barriers, difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, longer
payment cycles, problems in collecting accounts receivable, political instability, fluctuations in currency
exchange rates, seasonal reductions in business activity during the summer months in Europe and certain
other parts of the world and potentially adverse tax consequences, which could adversely impact the success of
the Company's international operations. There can be no assurance that one or more of such factors will not
have a material adverse effect on the Company's future international operations and, consequently, on the
Company's business, operating results and financial condition.

Due to the encryption technology contained in the Company's products, such products are subject to U.S.
export controls. There can be no assurance that such export controls, either in their current form or as may be
subsequently enacted, will not limit the Company's ability to distribute products outside of the United States
or electronically. While Netscape takes precautions against unlawful exportation, the global nature of the
Internet makes it virtually impossible to effectively control the distribution of the Company's products. In
addition, federal or state legislation or regulation may further limit levels of encryption or authentication
technology. Any such export restrictions or new legislation or regulation could have a material adverse impact
on the Company's business, operating results or financial condition.

Research and Development

The Company's current development efforts are focused on new products and adapting existing products
to new operating systems. Netscape's Community System, Publishing System and IStore integrated applica-
tion products, Netscape News Server and the Netscape Navigator for Windows 95, are all currently being beta
tested. Community System, Publishing System, Netscape News Server, News Saver and IStore are expected
to be commercially available by the end of 1995. There can be no assurance, however, that these products will
be made commercially available as expected or otherwise on a timely and cost-effective basis, or that if
introduced, that these products will achieve market acceptance.

The Company believes that its software development team represents a significant competitive advantage
for the Company. The team includes key members of the engineering teams which developed the original
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Mosaic Web client at NCSA, the original Web server software at CERN and NCSA, as well as leading
software security specialists. The Company's ability to attract and retain highly qualified employees will be the
principal determinant of its success in maintaining technological leadership. Netscape has a policy of using
equity-based compensation programs to reward and motivate significant contributors among its employees.

Research and development expenses were $2,032,000 and $1,981,000 for the Inception Period and for the
quarter ended March 31, 1995, respectively. To date, all software development c-jsts have been expensed as
incurred. The Company believes tbat significant investments in research and development are required to
remain competitive in tbe software business. As a consequence, the Company intends to increase the absolute
amount of its research and development expenditures in the future.

Substantially all of the Company's revenues have been derived, and substantially all of the Company's
future revenues are expected to be derived, from the license of its software and sale of its associated services.
Accordingly, broad acceptance of the Company's products and services by customers is critical to the
Company's future success, as is the Company's ability to design, develop, test and support new software
products and enhancements on a timely basis that meet changing customer needs and respond to technological
developments and emerging industry standards. There can be no assurance that the Company will he
successful in developing and marketing new software products and enhancements that meet changing
customer needs and respond to such technological changes or evolving industry standards. The Company's
current products are designed around certain standards, including, for example, security standards, and current
and future sales of the Company's products will be dependent, in part, on industry acceptance of such
standards. Other companies, like Microsoft and IBM are proposing alternative standards, the adoption of
which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, operating results or financial condition.
In addition, there can be no assurance that tbe Company will not experience difficulties that could delay or
prevent the successful development, introduction and marketing of new products and enhancements, or that its
new products and enhancements will adequately meet the requirements of the marketplace and achieve
market acceptance. The Company will be substantially dependent in the near future upon its server and
integrated application software products that are still being developed or have been recently released. In
particular, the Company has not yet commercially released the Netscape Publishing System, the Netscape
Community System or the Netscape IStore integrated applications software products, the Netscape News
Server or the Netscape authoring tools. Further, because the Company has only recently commenced
shipment of its products, there can be no assurance that, despite testing by the Company and by current and
potential customers, errors will not be found in the Company's products, or, if discovered, successfully
corrected in a timely manner. If tbe Company is unable to develop on a timely basis new software products,
enhancements to existing products or error corrections, or if such new products or enhancements do not
achieve market acceptance, the Company's business, operating results and financial condition will be
materially adversely affected.

Competition

The market for Internet-based software and services is new, intensely competitive, rapidly evolving and
subject to rapid technological change. The Company expects competition to persist, intensify and increase in
the future. Almost alt of the Company's current and potential competitors have longer operating histories,
greater name recognition, larger installed customer bases and significantly greater financial, technical and
marketing resources than the Company. Tbe additional competition could materially adversely affect the
Company's business, operating results or financial condition. The Company's current and potential competi-
tors can be divided into several groups: Microsoft, browser software vendors, Web server software and service
vendors, PC and Unix software vendors and online service providers.

Microsoft Corporation. Microsoft has licensed browser software from Spyglass and has announced its
intention to improve and bundle the browser with its Windows 95 operating system. Microsoft's browser will
access the Microsoft Network, its announced online service, and will also offer Internet access. While the
anticipated penetration of this software into Microsoft's installed base of PC users will increase the size and
usefulness of the Internet, it could also have a material adverse impact on Netscape's ability to sell client
software. In addition, Microsoft may choose to develop Web server software as a complement to its product
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line and to support the Microsoft Network. This could have a materially adverse impact on Netscape's ability
to sell server software or integrated applications. Microsoft has a longer operating history, a much larger
installed base and number of employees, and dramatically greater financial, technical and marketing
resources, access to distribution channels and name recognition than the Company.

Browser Software Vendors. Several companies are currently offering client-based Web browser prod-
ucts, including Spry, Inc. (a subsidiary of CompuServe), Spyglass, Booklink Technologies, Inc. ("Booklink",
a subsidiary of AOL), NetManage Inc., Network Computing Devices, Inc. and Quarterdeck Office Systems,
Inc. In addition, the NCSA at the University of Illinois distributes its product, NCSA Mosaic, for free for
noncommercial use. Further, Spyglass has an exclusive license to NCSA Mosaic and is actively sublicensing it
to other commercial vendors. These sublicensees are expected to offer derivative products that will compete
with the Company's Netscape Navigator product line.

Server Software and Service Vendors. Some companies are offering Web sen-er software that they install
and operate on behalf of their customers, and other companies are offering services using Web servers.
Companies offering Web server software include Open Market, Inc. ("Open Market"), which has a Web
server for various Unix platforms. Process Software Corp. and O'Reilly & Associates, Inc., which have
Windows NT Web server products, Spyglass, which has announced a Web server for Windows NT and
various Unix platforms, and Terisa, which offers a toolkit for adding security functions to the existing NCSA
and CERN Web servers. Service companies include Open Market and Internet Media Services, which
publish content from third parties on their own Web servers. In the future, software companies which have
server products in other product categories may choose to enhance the functionality of existing products or
develop new products which are competitive with the Company's Web server and integrated application
products. These include Lotus (which IBM recently announced its intent to acquire), which may extend
Notes in this manner, and Novell, which may choose to provide add-ons to Netware for Web publishing. In
addition, the database vendors Oracle, Sybase and Informix may incorporate Web server functionality into
their products.

PC and Unix Software Vendors. The Company believes that PC software vendors may become
particularly formidable competitors. In addition to Microsoft, IBM has incorporated client software in its
OS/2 operating system, and the Company believes that other PC operating system vendors, including Apple,
will also eventually incorporate some Web client functionality into their opeiating systems as standard
features. This may also be true of Unix operating systems vendors, such as Sun, HP, IBM, Digital, SCO and
SGI. If these companies incorporate Web browser functionality into their software products, they could
subsequently offer this functionality at little or no additional cost to customers. Further, in the event that client
products incorporated into operating systems by Microsoft or other Unix or PC software vendors gain market
acceptance, these organizations will be better positioned than the Company to sell Web server and
applications software products.

Online Service Providers. Although the online services provided by companies such as Prodigy,
CompuServe and AOL are not Internet-based services, these services currently present an alternative medium
to content providers considering Internet-based publishing. In addition, due to the appeal of the Internet to
content publishers and end users, these companies are adapting their service offerings to provide Internet
access. At least two of these companies compete directly with the Company in the Internet-based software
and services market: AOL, which acquired Booklink, an Internet-based software company, and CompuServe,
which acquired Spry. The Compan/s client software products do not offer access to any online services,
including Microsoft Network, and could be at a competitive disadvantage versus browser products which offer
both access to the Internet and to an online service.

Additional competition could come from client/server applications and tools vendors, other database
companies, multimedia companies, document management companies, net woi king software companies,
network management companies and educational software companies.

Competitive factors in the Internet-based software and services market include core technology, breadth
of product features, product quality, marketing and distribution resources, and customer service and support.
The Company believes it presently competes favorably with respect to each of these factors. However, the
market and competition are still new and rapidly emerging, and there can be no assurance that the Company
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will be able to compete successfully against current or future competitors, or that this competition will not
adversely affect its business, operating results and financial condition.

Government Regulation

The Company is not currently subject to direct regulation by any government agency, other than
regulations applicable to businesses generally, and there are currently few laws or regulations directly
applicable to access to or commerce on the Internet. However, due to the increasing popularity and use of the
Internet, it is possible that a number of laws and regulations may be adopted with respect to the Internet,
covering issues such as user privacy, pricing and characteristics and quality of products and services. For
example, the Exon Bill (which was recently approved by the Senate) would prohibit distribution of obscene,
lascivious or indecent communications on the Internet. The adoption of any such laws or regulations may
decrease the growth of the Internet, which could in turn decrease the demand for the Company's products and
increase the Company's cost of doing business or otherwise have an adverse effect on the Company's business,
operating results or financial condition. Moreover, the applicability to the Internet of existing laws governing
issues such as property ownership, libel and personal privacy is uncertain.

Proprietary Rights

In December 1994, the Company entered into an agreement with the University of Illinois {the
"University") and Spyglass. Under the terms of the agreement, the University and Spyglass agreed not to
assert any claim of trademark infringement arising out of the Company's prior use of the word "Mosaic" or
other symbols or words used by the Company to market itself or its products. The University and Spyglass
further agreed not to assert against the Company any claim of copyright infringement, trade secret
misappropriation or related claims based on the Company's use of former University employees in the
development of the Company's present and future products. As consideration for these covenants not to assert
any such claims, the Company agreed to make certain payments to the University over a two-year period. If
the Company does not make these payments within the specified time periods, the University or Spyglass
could assert claims of intellectual property infringement against the Company. Such litigation could result in
substantial costs and diversion of resources even if ultimately decided in favor of the Company. Further,
although the Company believes that it has not infringed the intellectual property rights of the University or
Spyglass, any such litigation and tbe outcome of such litigation could have a material adverse effect on the
Company's business, operating results or financial condition.

The Company's success and ability to compete is dependent in part upon its proprietary technology.
While the Company relies on trademark, trade secret and copyright law to protect its technology, the
Company believes that factors such as the technological and creative skills of its personnel, new product
developments, frequent product enhancements, name recognition and reliable product maintenance are more
essential to establishing and maintaining a technology leadership position. The Company presently has no
patents or patent applications pending. There can be no assurance that others will not develop technologies
that are similar or superior to the Company's technology. The source code for the Company's proprietary
software is protected both as a trade secret and as a copyrighted work. Despite these precautions, it may be
possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use the Company's products or technology without
authorization, or to develop similar technology independently. In addition, effective copyright and trade secret
protection may be unavailable or limited in certain foreign countries, and the global nature of the Internet
makes it virtually impossible to control the ultimate destination of the Company's products. The Company
generally enters into confidentiality or license agreements with its employees, consultants and vendors, and
generally controls access to and distribution of its software, documentation and other proprietary information.
To license its products, the Company primarily relies on "shrink wrap" licenses thai are not signed by the end-
user and, therefore, may be unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions. Despite the Company's
efforts to protect its proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of the Company's
products or to obtain and use information that the Company regards as proprietary. Policing unauthorized use
of the Company's products is difficult. There can be no assurance that the steps taken by the Company will
prevent misappropriation of its technology or that such agreements will be enforceable. In addition, litigation
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may be necessary in the future to enforce the Company's intellectual property rights, to protect the Company's
trade secrets, to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others, or to defend against claims
of infringement or invalidity. Such litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and
could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, operating results or financial condition.

Unisys recently announced its intention to require the payment of royalties for the use of compression
technology associated with the Graphics Interchange Format ("GIF"), a popular file format based on
compression technology patented by Unisys. The Company's products have the ability to decompress files,
including files stored in GIF. While the Company has received notice of Unisys' intention to enforce such
patent, the Company believes its technology falls outside the scope of such patent. However, the Company
could incur additional costs and liability should its products be found to be within the scope of the Unisys
patent. The assertion of these patent rights by Unisys, if successful, could result in additional costs to the
Company or prevent the Company's products from enabling users to view files compressed in GIF. From time
to time the Company has, in addition to the notice from Unisys, received, and may receive in the future, notice
of claims of infringement of other parties' proprietary rights. Although the Company does not believe that its
products infringe the proprietary rights of any third parties, there can be no assurance that infringement or
invalidity claims (or claims for indemnification resulting from infringement claims) will not be asserted or
prosecuted against the Company or that any such assertions or prosecutions will not materially adversely affect
the Company's business, financial condition or results of operations. Irrespective of the validity or the
successful assertion of such claims, the Company would incur significant costs and diversion of resources with
respect to the defense thereof which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial
condition or results of operations. If any claims or actions are asserted against the Company, the Company
may seek to obtain a license under a third party's intellectual property rights. There can be no assurance,
however, that under such circumstances, a license would be available on reasonable terms or at all.

Employees

As of June 5, 1995, the Company had a total of 213 employees, 20S of whom were based in the United
States. Of the total, 80 were in research and development, 117 were engaged in salts, marketing and customer
support and 20 were in administration and finance. The Company's future success depends in significant part
upon the continued service of its key technical and senior management personnel and its continuing ability to
attract and retain highly qualified technical and managerial personnel. Competition for highly qualified
personnel is intense and there can be no assurance that the Company can retain its key managerial and
technical employees or that it will be able to attract or retain additional highly qualified technical and
managerial personnel in the future. None of the Company's employees is represented by a labor union. The
Company has not experienced any work stoppages and considers its relations with its employees to be good.

The rapid execution necessary for the Company to fully exploit the market window for its products and
services requires an effective planning and management process. The Company's rapid growth has placed, and
is expected to continue to place, a significant strain on the Company's managerial, operational and financial
resources. The Company recently hired James L. Barksdale as its new President and Chief Executive Officer
in January 199S and Peter L.S. Cunie as its Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in April 1995. In
addition, most of the Company's development and engineering staff was only recently hired. To manage its
growth, the Company must continue to implement and improve its operational and financial systems and to
expand, train and manage its employee base. For example, the Company is currently in the process of building
its internal maintenance and support organization. Although the Company believes that it has made adequate
allowances for the costs and risks associated with this expansion, there can be no assurance that the
Company's systems, procedures or controls will be adequate to support the Company's operations or that
Company management will be able to achieve the rapid execution necessary to fully exploit the market
window for the Company's products and services. If the Company is unable to manage growth effectively, the
Company's business, operating results and financial condition will be materially adversely affected.
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Facilities

The Company leases its principal facility, which occupies approximately 50,000 square feet of office
space, in Mountain View, California. This facility is leased through Decembei 31, 2001. The Company is
additionally committed to an adjacent building of approximately 50,000 square feet for future expansion. The
lease requires the Company to occupy and begin rental payments on the second building no later than
September 1, 1995. The lease on this building also expires on December 31, 2001. In addition, the Company
occupies a building of approximately 28,000 square feet of space adjacent to its existing facilities pursuant to a
lease which expires in September 1995. The Company believes that its existing facilities will be adequate until
the end of the year and that sufficient additional space will be available as needed thereafter.

The Company also leases approximately 11,000 square feet of office space: in a building in Mountain
View, California, which was its principal business location until January 6, 1995. This space is leased through
May 16, 1996. The Company has recently sublet this space to a subtenant which will rent that space through
the term of the Company's lease. The Company also has short-term operating leases for sales offices in several
states, Tokyo and Paris.

The Company maintains secure Web servers which contain confidential infoimation of the Company and
its customers. The Company's operations are dependent in part upon its ability to protect its network
infrastructure against damage from physical break-ins, natural disasters, operational disruptions and other
events. Any damage or failure that causes interruptions in the Company's operations could materially
adversely affect the Company's business, operating results or financial condition. In addition, physical break-
ins could result in the theft or loss of confidential or critical business information of the Company or its
customers.
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Name

James H. Clark
James L. Barksdale
Marc L. Andreessen
Peter L.S. Currie
Conway Rulon-Miller
Michael J. Homer
Roberta R. Katz
Richard M. Schell
James C.J. Sha

Kandis Malefyt
L. John Doerr(l)
JohnE. Wamock(l)

50
52
23
38
44
37
47
45
45

41
43
54

MANAGEMENT

Executive Officers and Directors

The executive officers and directors of the Company, and their ages and positions as of May 31,1995, are
as follows:

PMIIIOU(I)

Chairman of the Board
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Vice President, Technology and Director
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Vice President, Sales and Field Operations
Vice President, Marketing
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Vice President, Engineering
Vice President and General Manager, Integrated
Applications
Vice President, Human Resources
Director
Director

(1) Member of the Audit and Compensation Committees.

Dr. Clark co-founded the Company in April 1994 and serves as its Chairman of the Board. From
inception of the Company to December 1994, Dr. Clark served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. From 1981 to 1994, Dr. Clark was Chairman of the Board of Directors of Silicon Graphics, Inc.
("SGI"), a computer systems company he founded in 1981. Dr. Clark also served as Chief Technical Officer
of SGI from 1981 to 1987. Prior to founding SGI, Dr. Clark was an associate professor at Stanford University.
Dr. Clark holds a Ph.D. from the University of Utah and an M.S. from Louisiana State University.

Mr. Barksdale joined the Company in January 1995 as President and Chief Executive Officer. He has
served as a director of the Company since October 8, 1994, From 1992 to 1994, Mr. Barksdale served as
President and Chief Operating Officer, and, as of September 1994, Chief Executive Officer of AT&T Wireless
Services {formerly, McCaw Cellular Communications, Inc. ("McCaw")). From 1983 to 1991, Mr. Barksdale
served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of Federal Express Corporation. From 1979 to
1983, Mr. Barksdale served as Chief Information Officer of Federal Express. Mr. Barksdale also held various
management positions, including Chief Information Officer, with Cook Industries Inc. during the mid-1970s
and was employed by International Business Machines Corporation from 1965 to 1972. He holds a B.A. from
the University of Mississippi. Mr. Barksdale serves as a director of 3Com Corporation and The Promus
Companies, Incorporated.

Mr. Andreessen co-founded the Company in April 1994. He currently serves as Vice President,
Technology and has been a director of the Company since September 1994. He received a B.S. from the
University of Illinois in 1994 where he co-authored the original NCSA Mosaic Web browser.

Mr. Currie joined the Company as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in April 1995. From
April 1989 to January 1995, Mr. Currie held various management positions at McCaw, including Executive
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, and as of February 1993, Executive Vice President of Corporate
Development. From 1982 to 1989, he held various positions at Morgan Stanley & Co., Incorporated.
Mr. Currie holds an M.B.A. from Stanford University and a B.A. from Williams College. Mr. Currie serves as
a director of LIN Television Corporation.

Mr. Rulon-Miller joined the Company in October 1994 as Vice President, Sales and Field Operations of
the Company. From December 1992 to October 1994, Mr. Rulon-Miller was President and Chief Executive
Officer of Software Alliance Corp., a subsidiary of Teknekron Communications Systems Inc. From 1986 to
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1992, he served as Vice President of North American Operations of NeXT Computer, Inc. Mr. Rulon-Miller
has previously held management positions at Tandem Computers, Inc., American Express Company and
IBM. Mr. Rulon-MUler holds a B.A. from Princeton University.

Mr. Homer joined the Company in October 1994 as Vice President, Marketing. From August 1993 to
October 1994, Mr. Homer served as Vice President, Engineering at EO Corporation and from July 1991 to
July 1993, Mr. Homer was Vice President, Marketing at GO Corporation. He had previously been Director of
Product Marketing at Apple Computer, Inc. where he had held various technical and marketing positions
from 1982 through 1991. Mr. Homer holds a B.S. from the University of California, Berkeley.

Ms. Katz joined the Company in May 1995 as Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary. From
March 1993 until joining the Company, Ms. Katz served as Senior Vice President and General Counsel of
McCaw. In addition, from March 1992 until joining the Company, Ms. Katz served as Senior Vice President
and General Counsel of LIN Broadcasting Corporation, a subsidiary of McCaw. Prior to March 1992,
Ms. Katz was in private legal practice, most recently as a partner in the law firm of Heller, Ehrman, White &
McAuliffe. Ms. Katz is a Fellow of the Discovery Institute and a member of the: Board of Directors of The
Washington Technology Center. Ms. Katz holds a J.D. from the University of Washington School of Law, a
Ph.D. from Columbia University and a B.A. from Stanford University.

Dr. Schell joined the Company in October 1994 as Vice President, Engineering. From January 1993 to
October 1994, Dr. Schelt was employed by Symantec Corporation, most recently as Vice President/General
Manager of the Central Point Division (formerly Central Point Software, Inc.). Fiom 1989 to 1992, he served
as Vice President, Languages and dBase at Borland International. Prior to that time, Dr. Schell held various
management positions at Sun Microsystems, Inc. and Intel Corporation. Dr. Schell holds a Ph.D., an M.S.
and a B.A. from the University of Illinois.

Mr. Sha joined the Company in August 1994 as Vice President and General Manager, Integrated
Applications. From 1990 to 1994, Mr. Sha served as Vice President, Unix Division at Oracle Corporation.
From 1986 to 1990, he served as Vice President/General Manager, Advanced Systems Division at Wyse
Technology, Inc. Mr. Sha holds an M.S.E.E. from the University of California, Berkeley, an M.B.A. from
Santa Clara University and a B.S.E.E. from National Taiwan University.

Ms. Malefyt joined the Company in December 1994 as Vice President, Human Resources. From 1988 to
1994, Ms. Malefyt served as a Director, Human Resources at Silicon Graphics, Inc. Prior to that time, she
served as Vice President, Human Resources at ISI. Ms. Malefyt holds an M.S. from Antioch University and a
B.A. from Harding University.

Mr. Doerr has been a director of the Company since September 1994. Mr. Doerr has been a general
partner of Kleiner, Perkins, Caufield & Byers, a venture capital firm, since 1980. Prior to joining Kleiner,
Perkins, Caufield & Byers, Mr. Door was employed by Intel Corporation for five years. He is a director of
Intuit Inc., Macromedia, Inc., Platinum, Shiva Corporation and Sun, as well as several private companies. He
holds an M.B.A. from the Harvard Business School and an M.E.E. and a B.S. from Rice University.

Dr. Warnock has been a director of the Company since April 1995. Dr. Wamock is a founder of Adobe
Systems Incorporated ("Adobe"), and has been its Chairman of the Board since 1989. He has served as
Adobe's President, Chief Executive Officer and a director since December 1982. Prior to founding Adobe, Dr.
Wamock was principal scientist of the Imaging Sciences Laboratory at Xerot Corporation's Palo Alto
Research Center. He is a director of Adobe, Evans & Sutherland Computer Corporation, Red Brick Systems
and the Tech Museum of Innovation. Dr. Warnock holds a Ph.D., an M.S. and a B.S. from the University of
Utah.

The Company currently has authorized five directors. In June 1995, the Board of Directors approved,
subject to stockholder approval, an amendment to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation to provide for a classified Board of Directors. In accordance with the terms of the proposed
amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, effective upon the closing of this
offering, the terms of office of the Board of Directors will be divided into three classes: Class I, Class II and
Class III. The terms of office of the respective classes of directors initially classified will be as follows: Class I
will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in 1996; Class II will expire at the annual meeting
of stockholders to be held in 1997; and Class III will expire at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held in
1998. At each annual meeting of stockholders after the aforementioned initial classification, the successors to
directors whose terms will then expire will be elected to serve from the time of election and qualification until
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the third annual meeting following election and until successors will have been duly elected and will bave
qualified. Any additional directorships resulting from an increase in the number of directors will be distributed
among the three classes so that, as nearly as possible, each class will consist of one-third of the directors.

In connection with the Series B Preferred Stock financing, Mr. Docrr was elected to the Board of
Directors pursuant to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. In connection with
the Series C Preferred Stock financing, Dr. Warnock was elected to the Board of Directors pursuant to the
Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. These provisions will terminate upon the
closing of this offering.

Each officer serves at the discretion of the Board of Directors. There are no family relationships among
any of the directors or officers of the Company.

Director Compensation

The Company's directors are not compensated for any meetings that they attend nor are they reimbursed
for any expenses that are incurred in attending such meetings. However, in January 1995, in exchange for his
services as a director, James L. Barksdale was granted an option to purchase 200,000 shares of the Company's
Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.1125 per share under the Company's 1994 Stock Option Plan. The
Company has recently established a director stock option plan, which provides for automatic grants to non-
employee directors commencing upon the consummation of this offering. See "Stock Plans — 1994 Stock
Option Plan," "— 1995 Directors Option Plan."

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The Company's Compensation Committee was formed in June 1995 to review and approve the
compensation and benefits for the Company's executive officers, administer the Company's stock purchase
and stock option plans and make recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding such matters. The
committee is currently composed of Mr. Doerr and Dr. Warnock. No interlocking relationship exists between
the Company's Board of Directors or Compensation Committee and the board of directors or compensation
committee of any other company, nor has any such interlocking relationship existed in the past.

Employment Agreements

The Company has an employment agreement with James L. Barksdale, the Company's President and
Chief Executive Officer, which is terminable at will by either the Company or Mr. Barksdale. In connection
with such agreement, Mr. Barksdale was granted an option to purchase 4,000,000 shares of the Company's
Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.1125 per share. The options were all immediately exercisable, with
2,000,000 shares vested immediately upon grant and an additional 40,000 shares vesting per month over
50 months. The Company retains the right to repurchase any unvested shares at $0.1125 upon the cessation of
Mr. Barksdale's service for any reason. Upon a change in control of the Company, the Company or its
successor entity shall be obligated to employ Mr. Barksdale until all shares subject to his option have vested in
full.

Limitation on Liability and Indemnification Matters

The Company's Certificate of Incorporation limits the liability of directors to the maximum extent
permitted by Delaware law. Delaware law provides that a corporation's certificate of incorporation may
contain a provision eliminating or limiting the personal liability of a director for monetary damages for breach
of their fiduciary duties as directors, except for liability (i) for any breach of their duty of loyalty to the
corporation or its stockholders, (ii) for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional
misconduct or a knowing violation of law, (iii) for unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stock
repurchases or redemptions as provided in Section 174 of Delaware General Corporation Law or (iv) for any
transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.

The Company's Bylaws provide that the Company shall indemnify its directors and may indemnify its
officers and employees to the fullest extent permitted by law. The Company believes that indemnification
under its Bylaws covers at least negligence and gross negligence on the part of indemnified parties.
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The Company intends to enter into agreements to indemnify its directors and officers, in addition to the
indemnification provided for in the Company's Bylaws. These agreements, among other things, indemnify the
Company's directors and officers for certain expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and
settlement amounts incurred by any such person in any action or proceeding, including any action by or in the
right of the Company, arising out of such person's services as a director or officer of the Company, any
subsidiary of the Company or any other company or enterprise to which the pei-son provides services at the
request of the Company. The Company believes that these provisions and agreements are necessary to attract
and retain qualified directors and officers.

At present, there is no pending litigation or proceeding involving any director, officer, employee or agent
of the Company where indemnification will be required or permitted. The Company is not aware of any
threatened litigation or proceeding that might result in a claim for such indemnification.

Executive Compensation

The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation paid by the Company during the
period from the Company's inception (April 1994) to December 31, 1994 to the Company's Chief Executive
Officer and each of the Company's four other most highly compensated executive officers (collectively, the
"Named Officers");

Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation

Name and Principal Position Salary Bonus

James H. Clark(l) $ 0 $0
Chairman of the Board

James C.J. Sha(2) $69,230 $0
Vice President and General Manager, Integrated

Applications
Marc L. Andreessen(3) $60,000 $0

Vice President, Technology
Conway Rulon-Miller(4) $53,850 $0

Vice President, Sales and Field Operations
Richard M. Schell(5) $49,615 $0

Vice President, Engineering

Compensation
Securities
Underlying

Options

—

—

280,000

—

400,000

All Other
Compensation

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

(1) Mr. Clark served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company from its inception in
April 1994 until December 1994. Mr. Clark did not receive any compensation or stock options in 1994.

(2) Mr. Sha joined the Company in August 1994; his annualized base salary for 1994 was $200,000.

(3) Mr. Andreessen joined the Company in April 1994; his annualized base salary for 1994 was $80,000.

(4) Mr. Rulon-Miller joined the Company in October 1994; his annualized base salary for 1994 was
$225,000.

(5) Mr. Schell joined the Company in October 1994; his annualized base salary for 1994 was $215,000.
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Option Grants During 1994

The following table sets forth, as to the Named Officers, information concerning stock options granted
during the period from inception (April 1994) to December 31, 1994:

ludlfMnal Grants Potential Realizable

Number of Percent of Total AJ2M£!?£L| I
Securities Oottoas Annual Kates of stock
Underlying Craated to / r i r t JSp?£!i!?m

Option* Employees in Exercise Expiration for Option Term (3)
Name Gtanted(l) 1W(1) Price (3) Date (4) 5%($) 10%ffl

James H.Clark — — — — — —
James C.J. Sha — — — — — —
Marc L. Andreessen 280,000 9.6% $0.0375 07/14/04 $ 6,603 $16,734
Conway Rulon-Miller — — — — — —
Richard M. Schell 400,000 13.7% $0.1125 09/14/04 28,300 71,718

(1) These options are incentive stock options granted pursuant to the 1994 Stock Option Plan and have ten
year terms. The options are immediately exercisable; however, the shares purchasable under such options
are subject to repurchase by the Company at the original exercise price paid per share upon the optionee's
cessation of service prior to the vesting of such shares. In this context, "vesting" means that the shares
subject to options are no longer subject to repurchase by the Company. Twenty percent of the options
vest upon completion of 10 months of service with the Company, and the remaining shares vest at the
rate of two percent over the next 40 months of service.

(2) In 1994, the Company granted options to purchase an aggregate of 2,921,203 shares.

(3) In determining the fair market value of the Company's Common Stock, the Board of Directors
considered various factors, including the Company's financial condition snd business prospects, its
operating results, the absence of a market for its Common Stock and the risks normally associated with
high technology companies. The exercise price may be paid in cash, check, promissory note, shares of the
Company's Common Stock, through a cashless exercise procedure invoMng same-day sale of the
purchased shares or any combination of such methods.

(4) Options may terminate before their expiration dates if the optionee's status as an employee or consultant
is terminated or upon the optionee's death.

(5) The 5% and 10% assumed annual rates of compounded stock price appreciation are mandated by rules of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and do not represent the Company's estimate or projection of
the Company's future Common Stock prices.

Aggregate Option Exercises in 1994 and Year-End Option Values

The following table sets forth concerning options exercises and option holdings for the period from
inception (April 1994) to December 31, 1994 with respect to each of the Named Officers:

Name

James H. Clark
James C.J. Sha
Marc L. Andreessen .
Conway Rulon-Miller
Richard M. Schell...

Number of
Shares

Acquired
on

Exercise

Value Realized
(Market Price at

Exercise Less
Exercise Price)

Number of Securities
Underlying Unexerclsed

Options at 12/31/94

Exerdsabie Untx erasable Exercisable Unexerci sable

Value or Unexerdsed
in-tbe-Money Optloas at

12/31/94 (1)

280,000

400,000

0

0

$21,000

0

0

0

(1) Calculated by determining the difference between the fair market value of the securities underlying the
option at December 31, 1994 ($0.1125 per share as determined by the Board of Directors) and the
exercise price of the Named Officer's option. In determining the fair market value of the Company's
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Common Stock, the Board of Directors considered various factors, including the Company's financial
condition and business prospects, its operating results, the absence of a market for its Common Stock and
the risks normally associated with high technology companies.

Stock Plans

1994 Stock Option Plan

The Company's 1994 Stock Option Plan (the "1994 Plan") provides for the grant to employees of
incentive stock options and the grant of nonstatutory stock options to employees and consultants of the
Company. As of May 31, 1995, an aggregate of 8,076,672 shares of Common Stock have been reserved for
issuance under the 1994 Plan, and options to purchase an aggregate of 4,384,800 shares of Common Stock
were outstanding under the 1994 Plan. The Board of Directors has determined that no further options will be
granted under the 1994 Plan after this offering.

1995 Stock Plan

The Company's 1995 Stock Plan (the "1995 Plan") was approved by the Board of Directors in
June 1995. The Plan provides for the granting to employees (including officers and employee directors) of
incentive stock options and for the granting to employees (including officers and employee directors) and
consultants of nonstatutory stock options, stock purchase rights ("SPRs"), and long-term performance
awards. A total of 4,500,000 shares of Common Stock have been reserved for issuance under the 1995 Plan,
which number shall be increased on the first day of each new fiscal year of the Company, beginning in 1997,
by a number of shares equal to four percent of the Company's outstanding Common Stock as of the last
business day of the immediate preceding fiscal year. However, the maximum number of shares of Common
Stock available for issuance pursuant to incentive stock option grants under the 1995 Plan is 4,500,000.

The 1995 Plan may be administered by the Board of Directors or a committee designated by the Board
(the "Committee"). Options, SPRs, and long-term performance awards granted under the 1995 Plan are not
generally transferable by the optionee except by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, and are
exercisable during the lifetime of the optionee only by such optionee. Options granted under the 1995 Plan
must be exercised within three months of the end of optionee's status as an employee or consultant of the
Company, or within twelve months after such optionee's termination by death oi disability, but in no event
later than the expiration of the option term. The exercise price of all incentive and nonstatutory stock options
granted under the 1995 Plan shall be determined by the Committee. With respect to any participant who owns
stock possessing more than ten percent of the voting power of all classes of the Company's outstanding capital
stock (a "10% Stockholder"), the exercise price of any incentive stock option granted must equal at least
110% of the fair market value on the grant date. The exercise price of incentive stock options for all other
employees shall be no less than 100% of the fair market value per share on the date of the grant. The
maximum term of an option granted under the 1995 Plan may not exceed ten years from the date of grant
(five years in the case of an incentive stock option granted to a 10% Stockholder). In the case of SPRs, unless
the Committee determines otherwise, the Company shall have a repurchase option exercisable upon the
voluntary or involuntary termination of the purchaser's employment with the Company for any reason
(including death or disability). Such repurchase option lapses at a rate determined by the Committee. The
purchase price for shares repurchased by the Company shall be the original price paid by the purchaser and
may be paid by cancellation of any indebtedness of the purchaser to the Company. The repurchase option
shall lapse at a rate determined by the Committee. Long-term performance awards are cash or stock bonus
awards, and may be granted alone or in conjunction with other awards under the 1995 Plan.

1995 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company's 1995 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "1995 Purchase Plan") was adopted by the
Board of Directors in June 1995. The Company has reserved a total of 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock for
issuance under the 1995 Purchase Plan. The 1995 Purchase Plan, which is intended to qualify under
Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, permits eligible employees of the Company to
purchase Common Stock through payroll deductions of up to ten percent of their compensation (including
commissions, overtime, shift premium, and bonuses), up to a maximum of $21,250 for all purchase periods
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ending within any calendar year. The price of Common Stock purchased under the 1995 Purchase Plan will be
85% of the lower of the fair market value of the Common Stock on the first or last day of each six month
purchase period. Employees may end their participation in the 1995 Purchase Plan at any time during an
offering period, and they will be paid their payroll deductions to date. Participation ends automatically upon
termination of employment with the Company. Rights granted under the 1995 Purchase Plan are not
transferable by a participant other than by will, the laws of descent and distribution, or as otherwise provided
under the plan. The 1995 Purchase Plan will be implemented by an initial offering period of approximately
23 months commencing on the first trading day on or after the effective date of this offering and ending on the
last trading day in the period ending July 31, 1997. Subsequent offering periods will last 24 months and will
commence on the first trading day on or after February 1 and August 1 of each year during which the 1995
Purchase Plan is in effect, and will terminate on the last trading day in the periods ending 24 months later.
Each 24-month offering period will consist of four purchase periods of approximately six months duration. The
1995 Purchase Plan will be administered by the Board of Directors or by a committee appointed by the Board.
Employees are eligible to participate if they are customarily employed by the Company or any designated
subsidiary for at least 20 hours per week and for more than five months in any calendar year.

1995 Directors Option Plan

Non-employee directors are entitled to participate in the 1995 Director Option Plan (the "1995 Director
Plan"). The Director Plan was adopted by the Board of Directors in June 1995 but shall not become effective
until the effective date of this offering. A total of 100,000 shares of Common Stock have been reserved for
issuance under the Director Plan.

The Director Plan provides for an automatic grant of an option to purchase 8,000 shares of Common
Stock (the "First Option") to each non-employee director on the date on which the Director Plan becomes
effective or, if later, on the date on which the person first becomes a non-emplo)ee director. After the First
Option is granted to the non-employee director, he or she shall automatically be granted an option to purchase
2,000 shares (a "Subsequent Option") on January 1 of each subsequent year provided he or she is then a non-
employee director and, provided further, that on such date he or she has served on the Board for at least
six months. First Options and each Subsequent Option shall have a term of ten years. Twenty percent of the
shares subject to the First Option shall vest on the date ten months after the (rant of the option, and an
additional two percent of the shares subject to the First Option shall become exercisable each month
thereafter, provided that the optionee continues to serve as a director on such dates. One twenty-fourth of the
shares subject to a Subsequent Option shall become exercisable at the end of each month after the option
grant, provided that the optionee continues to serve as a director on such dates. The exercise prices of the First
Option and each Subsequent Option shall be 100% of the fair market value per share of the Company's
Common Stock on the date of the grant of the option.
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CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS

Since the inception of the Company in April 1994, the Company has issued, in private placement
transactions, shares of Preferred Stock, as follows: 4,151,000 shares of Scries A Preferred Stock at $0.75 per
share; 2,857,222 shares of Series B Preferred Stock at $2.25 per share and 2,000,000 shares of Series C
Preferred Stock at $9.00 per share. All of such Preferred Stock will convert into an aggregate of 18,016,444
shares of Common Stock upon the closing of this offering. The holders of such converted shares of Common
Stock are entitled to certain registration rights with respect to the Common Stock issued or issuable upon
conversion thereof. See "Description of Capital Stock — Registration Rights." The following table summa-
rizes the shares of Preferred Stock purchased by the Company's directors, executive officers, five percent
stockholders and their respective affiliates as of May 31, 1995:

Series A Series B Series C
Preferred Preferred Preferred

Inestor Stock Slock Stock

James H. Clark 4,000,000 500,000
James C.J. Sha 25,000 75,000
Entities affiliated with Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers(l) 2,200,000
Adobe Systems Incorporated (2) 444,445

(1) Includes 1,881,000 shares, 209,000 shares and 110,000 shares held by Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers
VII, KPCB VII Founders Fund and KPCB Info Zaibatsu II, respectively. L. John Doerr is a general
partner of KPCB VII Associates, which is a general partner of Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers VII,
KPCB VII Founders Fund and KPCB Info Zaibatsu II. Mr. Doerr serves es the representative of the
Series B Preferred Stock holders on the Board of Directors pursuant to the Company's Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation. Mr. Doerr disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares except for
his proportional interest therein.

(2) All shares are held by Adobe. Dr. Warnock was a founder of Adobe and currently serves as its President
and Chief Executive Officer and as a director. Dr. Wamock also serves as the representative of the
Series C Preferred Stock holders on the Board of Directors of the Company pursuant to the Company's
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. Dr. Wamock may therefore be deemed to share
voting and investment power with respect to such shares.

In May 1994, James H. Clark and Marc L. Andreessen, executive officers and directors of the Company,
each purchased 720,000 shares of Common Stock at $0.0005 per share (the then fair market value of the
Common Stock as determined by the Company's Board of Directors). The Company issued a total of
3,350,000 shares of Common Stock in this financing. In August 1994, James C.J. Sha, an executive officer of
the Company, purchased 400,000 shares of Common Stock at SO.O375 per share (the then fair market value of
the Common Stock as determined by the Company's Board of Directors). The Company has also agreed to
make a loan in the amount of $200,000 to Dr. Schell to assist in his relocation to the San Francisco Bay Area
and purchase of a home. Such loan may be forgiven by the Company when Dr. ScheU's options have vested in
full.

In January 1995, the Company entered into an employment agreement with James L. Barksdale. See
"Management — Employment Agreements." The Company intends to enter into indemnification agreements
with each of its executive officers and directors prior to the closing of this offering.

The Company believes that all of the transactions set forth above were made on terms no less favorable to
the Company then could have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties. All future transactions, including
loans, between the Company and its officers, directors and principal stockholders and their affiliates will be
approved by a majority of the Board of Directors, including a majority of the independent and disinterested
outside directors of the Board of Directors, and will be on terms no less favorable to the Company than could
be obtained from unaffiliated third parties.
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PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS
The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the beneficial ownership of the Common Stock as of

May 31, 1995 and as adjusted to reflect the sale of Common Stock offered hereby for (t) each person or entity who is
known by the Company to beneficially own more than 1.5% of the Common Stock, (ii) each of the Company's directors,
(iii) each of the Named Officers, and (iv) all directors and executive officers of the Company as a group:

Percentage of Shares
Shares BcMfidally

Beneficially Owwd(l)
O M * O > Before After

Name or Croup of Beaefldtl Owaers Number Offering Offering

James H. Clark(2) 9,720,000 36.0% 31.9%
c/o Netscape Communications Corporation
501 East Middlefield Road
Mountain View, CA 94043

James L. Barksdale(3) 4,200,000 15.6 13.8
c/o Netscape Communications Corporation
501 East Middlefield Road
Mountain View, CA 94043

L. John Doerr(4) 4,400,000 16.3 14.4
Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers
4 Embarcadero Center, Suite 3520
San Francisco, CA 94111

Mare L. Andreessen (5) 1,000,000 3.7 3.2
John E. Wamock(6) 888,890 3.3 2.9
Adobe Systems Incorporated (6) 888,890 3.3 2.9
TCI Netscape Holdings, Inc 888,890 3.3 2.9
The Times Mirror Company 888,890 3.3 2.9
James C.J. Sha(7) 600,000 2.2 2.0
Knight-Ridder Investment Company 444,446 1.6 1.5
The Hearst Corporation 444.446 1.6 1.5
IDG Holdings, Inc 444,438 1.6 1.5
Conway Rulon-Miller(8) 400,000 1.5 1.3
Richard M. Schell(9) 400,000 1.5 1.3
All directors and executive officers as a group (12 persons)(10) 22,708,890 77.8 69.5

* Less than )%.
(1) Assumes no exercise of the Underwriters' over-allotment option. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the Securities

and Exchange Commission. In computing the number of shares beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership or that person,
shares of Common Stock subject to options or warrants held by that person that are currently exercisabk or exercissible within 60 days of May 31,
1995 are deemed outstanding. Such shares, however, are not deemed outstanding for the purposes of computing the percentage ownership of each
other person. Except as indicated in the footnotes to this table and pursuant to applicable community property Taws, the stockholder named in the
table has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares set forth opposite such stockholder's name.

(2) Includes 532.800 shares subject to a repurchase right of the Company upon cessation of his service to the Company. Such repurchase right lapses
at a rate of two percent per month.

(3) Includes 2,040,000 shares subject to a repurchase right of the Company upon cessation of his service to the Company. Such repurchase right
lapses at a rate of two percent per month.

(4) Includes 3,762,000 shares, 418.000 (hares and 220,000 shares held by Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers VII, KPCB VII Founders Fund and
KPCB Info Zaibatsu 11, respectively. Mr. Doerr is a general partner of KPCB VII Associates, which is a general partner of both Kleiner Perkins
Caufield & Byers VII, KPCB VII Founders Fund ana KPCB Info Zaibatsu 11. Mr. Doerr disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares except for
his proportional interest therein.

(5) Includes 280,000 shares issuable upon a currently exercisable option, of which 207,200 shares are subject to a repurchase right of the Company
upon cessation of his service to the Company. Also includes 532,800 shares subject to a repurchase right of the Company upon cessation of his
service to the Company. Such repurchase rights lapse at a rate of two percent per month.

(6) All such shares arc held by Adobe. Dr. Wamock was a founder of Adobe and currently serves as its President and Chief Executive Officer and as a
director. Dr. Wamock also serves as the representative of the Series C Preferred Stock holders on the Board of Directors of the Company pursuant
to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. Dr. Wamock may therefore be deemed to share voting and investment
power with respect to such shares.

(7) Includes 400,000 shares subject to a repurchase right of the Company upon cessation of his service to the Company. Such repurchase right lapses
u to 20% of the shares on June 29, 1995 and at a rate of two percent per month thereafter.

(8) Includes 400,000 shares issuable upon a currently exercisable option, all of which are subject to a repurchase right of the Company upon cessation
of his service to the Company. Such repurchase right lapses as to 20% of the (hares on September 14, 1995 and at a rate of 2% per month
thereafter.

(9) Includes 400,000 shares issuable upon a currently exercisable option, all of which are subject to a repurchase right of the Company upon cessation
of his service to the Company. Such repurchase right lapses as to 20% of the shares on August 12,1995 and at a rate of 2% per month thereafter.

(10) Includes (i) an aggregate of 2,180,000 shares issuable upon currently exercisable options, (ii) an aggregage of 4,984,000 shares subject to certain
repurchase rights of the Company upon cessation of the individual's service to the Company, whicn repurchase rights generally lapse at a rate of
two percent per month, and (iii) 5,288,890 shares owned by entities associated with Messrs. Doerr and Wamock.
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 100,000,000 shares of Common Stock, $0.0001
par value, and 5,000,000 shares of undesignated Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value.

The following summary of certain provisions of the Common Stock and Preferred Stock does not purport
to be complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by, the provisions of the Company's Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation which is included as an exhibit to the Registration Statement of which
this Prospectus is a part and by the provisions of applicable law.

Common Stock

As of May 31,1995, there were 27,002,244 shares of Common Stock outstanding that were held of record
by approximately 69 stockholders. There will be 30,502,244 shares of Common Stock outstanding (assuming
no exercise of the Underwriters' over-allotment option and no exercise of outstanding options) after giving
effect to the sale of Common Stock offered to the public hereby.

The holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters
submitted to a vote of stockholders. Subject to preferences that may be applicable to any outstanding shares of
Preferred Stock, the holders of Common Stock are entitled to receive ratably such dividends, if any, as may be
declared by the Board of Directors out of funds legally available for the payment of dividends. See "Dividend
Policy." In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the holders of Common
Stock are entitled to share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of liabilities and liquidation
preferences of any outstanding shares of Preferred Stock. Holders of Common Stock have no preemptive
rights or rights to convert their Common Stock into any other securities. There aie no redemption or sinking
fund provisions applicable to the Common Stock. All outstanding shares of Common Stock are fully paid and
non-assessable, and the shares of Common Stock to be issued upon completion of this offering will be fully
paid and non-assessable.

Preferred Stock

Pursuant to the Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the Board of Directors
has the authority, without further action by the stockholders, to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock
in one or more series and to fix the designations, powers, preferences, privileges, and relative participating,
optional or special rights and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including dividend rights,
conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption and liquidation preferences, any or all of which may be
greater than the rights of the Common Stock. The Board of Directors, without stockholder approval, can issue
Preferred Stock with voting, conversion or other rights that could adversely affect the voting power and other
rights of the holders of Common Stock. Preferred Stock could thus be issued quickly with terms calculated to
delay or prevent a change in control of the Company or make removal of management more difficult.
Additionally, the issuance of Preferred Stock may have the effect of decreasing the market price of the
Common Stock, and may adversely affect the voting and other rights of the holders of Common Stock. At
present, there are no shares of Preferred Stock outstanding and the Company has no plans to issue any of the
Preferred Stock.

Antitakeover Effects of Provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and Delaware Law

Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

Upon the initial sale of the Common Stock offered hereby, the Company's Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation will provide that the Company's Board of Directors be staggered into three classes
of directors. See "Management — Executive Officers and Directors." It will also provide that all stockholder
action must be effected at a duly called meeting of stockholders and not by a consent in writing. In addition,
the Company's Amended and Restated Bylaws will not permit stockholders of the Company to call a special
meeting of stockholders; only the Company's Chief Executive Officer or a majority of the members of the
Company's Board of Directors may call a special meeting of stockholders. These provisions of the Amended
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and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws could discourage potential
acquisition proposals and could delay or prevent a change in control of the Company. Such provisions also may
have the effect of preventing changes in the management of the Company. See "Risk Factors — Effect of
Certain Charter Provisions; Antitakeover Effects of Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws and Delaware Law."

Delaware Takeover Statute

The Company is subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law ("Section 203")
which, subject to certain exceptions, prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any business
combination with any interested stockholder for a period of three years following the date that such
stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless: (i) prior to such date, the board of directors of the
corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the stockholder
becoming an interested stockholder, (ii) upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the
stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting
stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of
determining the number of shares outstanding those shares owned (x) by persons who are directors and also
officers and (y) by employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine
confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or (iii) on
or subsequent to such date, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized at
an annual or special meeting of stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least
6636% of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Section 203 defines business combination to include; (i) any merger or consolidation involving the
corporation and the interested stockholder; (ii) any sale, transfer, pledge or other disposition involving the
interested stockholder of 10% or more of the assets of the corporation; (iii) subject to certain exceptions, any
transaction which results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of any stock of the corporation to the
interested stockholder, (iv) any transaction involving the corporation which has the effect of increasing the
proportionate share of the stock of any class or series of the corporation beneficially owned by the interested
stockholder; or (v) the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees,
pledges or other financial benefits provided by or through the corporation. In general. Section 203 defines an
interested stockholder as any entity or person beneficially owning 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock
of the corporation and any entity or person affiliated with or controlling or controlled by such entity or person.

Registration Rights

Pursuant to an agreement between the Company and the holders (the "Holders") of approximately
18,016,444 shares of Common Stock (the "Registrable Securities"), the Holders are entitled to certain rights
with respect to the registration of such shares under the Securities Act. If the Company proposes to register
any of its securities under the Securities Act, either for its own account or for the account of other security
Holders, exercising registration rights, such Holders are entitled to notice of such registration and are entitled
to include shares of such Common Stock therein. Additionally, Holders of the Registrable Securities are also
entitled to certain demand registration rights pursuant to which they may require the Company to file a
registration statement under the Securities Act at the Company's expense with respect to their shares of
Common Stock, and the Company is required to use its best efforts to effect such registration. Further, the
holders of such demand rights may require the Company to file additional registration statements on Form S-3
at the Company's expense. All of these registration rights are subject to certain conditions and limitations,
among them the right of the underwriters of an offering to limit the number of shares included in such
registration and the right of the Company not to effect a requested registration wilhin nine months following
an offering of the Company's securities, including the offering made hereby.
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

Prior to this offering, there has been no market for the Common Stock of the Company. Future sales of
substantial amounts of Common Stock in the public market could adversely affect market prices prevailing
from time to time. Furthermore, since only a limited number of shares will be available for sale shortly after
this offering because of certain contractual and legal restrictions on resale (as described below), sales of
substantial amounts of Common Stock of the Company in the public market after the restrictions lapse could
adversely affect the prevailing market price and the ability of the Company to raise equity capital in the future.

Upon completion of this offering, the Company will have outstanding an aggregate of 30,502,244 shares
of Common Stock, assuming no exercise of the Underwriters' over-allotment option and no exercise of
outstanding options. Of these shares, the 3,500,000 shares sold in this offering will be freely tradeable without
restriction or further registration under the Securities Act, unless such shares are purchased by "affiliates" of
the Company as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act (the "Affiliates"). The remaining
27,002,244 shares of Common Stock held by existing stockholders are "restricted securities" as that term is
defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act ("Restricted Shares"). Restricted Shares may be sold in the
public market only if registered or if they qualify for an exemption from registration under Rules 144, 144(k)
or 701 promulgated under the Securities Act, which rules are summarized below. As a result of the
contractual restrictions described below and the provisions of Rules 144, 144 (k) and 701, additional shares
will be available for sale in the public market as follows: (i) no shares will be eligible for immediate sale on the
date of this Prospectus, (u) 5,276,800 shares will be eligible for sale upon expiration of the lock-up agreements
180 days after the date of this Prospectus and (iii) 21,725,444 shares will be eligible for sale upon expiration of
their respective two-year holding periods.

Upon completion of this offering, the holders of 18,016,444 shares of Common Stock, or their transferees,
will be entitled to certain rights with respect to the registration of such shares under the Securities Act. See
"Description of Capital Stock — Registration Rights." Registration of such shares under the Securities Act
would result in such shares becoming freely tradeable without restriction under the Securities Act (except for
shares purchased by Affiliates) immediately upon the effectiveness of such registration.

All officers, directors, stockholders and option holders of the Company have agreed not to sell, make any
short sale of, grant any option for the purchase of, or otherwise transfer or dispose of, any shares of Common
Stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for Common Stock for a period of
180 days after the date of this Prospectus, without the prior written consent of Morgan Stanley & Co.
Incorporated. Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated currently has no plans to release any portion of the
securities subject to lock-up agreements. When determining whether or not to release shares from the lock-up
agreements, Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated will consider, among other factors, the stockholder's reasons
for requesting the release, the number of shares for which the release is being requested and market conditions
at the time.

In general, under Rule 144 as currently in effect, beginning 90 days after the; date of this Prospectus, a
person (or persons whose shares are aggregated) who has beneficially owned Restricted Shares for at least two
years (including the holding period of any prior owner except an affiliate) would be entitled to sell within any
three-month period a number of shares that does not exceed the greater of: (i) one percent of the number of
shares of Common Stock then outstanding (which will equal approximately 305,022 shares immediately after
this offering); or (ii) the average weekly trading volume of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq National
Market during the four calendar weeks preceding the riling of a notice on Form 144 with respect to such sale.
Sales under Rule 144 are also subject to certain manner of sale provisions and notice requirements and to the
availability of current public information about the Company. Under Rule 144(k), a person who is not
deemed to have been an affiliate of the Company at any time during the 90 days preceding a sale, and who has
beneficially owned the shares proposed to be sold for at least three years (including the holding period of any
prior owner except an affiliate), is entitled to sell such shares without complying with the manner of sale,
public information, volume limitation or notice provisions of Rule 144; therefore, unless otherwise restricted,
"144(k) shares" may therefore be sold immediately upon the completion of this offering. In general, under
Rule 701 of the Securities Act as currently in effect, any employee, consultant or advisor of the Company who

51



purchases shares from the Company in connection with a compensatory stock or option plan or other written
agreement is eligible to resell such shares 90 days after the effective date of this offering in reliance on
Rule 144, but without compliance with certain restrictions, including the holding period, contained in
Rule 144.

The Company intends to file a registration statement under the Securities Act covering shares of
Common Stock reserved for issuance under the Company's 1994 Plan, 1995 Plan, Director Plan and 1995
Purchase Plan. Based on the number of options outstanding and options and shares reserved for issuance at
May 31,1995 under all such plans, such registration statement would cover approximately 11,795,872 shares.
See "Management — Stock Plans." Such registration statement is expected to be filed and become effective
as soon as practicable after the effective date of this offering. Accordingly, shares registered under such
registration statement will, subject to Rule 144 volume limitations applicable to affiliates, be available for sale
in the open market, unless such shares art subject to vesting restrictions with the Company or the lock-up
agreements described above. As of May 31, 1995, options to purchase 4,384,800 shares of Common Stock
were issued and outstanding under the 1994 Plan, and no options to purchase shares had been granted under
the Company's 1995 Plan, Director Plan, and 1995 Purchase Plan. Sec "Management— Director Compen-
sation" and "— Stock Plans."
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CERTAIN UNITED STATES FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS
FOR NON-U.S. HOLDERS OF COMMON STOCK

The following discussion concerns the material United States federal income and estate tax consequences
of the ownership and disposition of shares of Common Stock applicable to Non-U.S. Holders of such shares of
Common Stock. In general, a "Non-U.S. Holder" is any holder other than (i) a citizen or resident of the
United States, (ii) a corporation or partnership created or organized in the United States or under the laws of
the United States or any State or (iii) an estate or trust whose income is includiblt; in gross income for United
States federal income tax purposes regardless of its source. The discussion is based on current law, which is
subject to change retroactively or prospectively, and is for general information only. The discussion does not
address all aspects of federal income and estate taxation and does not address any aspects of state, local or
foreign tax laws. The discussion does not consider any specific facts or circumstances that may apply to a
particular Non-U.S. Holder (including the fact that in the case of a Non-U.S. Holder that is a partnership,
the United States tax consequences of holding and disposing of shares of Common Stock may be affected by
certain determinations made at the partner level). Accordingly, prospective investors are urged to consult their
tax advisors regarding the United States federal, state, local and non-U.S. income and other tax consequences
of holding and disposing of shares of Common Stock.

Dividends. Dividends, if any (see "Dividend Policy"), paid to a Non-U.S. Holder generally will be
subject to United States withholding tax at a 30% rate (or a lower rate as may be prescribed by an applicable
tax treaty) unless the dividends are effectively connected with a trade or business of the Non-U.S. Holder
within the United States. Dividends effectively connected with a trade or business will generally not be subject
to withholding (if the Non-U.S. Holder properly files an executed United States Internal Revenue Service
("IRS") Form 4224 with the payor of the dividend) and generally will be subject to United States federal
income tax on a net income basis at regular graduated rates. In the case of a Non-U.S. Holder which is a
corporation, such effectively connected income also may be subject to the branch profits tax (which is
generally imposed on a foreign corporation on the repatriation from the United States of effectively connected
earnings and profits). The branch profits tax may not apply if the recipient is a qualified resident of certain
countries with which the United States has an income tax treaty. To determine the applicability of a tax treaty
providing for a lower rate of withholding, dividends paid to a stockholder's address of record in a foreign
country are presumed, under the current IRS position, to be paid to a resident of that country, unless the payor
has knowledge that such presumption is not warranted or an applicable tax treaty (or United States Treasury
Regulations thereunder) requires some other method for determining a Noh-U.S. Holder's residence.
However, under proposed U.S. Treasury regulations, which have not yet been put info effect, to claim the
benefits of a tax treaty, a Non-U.S. Holder of Common Stock would be required to file certain forms
accompanied by a statement from a competent authority of the treaty country.

Sale of Common Stock. Generally, a Non-U.S. Holder will not be subject to United States federal
income tax on any gain realized upon the disposition of such holder's shares of Common Stock unless (i) the
gain is effectively connected with a trade or business carried on by the Non-U.S. Holder with the United
States (in which case the branch profits tax may apply); (ii) the Non-U.S. Holder is an individual who holds
the shares of Common Stock as a capital asset and is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the
taxable year of the disposition and to whom such gain is United States source; (iii) the Non-U.S. Holder is
subject to tax pursuant to the provisions of U.S. tax law applicable to certain former United States citizens or
residents; or (iv) the Company is or has been a "U.S. real property holding corporation" for federal income
tax purposes (which the Company does not believe that it is or is likely to become) at any time during the five
year period ending on the date of disposition (or such shorter period that such shares were held) and, subject
to certain exceptions, the Non-U.S. Holder held, directly or indirectly, more than 5% of the Common Stock.

Estate Tax. Shares of Common Stock owned or treated as owned by an individual who is not a citizen or
resident (as specifically defined for United States federal estate tax purposes) of the United States at the time
of death will be includible in the individual's gross estate for United States federal estate tax purposes, unless
an applicable tax treaty provides otherwise, and may be subject to United States federal estate tax.
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Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Dividends. The Company must report annually to the IRS and to each Non-U.S. Holder the amount of
dividends paid to and the tax withheld, if any, with respect to such holder. These information reporting
requirements apply regardless of whether withholding was reduced by an applicable tax treaty. Copies of these
information returns may also be available under the provisions of a specific treaty or agreement with the tax
authorities in the country in which the Non-U.S. Holder resides. Dividends that are subject to United States
withholding tax at the 30% statutory rate or at a reduced tax treaty rate and dividends that are effectively
connected with the conduct of a trade or business in the Untied States (if certain certification and disclosure
requirements are met) are exempt from backup withholding of U.S. federal income tax. In general, backup
withholding at a rate of 31% and information reporting will apply to other dividends paid on shares of Common
Stock to holders that are not "exempt recipients" and fail to provide in the manner required certain identifying
information (such as the holder's name, address and taxpayer identification number). Generally, individuals
are not exempt recipients, whereas corporations and certain other entities generally are exempt recipients.

Disposition of Common Stock. The payment of the proceeds from the disposition of shares of Common
Stock through the United States office of a broker will be subject to information reporting and backup
withholding unless the holder, under penalties of perjury, certifies, among other things, its status as a Non-
U.S. Holder, or otherwise establishes an exemption. Generally, the payment of the proceeds from the
disposition of shares of Common Stock to or through a non-U.S. office of a bioker will not be subject to
backup withholding and will not be subject to information reporting. In the case of tbe payment of proceeds
from the disposition of shares of Common Stock through a non-U.S. office of a broker that is a U.S. person or
a "U.S.-related person," existing regulations require information reporting (but not backup withholding) on
the payment unless the broker receives a statement from the owner, signed under penalties of perjury,
certifying, among other things, its status as a Non-U.S. Holder, or the broker has documentary evidence in its
files that the owner is a Non-U.S. Holder and the broker has no actual knowledge to the contrary. For tax
purpose, a "U.S.-related person" is (i) a "controlled foreign corporation" for United States federal income tax
purposes of (ii) a foreign person 50% or more of whose gross income from all sources for the three year period
ending with the close of its taxable year preceding the payment (or for such part of the period that the broker
has been in existence) is derived form activities that are effectively connected with the conduct of a United
States trade or business.

Any amounts withheld from a payment to a Non-U.S. Holder under the backup withholding rules will be
allowed as a credit against such holder's United States federal income tax liability and may entitle such holder
to a refund, provided that the required information is furnished to the IRS. Non-U.S Holders should consult
their tax advisors regarding the application of these rules to their particular situations, the availability of an
exemption therefrom and the procedures for obtaining such an exemption, if available.
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UNDERWRITERS

Under the terms and subject to conditions contained in an Underwriting Agreement dated the date
hereof, the U.S. Underwriters named below, for whom Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated and Hambrecht &
Quist LLC are serving as U.S. Representatives, have severally agreed to purchase, and the Company has
agreed to sell 3,000,000 shares of the Company's Conunon Stock, and the International Underwriters named
below, for whom Morgan Stanley & Co. International Limited and Hambrecht & Quist LLC are serving as
International Representatives (collectively with the U.S. Representatives, the "Representatives"), have
severally agreed to purchase, and tbe Company has agreed to sell 500,000 shares of the Company's Common
Stock, which in the aggregate equals the number of shares set forth opposite the name of such Underwriters
below.

Number
N»me of Shares

U.S. Underwriters:
Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated
Hambrecht & Quist LLC

Subtotal 3,000,000

International Underwriters:
Morgan Stanley & Co. International Limited
Hambrecht & Quist LLC

Subtotal 500,000

Total 3,500,000

The U.S. Underwriters and the International Underwriters are collectively referred to as the "Underwrit-
ers." The Underwriting Agreement provides that the obligations of the several Underwriters to pay for and
accept delivery of the shares of Common Stock offered hereby are subject to the approval of certain legal
matters by counsel and to certain other conditions, including the conditions that no stop order suspending the
effectiveness of tbe Registration Statement is in effect and no proceedings for such purpose are pending before
or threatened by the Securities and Exchange Commission and that there has been no material adverse change
or any development involving a prospective material adverse change in the business, financial condition or
results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, from that set forth in the
Registration Statement. The Underwriters are obligated to take and pay for all of the shares of Common Stock
offered hereby (other than those covered by the over-allotment option described below) if any are taken.

Pursuant to the Agreement Between U.S. and International Underwriters, each U.S. Underwriter has
represented and agreed that, with certain exceptions set forth below, (a) it is not purchasing any U.S. Shares
(as defined below) for the account of anyone other than a United States or Canadian Person (as defined
below) and (b) it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, any U.S. Shares or
distribute this Prospectus outside the United States or Canada or to anyone other than a United States or
Canadian Person. Pursuant to the Agreement Between U.S. and International Underwriters, each Interna-
tional Underwriter has represented and agreed that, with certain exceptions set forth below, (a) it is not
purchasing any International Shares (as defined below) for the account of any United States or Canadian
Person and (b) it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, any International
Shares or distribute this Prospectus within the United States or Canada or to any United States or Canadian
Person. The foregoing limitations do not apply to stabilization transactions or to certain other transactions
specified in the Agreement Between U.S. and International Underwriters. With respect to Hambrecht &
Quist LLC, the foregoing representations or agreements (i) made by it in its capacity as a U.S. Underwriter
shall apply only to shares of Common Stock purchased by it in its capacity as a U.S. Underwriter, (ii) made
by it in its capacity as an International Underwriter shall apply only to shares of Common Stock purchased by
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it in its capacity as an International Underwriter and (iii) shall not restrict iis ability to distribute this
Prospectus to any person. As used herein, "United States or Canadian Person" means any national or resident
of the United States or Canada or any corporation, pension, profit-sharing or other trust or other entity
organized under the laws of the United States or Canada or of any political subdhision thereof (other than a
branch located outside of the United States and Canada of any United States or Canadian Person) and
includes any United States or Canadian branch of a person who is not otherwise a United States or Canadian
Person, and "United States" means the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction. All shares of Common Stock to be offered by the U.S. Underwriters and
International Underwriters under the Underwriting Agreement are referred to herein as the "U.S. Shares" and
the "International Shares," respectively.

Pursuant to the Agreement Between U.S. and International Underwriters, sales may be made between
the U.S. Underwriters and the International Underwriters of any number of shares of Common Stock to be
purchased pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement as may be mutually agreed. The per share price and
currency settlement of any shares of Common Stock so sold shall be the public offering price set forth on the
cover page hereof, in United States dollars, less an amount not greater than the per share amount of the
concession to dealers set forth below.

Pursuant to the Agreement Between U.S. and International Underwriters, each U.S. Underwriter has
represented that it has not offered or sold, and has agreed not to offer or sell, any shares of Common Stock,
directly or indirectly, in Canada in contravention of the securities laws of Canada or any province or territory
thereof and has represented that any offer of such shares in Canada will be made only pursuant to an
exemption from the requirement to file a prospectus in the province or territory of Canada in which such offer
is made. Each U.S. Underwriter has further agreed to send to any dealer who purchases from it any shares of
Common Stock a notice stating in substance that, by purchasing such shares, such dealer represents and
agrees that it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, any of such shares in
Canada in contravention of the securities laws of Canada or any province or territory thereof and that any offer
of shares of Common Stock in Canada will be made only pursuant to an exemption from the requirement to
file a prospectus in the province or territory of Canada in which such offer is made, and that such dealer will
deliver to any other dealer to whom it sells any of such shares a notice to the foiegoing effect.

Pursuant to the Agreement Between U.S. and International Underwriters, each International Under-
writer has represented that (i) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any shares of Common Stock
in the United Kingdom by means of any document (other than to persons whose ordinary business it is to buy
and sell securities or debentures, whether as principal or agent, or in circumstances that do not constitute an
offer to the public within the meaning of the Companies Act 1985), (ii) it has complied and will comply with
all applicable provisions of the Financial Services Act 1986 with respect to anything done by it in relation to
such shares in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom, and (iii) it has only issued or passed on and
will only issue or pass on in the United Kingdom any document received by it in connection with the issue of
such shares, other than any document which consists of or of part of listing particulars, supplementary listing
particulars or any other document required or permitted to be published by listing rules under Part IV of the
Financial Services Act 1986, to any person of a kind described in Article 9(3) of the Financial Services Act
1986 (Investment Advertisements) (Exemptions) Order 1988, or to any person to whom the document may
otherwise lawfully be issued or passed on.

Pursuant to the Agreement Between U.S. and International Underwriters, each International Under-
writer has represented and agreed that it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly,
in Japan or to or for the account of any resident thereof, any shares of Common Stock acquired in connection
with this offering, except for offers or sales to Japanese International Underwriters or dealers and except
pursuant to any exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities and Exchange Law of Japan.
Each International Underwriter has further agreed to send to any dealer who purchases from it any of such
shares of Common Stock a notice stating in substance that such dealer may not offer or sell any of such shares,
directly or indirectly, in Japan or to or for the account of any resident thereof, except pursuant to any
exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities and Exchange Law of Japan, and that such
dealer will send to any other dealer to whom it sells any of such shares a notice to the foregoing effect.
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The Underwriters propose to offer part of the shares of Common Stock offered hereby directly to the
public at the public offering price set forth on the cover page hereof and part to certain dealers at a price which
represents a concession not in excess of $ per share under the public offering price. The Underwriters
may allow, and such dealers may re-allow, a concession not in excess of $ per share to other
Underwriters or to certain other dealers.

Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Company has granted to the U.S. Underwriters an option,
exercisable for 30 days from the date of this Prospectus, to purchase up to an additional 525,000 shares of
Common Stock at the public offering price set forth on the cover page hereof, less underwriting discounts and
commissions. The U.S. Underwriters may exercise such option to purchase solely for the purpose of covering
over-allotments, if any, incurred in the sale of the shares of Common Stock offered hereby. To the extent such
option is exercised, each U.S. Underwriter will become obligated, subject to ceitain conditions, to purchase
approximately the same percentage of such additional shares as the number set forth next to such U.S.
Underwriters1 name in the preceding table bears to the total number of shares of Common Stock offered
hereby to the U.S. Underwriters.

The Representatives have informed the Company that the Underwriters do not intend to confirm sales to
accounts over which they exercise discretionary authority.

The Company and the Underwriters have agreed to indemnify each other against certain liabilities,
including liabilities under the Securities Act.

See "Shares Eligible for Future Sale" for a description of certain arrangements by which all officers,
directors, stockholders and option holders of the Company have agreed not to sell or otherwise dispose of
Common Stock or convertible securities of tbe Company for up to 180 days after the date of this Prospectus
without the prior consent of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated. The Company has agreed in the
Underwriting Agreement that it will not, without the prior written consent of Morgan Stanley & Co.
Incorporated, offer, sell, contract to sell or otherwise dispose of any shares of Common Stock or any securities
convertible into or exchangeable for Common Stock for a period of 180 days aftei the date of this Prospectus,
except under certain circumstances.

The Company and the Underwriters have agreed to indemnify each other against certain liabilities,
including liabilities under the Securities Act.

Pricing of tbe Offering

Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for the Company's Common Stock. The initial
public offering price will be determined by negotiation between the Company and the Representatives. Among
the factors to be considered in determining the initial public offering price will be the future prospects of the
Company and its industry in general, sales, earnings and certain other financial and operating information of
the Company in recent periods, and the price-earnings ratios, price-sales ratios, market prices of securities and
certain financial and operating information of companies engaged in activities similar to those of the
Company. The estimated initial public offering price range set forth on the cover page of this Preliminary
Prospectus is subject to change as a result of market conditions and other factors.
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LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters with respect to the legality of the issuance of the shares of Common Stock offered
hereby will be passed upon for the Company by Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation,
650 Page Mill Road, Palo Alto, California 94304. Certain legal matters in connection with this offering will be
passed upon for the Underwriters by Morrison & Foerster, 755 Page Mill Road, Palo Alto, California 94304.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements and schedule of the Company at December 31, 1994 and for the
period from April 4, 1994 (inception) to December 31, 1994 appearing in this Prospectus and Registration
Statement have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, as set forth in their report thereon
appearing elsewhere herein and in the Registration Statement, and are included in reliance upon such report
given upon the authority of such film as experts in accounting and auditing.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The Company has filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission"), Washing-
ton, D.C. 20549, a Registration Statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the shares of
Common Stock offered hereby. This Prospectus does not contain all of the information set forth in the
Registration Statement and the exhibits and schedules thereto. Certain items are omitted in accordance with
the rules and regulations of the Commission. For further information with respect to the Company and the
Common Stock offered hereby, reference is made to the Registration Statement and the exhibits and
schedules filed therewith. Statements contained in this Prospectus as to the contents of any contract or any
other document referred to are not necessarily complete, and in each instance refeience is made to the copy of
such contract or other document filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement, each such statement being
qualified in all respects by such reference. A copy of the Registration Statement, and the exhibits and
schedules thereto, may be inspected without charge at the public reference facilities maintained by the
Commission in Room 1024, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549, and at the Commission's
Regional offices located at the Northwestern Atrium Center, 500 West Madison Street, Suite 1400, Chicago,
Illinois 60661 and Seven World Trade Center, 13th Floor, New York, New York 10048, and copies of all or
any part of the Registration Statement may be obtained from such office upon the payment of the fees
prescribed by the Commission.
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG ULP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Netscape Communications Corporation

We have audiied the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Netscape Communications Corporation as
of December 31, 1994 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity (deficit) and
cash flows for the period from inception (April 4, 1994) to December 31, 1994. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material mismtement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Netscape Communications Corporation at December 31, 1994, and the
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the period from inception (April 4, 1994) to
December 31, 1994, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Palo Alto, California
February 22, 1995,

except for Note 10,
as to which the date is
June 19. 1995

The foregoing report is in the form that will be signed upon completion of the two-for-one stock split described
in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. •_,

Palo Alto. California
June 22. 1995 (/
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NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

A S S E T S

December 31, March 31,
1994 1995

(Uaaudlted)

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,243,510 $ 4,851,848
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful

accounts of $56,153 in 1995 701,649 2,751,478
Other current assets 67,284 41,207

Total current assets 4,012,443 7,644,533
Property and equipment, net 2,447,098 3,857,639
Deposits and other assets 699,100 810,351

$ 7,158,641

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 855,068 $ 735,571
Accrued compensation and related liabilities 527,340 622,176
Other accrued liabilities 667,503 430,548
Deferred revenues 2,575,145 7,244,626
Current portion of long-term obligations , 725,000 725,000
Installment notes payable — 473,675

Total current liabilities 5,350,056 10,231,396
Long-term obligations 725,000 725,000
Installment notes payable — 1,627,411
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity (deficit):

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; issuable in series;
7,608,222 shares authorized, 7,008,222 shares issued
and outstanding (aggregate liquidation preference of
$9,541,999) (5,000,000 shares authorized, none
issued and outstanding, pro forma) 701 701

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 20,000,000 shares
authorized; 4,511,000 shares in 1994 and 8,759,800
shares in 1995 issued and outstanding (100,000,000
shares authorized, 22,776,244 shares issued and
outstanding, pro forma) 451 876

Additional paid-in capital 9,552,278 12,612,953
Deferred compensation — (1,717,146)
Accumulated deficit (8,469,845) (11,168,868)

Total stockholders' equity (deficit) 1,083,585 (271,484)

$ 7,158,641 $ 12,312,523

Pro Forma
Stockholders'

Equity
March 31,

IW5
(Unaudited)

2,278
12,612,252
(1,717,146)

(11,168,868)
$ (271,484)

See accompanying notes.
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NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Inception Three Months
(April 4,1994) to Elded

December 31, March 31.
1994 199$

(Unaudited)

Revenues:
Product revenues S 378,490 $ 4,496,031
Service revenues 317,381 241,560

Total revenues 695,871 4,737,591
Cost of revenues:

Cost of product revenues 114,777 273,169
Cost of sendee revenues 104,313 61,732

Total cost of revenues 219,090 334,901
Gross profit 476,781 4,402,690
Operating expenses:

Research and development 2,031,986 1,981,292
Sales and marketing 2813,689 2,897,915
General and administrative 1,669,193 1,740,524
Property rights agreement and related charges 2.486,688 500,000

Total operating expenses 9,001,556 7,119,731
Operating loss (8,524,775) (2,717,041)
Interest income 55,238 45,074
Interest expense (308) (27,056)
Net loss $ (8,469,845) $ (2,699,023)
Net loss per share $ (0.25) $ (0.08)
Shares used in computing net loss per share 33,481,438 34.255,882

See accompanying notes.
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NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

CONSOUDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS* EQUITY {DEFICIT)

Common Slock

Shares

3,750,000 $375

Additional
Paid-in Deferred Accumulated
Ctplttl Compensation Dtflclt

16.300 S —

— 3.112,835

Preferred Stock
Shares Amoaat

Issuance of common stock to founders and
employees for cash — $ —

Issuance of Series A convertible preferred
ilock at $0.75 per share for cash and
technology 4,151,000 415

Issuance of Series B convertible preferred
stock at $2.25 per share for cash, net of
issuance costs of $33,933 2,857,222 286

Exercise of common stock options — —
Net loss — —
Balance at December 31, 1994 7,008,222 701
Issuance of common shares upon exercise of

Mock options, net of repurchases
(unaudited)

Deferred compensation related to grant of
stock options (unaudited)

Amortization of deferred compensation
(unaudited)

Net loss (unaudited)
Balance at March 31, 1995 (unaudited) 7,008,223 $701 8,759,800 $876 $12,612,953 5(1,717,146) 1(11,168,868)

761,000 76

4,511,000 ~45T

— 4,248,800 425

6.394,531 —
28,612 —

9.552,278 ~

482,017 -

2.578.6J8 (2,578,658)

- 861,512

(8,469,845)
(8,469.845)

Total
Stockholders'

(Defidit)

$ 16,675

3.113.250

6.394.817
28.688

(8.469.845)
1,083.585

482.442

(2.699.023)

See accompanying notes.
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NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash flows from operating actirities
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by
operating activities:
Amortization of deferred compensation
Depreciation and amortization

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and related liabilities
Other accrued liabilities
Deferred revenues
Long-term obligations 1,450,000

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (2,947,854)
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures (2,662,966)
Increase in deposits and other assets (654,100)
Net cash used in investing activities (3,317,066)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the issuance of installment notes payable —
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, net 9,463,067
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net 45,363
Net cash provided by financing activities 9,508,430
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,243,510
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period —
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 3,243,510

Inception
(April 4, 1994) to

December 31,
1994

$(8,469,845)

215,868

(701,649)
(67,284)
855,068
527,340
667,503

2,575,145

Three Months
Ended

Marcb 31,1995
(Unaudited)

$(2,699,023)

861,512
256,346

(2,049,829)
26,077

(119,497)
94,836

(236,955)
4,669,481

802,948

(1,666,887)
(111,251)

(1,778,138)

2,101,086

482,442
2,583,528
1,608,338
3,243,510

See accompanying notes.
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NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Company

Netscape Communications Corporation ("Netscape" or the "Company") provides open client, server
and integrated applications software that enables information exchange and commerce over the Internet and
private Internet Protocol networks. The Company was formed in April 1994 and commenced shipment of its
initial products in December 1994.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiary. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Interim Financial Information

The financial information at March 31, 1995 and for the three months ended March 31, 1995 are
unaudited but include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, which the Company
considers necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position at such date and the operating results and
cash flows for those periods. The Company was formed in April 1994, thertibre, there is no financial
information prior to that date. Results of the three months ended March 31, 1995 are not necessarily
indicative of results for the entire year.

Revenue Recognition

The Company's product revenues are derived from product licensing fees, while service revenues are
derived from maintenance support, training and consulting. Product revenues are recognized upon delivery if
no significant vendor obligations remain and collection of the resulting receivable is deemed probable. Service
revenues from customer maintenance fees for ongoing customer support and product updates are recognized
ratably over the term of the maintenance period which is typically 12 months. Payments for maintenance fees
are generally made in advance and are nonrefundable. Service revenues from training and consulting are
recognized when the services are performed. Costs related to insignificant obligations, primarily telephone
support, are accrued upon shipment and included in cost of goods sold.

Cask and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to
be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit with banks and money market
investments.

The Company has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115 "Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities." At December 31, 1994 and March 31, 1995, the
Company had no investments in debt or equity securities.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets,
generally three to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the term of the lease or
the estimated useful life of the asset.
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NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers' financial condition and generally does
not require collateral. The Company maintains reserves for credit losses, and such losses have been within
management's expectations.

Research and Development

Research and development expenditures are charged to operations as incurred. Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 86 "Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or
Otherwise Marketed," requires capitalization of certain software development costs subsequent to the
establishment of technological feasibility.

Based on the Company's product development process, technological feasibility is established upon
completion of a working model. Costs incurred by the Company between completion of the working model
and the point at which the product is ready for general release have been insignificant. All research and
development costs have been expensed.

Per Share Amounts

Net loss per share is computed using the weighted average number of common and dilutive common
equivalent shares outstanding during the period. Pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Commission Staff
Accounting Bulletins and Staff Policy, such computations include all common and common equivalent shares
issued within 12 months of the filing date as if they were outstanding for all periods presented using the
treasury stock method. Common equivalent shares consist of the incremental common shares issuable upon
conversion of the convertible preferred stock (using the if-converted method) and shares issuable upon the
exercise of stock options (using the treasury stock method).

2, Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, at cost, consists of the following:

December 31,
1994

Computers and equipment $2,169,537
Furniture and fixtures 486,439
Leasehold improvements 6,990

2,662,966
Less accumulated depreciation 215,868

$2,447,098

Much 31,
1995

(Uuudited)
$3,139,026

933,016
257,811

4,329,853
472,214

$3,857,639

F-8
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NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. Leases

The Company leases its facilities and certain other equipment under operating lease agreements expiring
through December 31, 2001. Future minimum payments as of December 31, 1994 under these leases, net of
sublease payments, are as follows:

1995 S 815,750
1996 1,480,860
1997 1,480,860
1998 1,588,720
1999 and thereafter 4,864,227

$10,230,417

Rent expense for the period from inception (April 4, 1994) to December 31, 1994 was $59,287, net of
sublease payments.

4. Installment Notes Payable

On March 3, 1995, the Company entered into a senior loan agreement for total borrowings not to exceed
$2,200,000. Borrowings made under the agreement are secured by certain assets of the Company. The notes
are payable in 36 monthly installments. Maturities subsequent to March 31, 1995 are as follows: $384,408 in
1995; $575,301 in 1996; $682,982 in 1997 and $458,395 in 1998.

5. Property Rights Agreement

On December 20, 1994, the Company entered into an agreement with the University of Illinois (the
"University") and Spyglass, Inc. ("Spyglass"). Under the terms of the agreement, the University and
Spyglass agreed not to assert any claim of trademark infringement arising out of the Company's prior use of
the word "Mosaic" or other symbols or words used by the Company to market itself or its products. The
University and Spyglass further agreed not to assert against the Company any claim of copyright infringement,
trade secret misappropriation or related claims based on the Company's use of former University employees in
the development of the Company's present and future products. As consideration for these covenants not to
assert, the Company agreed to make certain payments to the University over & two year period. The full
amount of this agreement and associated costs, including fees for experts and professional services, as well as
trademark search and other costs, was expensed in 1994 and was included as "Property rights agreement and
related charges" on the consolidated statements of operations. Certain amounts become payable to the
University in 1995 and 1996, and have been recorded as long-term obligations.

If over the term of the agreement (two years from December 21, 1994) the Company enters into a
license, distribution, remarketing or sublicensing agreement with certain specific: companies, the Company
may pay up to $1.3 million to the University. During the three months ended March 31, 1995, the Company
made two such additional payments totaling $500,000. In addition, if over the terni of the agreement any of
these companies acquires a controlling interest in the Company, there is a per unit royalty paid to the
University over the remaining term.

F-9
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NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

6. Stockholders'Equity

Preferred Stock

Preferred stock as of December 31, 1994 and March 31, 1995 consists of the following convertible
preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share:

Shares Shares Issued Liquidation
Authorised »nd Outstanding Preference

Series A 4,151,000 4,151,000 $3,113,250
Series B 3,457,222 2,857,222 6,428,749

7,608,222 7,008,222 $9,541,999

Each share of Series A and B preferred stock is convertible into common stoct at the option of the holder
on a two-for-one basis, subject to certain adjustments. Each series of preferred stock will automatically
convert upon the earliest of the closing date of an underwritten public offering tf the Company's common
stock with aggregate proceeds of more than $10,000,000 or the date of written consent of the holders of a
majority of the outstanding shares of the preferred stock. The Company has resei-ved a sufficient number of
shares of common stock to permit conversion of the preferred stock in accordance with its terms.

Holders of the preferred stock are entitled to one vote for each share of common stock into which such
shares may be converted. Each share of Series A and B preferred stock entitles the holder to receive
noncumulative dividends, if and when declared by the board of directors, prior to any dividend paid on the
common stock. Dividends, if any, on preferred stock shall be declared at an annual rate of $0.0675 per share
for Series A preferred stock and $0.20 per share for Series B preferred stock. As of December 31, 1994, no
dividends have been declared.

In the event of liquidation, the preferred stock has preference over the common stock in the amounts of
$0.75 and $2.25 per share for the Series A and B preferred stock, respectively, plus declared but unpaid
dividends.

Common Stock

All shares of common stock issued by the Company at December 31, 1994 were subject to stock
repurchase agreements whereby the Company has the option to repurchase the unvested shares upon
termination of employment for any reason, with or without cause, at the original price paid for the shares.
Generally, the stock vests over 50 months from the date of issuance.

In addition, the Company has the right of first refusal upon sale or transfer of shares of common stock.
This right will expire upon the Company's initial public offering.

1994 Stock Option Plan

During 1994, the Company adopted the 1994 Stock Option Plan under which incentive stock options or
nonqualified stock options to purchase common stock may be granted to employees and certain consultants or
independent contractors. Under the Plan, options to purchase common stock may be granted at prices not less
than 85% of the fair value on the date of grant (110% of fair value in certain instances), as determined by the
board of directors. Options granted are immediately exercisable and the resulting shares issued to employees
under the Plan are subject to repurchase by the Company, at the discretion of the Company, upon the
individual's cessation of service prior to vesting in the shares at the original purchase price. The right expires as
determined by the board of directors, generally over a 50-month period.
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NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A summary of activity under the option portion of the Plan is as follows:

Available Optloas Outofndlng
for Number of Price Per

Grant Shares Shire

Shares reserved 5,729,232 — —
Options granted (2,921,200) 2,921,200 $0.03840.1125
Options cancelled 300.000 (300,000) $0,038
Options exercised — (761,000) $0.038-$0.M25
Balance at December 31, 1994 3,108,032 l,860,2(» $0.038-$0.1125
Shares reserved (unaudited) 1,784,006 — —
Options granted (unaudited) (2,598,600) 2,598,600 $0.1125
Options cancelled (unaudited) 71,200 (71,200) $O.038-$O.l 125
Options exercised (unaudited) — (591,800) $0.038-$0.U25
Balance at March 31, 1995 (unaudited) 2,364,638 3,795,8(10 $O.O38-$O.1125

In the quarter ended March 31, 199S, the Company granted an option to purchase 4,000,000 shares of
common stock outside of the Plan. The exercise price was $0.1125 per share. The options were all immediately
exercisable with 50% subject to repurchase at the option of the Company upon the individual's cessation of
service prior to vesting in the shares at the original purchase price. The stock vests over a 50-month period. In
the quarter ended March 31, 1995, the option to purchase 4,000,000 shares of common stock was exercised.

At December 31, 1994, no options were vested and 3,947,000 shares of common stock were subject to
repurchase at the option of the Company at the original purchase price. At March 31, 1995, options for
167,600 shares were vested and 5,904,000 shares were subject to repurchase. In the quarter ended March 31,
1995, the Company repurchased 343,000 shares of common stock at the original exercise price.

The Company has recorded deferred compensation expense of $2,578,658 for the difference between the
grant price and the deemed fair value of certain of the Company's common stock options granted in 199S. This
amount is being amortized over the vesting period of the individual options, generally a 50-month period.
Compensation expense recognized in the quarter ended March 31, 1995 totaled $861,512.

Unaudited Pro Forma Stockholders' Equity

Unaudited pro forma stockholders' equity at March 31, 1995 gives effect to & two-for-one conversion of
7,008,222 shares of preferred stock, into common stock upon the close of the Company's initial public offering
of shares of its common stock.

7. Income Taxes

As of December 31, 1994, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$7,000,000. The Company also had federal research and development tax credit carryforwards of approxi-
mately $90,000. The net operating loss and credit carryforwards will expire in 2009 if not utilized. The
Company also has state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $5,000,000 whicb will expire in 2002
if not utilized.

Deferred income taxes reflect tbe net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and the amount used for income tax purposes. As of
December 31, 1994, the Company had deferred tax assets of approximately $3,500,000 relating primarily to
net operating loss carryforwards. The net deferred tax asset has been fully offset by a valuation allowance.
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NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Utilization of the net operating losses and credits may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to
the ownership change limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and similar state provisions.

8. Benefit Plan

The Company maintains a 401 (k) retirement savings plan for its full time employees. Each participant in
the Plan may elect to contribute from 1% to 15% of his or her annual compensation to the Plan. The
Company, at its discretion, may make contributions to the Plan, however has made none through March 31,
1995.

9. Segment Information

The Company conducts its business within one industry segment. Two customers accounted for 45% and
36% of total revenues in the period from inception (April 4, 1994) through December 31, 1994. Two
customers accounted for 14% and 9% of total revenues in the quarter ended March 31, 1995.

Revenues from customers outside North America were less than 10% of total revenues in the period from
inception (April 4, 1994) through December 31, 1994 and were approximately 10% of total revenues in the
quarter ended March 31, 1995.

10. Subsequent Events

In April 1995, the Company issued 2,000,000 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock to investors
at $9.00 per share, resulting in net cash proceeds of approximately $17,300,000 to the Company. In
conjunction with the issuance, the Company increased the number of authorized preferred shares to
11,286,222 of which 2,278,000 have been designated Series C and 2,000,000 have been undesignated, and
increased the number of authorized common shares to 30,000,000. Holders of Scries C preferred stock are
entitled to noncumulative dividends of S0.81 per share if and when declared by the board of directors and in
advance of any distribution to Series A or B preferred stock or common stock. Each share of Series C
preferred stock is convertible into common stock at the option of the holder on a tv/o-for-one basis, subject to
certain adjustments. Each series of preferred stock will automatically convert upon the earliest of the closing
date of an underwritten public offering of the Company's common stock with aggregate proceeds of more than
$15,000,000 at a public offering price of not less than $6.00 per share until April 5, 1996 or $7.50 after April 5,
1996.

On June 19, 1995, the board of directors authorized management of the Company to file a Registration
Statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission permitting the Company to sell shares of its
common stock to the public. In addition, the Company's board of directors authorized an increase in the
number of authorized common and preferred shares to 100,000,000 and 5,000,000 shares, respectively. In
addition, the Company's board of directors, subject to stockholders' approval, initiated a two-for-one stock
split. Accordingly, all the common share and per share data has been adjusted to reflect this change. At the
same meeting, the Company's board of directors, subject to stockholders' approval, adopted the 1995
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "Purchase Plan") which authorizes the issuance of 1,000,000 shares of
common stock. Shares may be purchased under the Purchase Plan at 85% of the lesser of the fair market value
of the common stock on the grant or purchase date. In addition, the Company's board of directors, subject to
stockholders' approval, adopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan and Directors Stock Option Plan which
authorized the issuance of 4,500,000 shares and 100,000 shares of common stock, respectively.
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[ALTERNATIVE PAGE FOR INTERNATIONAL PROSPECTUS]
PROSPECTUS (Subject to Completion)
Issued June 23, 199S

3,500,000 Shares

NETSCAPE
COMMON STOCK

Of the 3,500,000 Shan* of Common Stock offered, 500,000 Share* are being offend ouulde of the United State* and Canada by the
International Underwriter* and 3,000,000 Share* an being offered in the United State* and Canada by the U.S. Underwriter*.

See "Underwriter*." All of the Shan* of Common Stock offered hereby are being mold by the Company. Prior to thU
offering, then hat been MO public market for the Common Stock of the Company, It U currently etilmoted AM

(he initial public offering price will be between $ and t per (fare. See "Underwriter*" for a
dUcuulon of the fiuslor* to be contldertd in determining the initial public offering price.

THIS OFFERING INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK. SEE "RISK FACTORS'
COMMENCING ON PAGE 5.

THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION NOR HAS THE

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION
PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS PROSPECTUS. ANY

REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

PRICE $ A SHARE

Price to
Public

Per Share
Total (3) .

Underwriting
Dacounutmd

Commi**ion*(l)

s
Proceed* to

Company(2)

(1) The Company has agreed to indemnify the International Underwriters and U.S. Underwriters against certain
liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities -Met of 1933, as amended.

(&) Before deducting expenses payable by the Company estimated at $760,000.
(3) The Company has granted the U.S. Underwriters an option, exereisable within 30 days of the date hereof, to

purchase up to an aggregate of 626,000 additional Shares at the price to public less underwriting discounts and
commissions for the purpose of covering over-allotments, if any. If the U.S. Underwriters exercise such option in
full, the total price to public, underwriting discounts and commissions and proceeds to Company will be / ,
$ and <$ , respectively. See "Underwriters."

The Shares are offered, subject to prior sale, when, as and if accepted by the Underwriters
named herein and subject to approval of certain legal matters by Morrison $ Foerster, counsel
for the Underwriters. It is expected that delivery of certificates for the Shares will be made on
or about , 1996, at the office of Morgan Stanley § Co. Incorporated, New York, JV.Y.,
against payment therefor in New York funds.

MORGAN STANLEY & CO.
International

, 1995

HAMBRBCHT & QUIST
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[ALTERNATIVE PAGE FOR INTERNATIONAL PROSPECTUS]

No person is authorized In connection with any offering made hereby to give any information or to make
any representation other than as contained in this Prospectus, and, if given or made, such information or
representation must not be relied upon as baring been authorized by the Company or any Underwriter. This
Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy by any person in any
jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such an offering or solicitation. Neither the
delivery of this Prospectus nor any sale made hereunder shall under any circumstances Imply that the
information contained herein Is correct as of any date subsequent to the date hereof.

No action has been or will be taken In any jurisdiction by the Company or by any Underwriter that
would permit a public offering of the Common Stock or possession or distribution of this Prospectus in any
jurisdiction where action for that purpose Is required, other than in the United States. Persons into whose
possession this Prospectus comes are required by the Company and the Underwriters to inform themselves
about, and to observe any restrictions as to, the offering of the Common Stock and the distribution of this
Prospectus.

Until , 1995 (25 days after the commencement of this offering), all dealers effecting
transactions in the Common Stock, whether or not participating In this distribution, may be required to
deliver a Prospectus. This delivery requirement is in addition to the obligation of dealers to deliver a
Prospectus when acting as Underwriters and with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Prospectus Summary 3
The Company 4
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Use of Proceeds 13
Dividend Policy 13
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Selected Consolidated Financial Data \ 16
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 17
Business 22
Management 40
Certain Transactions \ 47
Principal Stockholders \'m 48
Description of Capital Stock _ \ \ 49
Shares Eligible for Future Sale [\[\ 51
Certain United States Federal Tax Considerations for Non-U.S. Holders of Common Stock 53
Underwriters [[[ 55
Legal Matters 58
Experts 58
Additional Information 58
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements \\\\ F-l

The Company intends to furnish to its stockholders annual reports containing consolidated financial
statements audited by an independent public accounting firm and quarterly reports for the first three quarters
of each fiscal year containing interim unaudited financial information.

The Company has applied for registration of the following trademarks: Netscape, Netscape Navigator
and the Company's logo. This Prospectus also includes product names and other tiade names and trademarks
of the Company and of other organizations.

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OVER-ALLOT OR
EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE
COMMON STOCK OF THE COMPANY AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHER-
WISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE
DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.

Except as otherwise noted herein, all information in this Prospectus assumes (i) a two-for-one stock split
of the Common Stock. (U) the conversion of each outstanding share of Preferred Stock into two shares of
Common Stock, which will occur automatically upon the closing of the offering, (HI) an increase in the
authorized number of shares of Common Stock from 30,000,000 to 100.000,000, (iv) an increase in the
authorized number of shares of undesignated Preferred Stock from 2,000,000 to 5.000.000, and (iv) no
exercise of the Underwriters' over-allotment option. See "Description of Capital Stock" and "Underwriters."



PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution

The following table sets forth the costs and expenses, other than underwriting discounts and commissions,
payable by the Registrant in connection with the sale of Common Stock being iegistered. All amounts are
estimates except the SEC registration fee, the NASD filing fee and the Nasdaq National Market Listing Fee.

Amount
To Be
Paid

SEC registration fee $ 19,431
NASD filing fee 6,135
Nasdaq National Market listing fee 25,125
Printing and engraving expenses *
Legal fees and expenses *
Accounting fees and expenses *
Blue Sky qualification fees and expenses *
Transfer agent and registrar fees *
Miscellaneous fees . . . . *

Total $750,000

* To be filed by amendment.

Item 14. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

As permitted by Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Registrant's Certificate of
Incorporation includes a provision that eliminates the personal liability of its directors for monetary damages
for breach or alleged breach of their duty of care. In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the Delaware
General Corporation Law, the Bylaws of the Registrant provide that: (i) the Registrant is required to
indemnify its directors and executive officers and persons serving in such capacities in other business
enterprises (including, for example, subsidiaries of the Registrant) at the Registrant's request, to the fullest
extent permitted by Delaware law, including in those circumstances in which indemnification would otherwise
be discretionary, (ii) the Registrant may, in its discretion, indemnify employees and agents in those
circumstances where indemnification is not required bylaw, (iii) the Registrant is required to advance
expenses, as incurred, to its directors and executive officers in connection with defending a proceeding (except
that it is not required to advance expenses to a person against whom the Registrant brings a claim for breach
of the duty of loyalty, failure to act in good faith, intentional misconduct, knowing violation of law or deriving
an improper personal benefit; (iv) the rights conferred in the Bylaws are not exclusive, and the Registrant is
authorized to enter into indemnification agreements with its directors, executive officers and employees; and
(v) the Registrant may not retroactively amend the Bylaw provisions in a way that it adverse to such directors,
executive officers and employees.

The Registrant's policy is to enter into indemnification agreements with each of its directors and
executive officers that provide the maximum indemnity allowed to directors and executive officers by
Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law and the Bylaws, as well as certain additional procedural
protections. In addition, the indemnity agreement provide that directors and executive officers will be
indemnified to the fullest possible extent not prohibited by law against all expenses (including attorney's fees)
and settlement amounts paid or incurred by them in any action or proceeding, including any derivative action
by or in the right of the Registrant, on account of their services as directors or executive officers of the
Registrant or as directors or officers of any other company or enterprise when they are serving in such
capacities at the request of the Registrant. The Company will not be obligated pursuant to the indemnity
agreements to indemnify or advance expenses to an indemnified party with respect to proceedings or claims
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initiated by the indemnified party and not by way of defense, except with respect to proceedings specifically
authorized by the Board of Directors or brought to enforce a right to indemnification under the indemnity
agreement, the Company's Bylaws or any statute or law. Under tbe agreements, the Company is not obligated
to indemnify the indemnified party (i) for any expenses incurred by the indemnified party with respect to any
proceeding instituted by the indemnified party to enforce or interpret the agreement, if a court of competent
jurisdiction determines that each of the material assertions made by the indemnified party in such proceeding
was not made in good faith or was frivolous; (ii) for any amounts paid in settlement of a proceeding unless the
Company consents to such settlement; (iii) with respect to any proceeding brought by the Company against
the indemnified party for willful misconduct, unless a court determines that each of such claims was not made
in good faith or was frivolous; (iv) on account of any suit in which judgment is rendered against the
indemnified party for an accounting of profits made from the purchase or sale by the indemnified party of
securities of the Company pursuant to the provisions of Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
and related laws; (v) on account of the indemnified party's conduct which is finally adjudged to have been
knowingly fraudulent or deliberately dishonest, or to constitute willful misconduct or a knowing violation of
the law; (vi) an account of any conduct from which the indemnified party derived an improper personal
benefit; (vii) on account of conduct the indemnified party believed to be contrary to the best interests of the
Company or its stockholders; (vii) on account of conduct that constituted a breach of the indemnified party's
duty of loyalty to the Company or its stockholders; or (ix) if a final decision by a court having jurisdiction in
the matter shall determine that such indemnification is not lawful.

The indemnification provision in the Amended and Restated Bylaws and the indemnification agreements
entered into between the Registrant and its directors and executive officers, may be sufficiently broad to permit
indemnification of the Registrant's officers and directors for liabilities arising under the Securities Act.

Reference is made to the following documents filed as exhibits to this Registration Statement regarding
relevant indemnification provisions described above and elsewhere herein:

Exhibit
Document Number

Form of Underwriting Agreement 1.1
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation 3.1
Amended and Restated Bylaws 3.2
Second Amended and Restated Investors' Rights Agreement 4.2
Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by the Registrant with each

of its directors and executive officers 10.1

Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

From the Registrant's inception through May 31, 1995, the Registrant has issued and sold the following
securities (as adjusted to give effect to the two-for-one stock split of the Company's Common Stock):

1. On various dates since inception, the Registrant has issued and sold an aggregate of 5,578,800 shares
of Common Stock to employees for an aggregate purchase price of $552,015 pursuant to exercises of
employee stock options.

2. In May 1994 and June 1994, the Registrant issued and sold an aggregate of 3,350,000 shares of
Common Stock to certain employees and officers at a purchase price of $0.0005 per share, for an
aggregate purchase price of $1,675 pursuant to restricted stock purchase agreements.

3. From June 1994 to August 1994, the Registrant issued and sold an aggregate of 4,151,000 shares of
Series A Preferred Stock (8,302,000 shares of Common Stock on an as-converted basis) to
accredited investors and certain officers at a purchase price of $0.75 per share for an aggregate
purchase price of $3,113,250.

4. In August 1994, the Registrant issued and sold 400,000 shares of Common Stock to an employee at a
purchase price of $0.0375 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $15,000 pursuant to a
restricted stock purchase agreement.
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5. From September 1994 to December 1994, the Registrant issued and sold an aggregate of 2,857,222
shares of Series B Preferred Stock (5,714,444 shares of Common Stock on an as-converted basis) to a
group of accredited investors at a purchase price of $2.25 per share for an aggregate purchase price of
$6,428,750.50.

6. In April 1995, the Registrant issued and sold an aggregate of 2,000,000 shares of Series C Preferred
Stock (4,000,000 shares of Common Stock on an as-converted basis) to a group of accredited
investors at a purchase price of $9.00 per share for an aggregate purchase price of $18,000,000.

The issuances described in Item 15(a)(l) were deemed exempt from registration under the Securities
Act in reliance upon Rule 701 promulgated under the Securities Act. The issuances of the securities described
in Items 15(a) (2), through Item(a) (6) were deemed to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act
in reliance on Section 4(2) of such Act as transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering. In
addition, the recipients of securities in each such transaction represented their intentions to acquire the
securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof and
appropriate legends were affixed to the share certificates issued in such transactions. All recipients had
adequate access, through their relationships with the Registrant, to information about the Registrant.
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Item 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Exhibits
Exhibit

No.

1.1*
3.1*
3.2*
4.1*
4.2
5.1*

10.1*

10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7

10.8f

10.9f

lO.lOf

10.11
10.12
10.13*
10.14*
10.15*
11.1
21.1
23.1*
23.2
24.1

Description

Form of Underwriting Agreement.
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant.
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant.
Form of Registrant's Common Stock Certificate.
Second Amended and Restated Investors' Rights Agreement dated April 5, 1995.
Opinion of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati regarding legality of the securities being
issued.
Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by Registrant with each of its
directors and executive officers.
Form of Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement.
1994 Stock Option Flan and related agreements.
1995 Stock Plan and related agreements.
1995 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and related agreements.
1995 Directors Option Plan and related agreements.
Employment Agreement between Registrant and James L. Barksdale dated January 4,
1995.
Software License Agreement between Registrant and MCI Telecommunications
Corporation dated February 28, 1995.
License and Series A Stock Purchase Agreement between Registrant and RSA Data
Security, Inc. dated August 19, 1994.
Settlement Agreement by and among the Registrant, the University of Illinois and
Spyglass, Inc. dated December 21, 1994.
Lease between Registrant and Ellis-Middlefield Business Park dated October 14, 1994.
Lease between Registrant and Ellis-Middlefield Business Park dated April 28, 1995.
Series A Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dated June 10, 1994.
Series B Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dated September 30, 1994.
Series C Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dated April 5, 1995.
Statement of computation of earnings per share.
Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati (included in Exhibit 5.1).
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors (see page II-7).
Power of Attorney (See page II-6).

• To be supplied by amendment.
t Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions which have been blacked out in the copy of

the exhibit filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The omitted information has been filed
separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the application for confidential
treatment.

(b) Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts S-l

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is
not applicable or is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.
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Item 17. Undertakings

The undersigned hereby undertakes to provide to the Underwriters at the closing specified in the
Underwriting Agreement, certificates in such denominations and registered in such names as required by the
Underwriters to permit prompt delivery to each purchaser.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
"Securities Act"), may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the Registrant pursuant to
the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and
Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act, and is,
therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the
payment by the Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer, or controlling person of the
Registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or
controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the Registrant will, unless in the opinion
of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction
the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and
will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that:

(1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, the information omitted
from the form of Prospectus filed as part of this Registration Statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and
contained in a form of Prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(l) or (4) or
497 (h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this Registration Statement as of the time
it was declared effective.

(2) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each post-effective
amendment that contains a form of Prospectus shall be deemed to be a new Registration Statement
relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed
to be the initial bonafide offering thereof.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant has duly caused this
Registration Statement on Form S-l to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto, duly authorized,
in the City of Mountain View, State of California, on thisi^day of June 1995.

NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

By:.
Peter L.S. Currie

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints, jointly and severally, James. H. Clark, James L. Barksdale, Peter L.S. Currie, and
Roberta R. Katz and each one of them, as his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with full
power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to
sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this Registration Statement, and to
file the same, with all exhibits thereto and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection
therewith and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of ihem, or bis or her or their
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done or by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Registration Statement has been signed
by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signatures Title Dale

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer) June**, 1995

Peter L.S. Currie
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) Junea-a-, 1995

Chairman of the Board

Director

June as., 1995

June*?, 1995

L. John Doerr
Director

Director

June , 1995

June a*., 1995
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant has duly caused this
Registration Statement on Form S-l to be signed on its behatfby the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized,
in the City of Mountain View, State of California, on this 2X day of June 1995.

NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

By:.
Peter L.S. Curric

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints, jointly and severally, James. H. Clark, James L. Barksdale, Peter L.S. Currie, and
Roberta R, Katz and each one of them, as his true and lawful attomeys-in-fact and agents, each with full
power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to
sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this Registration Statement, and to
file the same, with all exhibits thereto and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attomeys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection
therewith and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby
ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorncys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or his or her or their
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done or by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Registration Statement has been signed
by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Tkk Dart

James L. Barksdale
President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer) June , 1995

Peter L.S. Currie
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) June , 1995

Chairman of the Board
James. H. Clark June , 1995

J> Mara L. Ai
Director

Director
L. John Doerr

June , 1995

June « . , 1995

Director
John E. Wamock June , 1995



EXHIBIT 23.2

CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the reference of our firm under the caption "Experts" and to the use of our report dated
February 22, 1995 except for Note 10 as to which the date is June 19, 1995, in the Registration Statement on
Form S-1 and related Prospectus of Netscape Communicatiom Corporation for the registration of 3,500,000
shares of its common stock.

Our audit also included the financial statement schedule of Netscape CommuMcations Corporation listed
in Item 16(b) of this Registration Statement. This schedule is the responsibility of the Company's
management Our responsibility is to express an opinion based on our audit. In our opinion, the financial
statement schedule referred to above, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Palo Alto, California
June 22, 1995

The foregoing consent is in the form it will be signed upon completion of the two-for-one stock split
described in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Palo Alto, California
June 22, 1995

n-7



Schedule II

NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Period from Inception (April 4, 1994) to December 31, 1994 and

Quarter ended March 31, 1995

Balance as of

sea Charges to Charf es to
cost and txpetats other accounts Deductions

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Period from inception (April 4, 1994) to
December 31, 1994 $

Quarter ended March 31, 1995
— $ —
— 56,153

$ — $ —

Balance
as of end
of period

$ —
56,153
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1.1* Fonn of Underwriting Agreement
3.1* Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant
3.2* Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant
4.1* Form of Registrant's Common Stock Certificate <^ 0
4.2 Second Amended and Restated Investors' Rights Agreement dated April 5, 1995
5.1* Opinion of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati regarding legality of the securities

being issued
10.1* Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by Registrant with each of its

directors and executive officers ,
10.2 Form of Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement ' ' J

10.3 1994 Stock Option Plan and related agreements / 7 /
10.4 1995 Stock Plan and related agreements )L L
10.5 1995 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and related agreements c.
10.6 1995 Directors Option Plan and related agreements ^ ' ^ ,
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1995

10.13* Series A Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dated June 10, 1994
10.14* Series B Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dated September 30, 1994
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23.1* Consent of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati (included in Exhibit 5.1)
23.2 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Auditors (see page II-7)
24.1 Power of Attorney (See page II-6)

* To be supplied by amendment.
t Confidential treatment has been requested for certain portions which have been blacked out in the copy of

the exhibit filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The omitted information has been filed
separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the application for confidential
treatment.
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SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS* RIGHTS AGREEMENT

This Second Amended and Restated Investors' Rights Agreement is entered into as of
April 5, 1995, by and between Netscape Communications Corporation, a Delaware corporation
(the "Company"), and the investors listed on Schedule A hereto (the "Investors").

WHEREAS, the Company and certain of the Investors (the "Prior Investors") are parties
to that certain Amended and Restated Investors* Rights Agreement dated December 9, 1994 (the
"Prior Agreement"), pursuant to which the Company granted to such Prior Investors certain
registration rights;

WHEREAS, certain of the Investors (the "New Investors") are purchasing from the
Company, and Company is selling to the New Investors, shares of the Company's Series C
Preferred Stock pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in that certain Series C Preferred
Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of even date herewith (the "Series C Agreement");

WHEREAS, in order to induce the New Investors to invest funds in the Company
pursuant to the Series C Agreement, the Investors and the Company hereby agree to enter into
this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Company and a majority of the Prior Investors are hereby executing this
Agreement to amend and replace the Prior Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, covenants, and conditions set
forth herein, the parties agree as follows:

1.0 REGISTRATION RIGHTS. The parties covenant and agree as follows:

1.1 Definitions. For purposes of this Section 1.0:

(a) The term "register," "registered," and "registration" refer to a registration
effected by preparing and filing a registration statement or similar document in compliance with
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act"), and the declaration or ordering of
effectiveness of such registration statement or document.

(b) The term "Registrable Securities" means (i) the Company's Common Stock
issuable or issued upon conversion of the Series A, B and C Preferred Stock of the Company
(the "Conversion Stock") and (ii) any Common Stock of the Company issued as (or issuable
upon the conversion or exercise of any warrant, right or other security which is issued as) a
dividend or other distribution with respect to, or in exchange for or in replacement of, such
Series A, B or C Preferred Stock or Common Stock, excluding in all cases, however, (A) any
Registrable Securities sold by a person in a transaction in which such person's rights under this
Section 1.0 are not assigned or (B) shares of Conversion Stock or other securities that have been
sold to or through a broker or dealer or underwriter in a public distribution or a public securities
transaction.



(c) The number of shares of "Registrable Securities then outstanding" shall be
equal to the sum of (i) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding that are Registrable
Securities and (ii) the number of shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to then exercisable
or convertible securities that are exercisable or convertible into Registrable Securities.

(d) The term "Holder" means any person owning or having the right to acquire
Registrable Securities or any transferee or assignee thereof in accordance with Section 1.14
hereof.

(e) The term "Form S-3" means such form under the Act as in effect on the
date hereof or any registration form under the Act subsequently adopted by the Securities and
Exchange Commission ("SEC") that permits inclusion or incorporation of substantial information
by reference to other documents filed by the Company with the SEC.

1.2 Request for Registration.

(a) If the Company shall receive at any time after the earlier of
(i) September 30, 1998, or (ii) nine months after the effective date of the first registration
statement for a public offering of securities of the Company (other than a registration statement
relating either to the sale of securities to employees of the Company pursuant to a stock option,
stock purchase or similar plan or a SEC Rule 145 transaction), a written request from the
Holders of thirty percent (30%) of the Registrable Securities then outstanding that the Company
file a registration statement under the Act covering the registration of Registrable Securities with
an aggregate gross offering price of at least $5,000,000. then the Company shall, within ten (10)
days of the receipt thereof, give written notice of such request to all Holders and shall, subject
to the limitations of subsection 1.2(b), effect as soon as practicable, and in any event shall use
its best efforts to effect within ninety (90) days of the receipt of such request, the registration
under the Act of all Registrable Securities that the Holders request to be registered within twenty
(20) days of the mailing of such notice by the Company.

(b) If the Holders initiating the registration request hereunder ("Initiating
Holders") intend to distribute the Registrable Securities covered by their request by means of an
underwriting, they shall so advise the Company as a part of their request made pursuant to this
Section 1.2 and the Company shall include such information in the written notice referred to in
subsection 1.2(a). The underwriter or underwriters will be selected by the Company and shall be
reasonably acceptable to a majority in interest of the Initiating Holders. In such event, the right
of any Holder to include his Registrable Securities in such registration shall be conditioned upon
such Holder's participation in such underwriting and the inclusion of such Holder's Registrable
Securities in the underwriting (unless otherwise mutually agreed by a majority in interest of the
Initiating Holders and such Holder) to the extent provided herein. All Holders proposing to
distribute their securities through such underwriting shall (together with the Company as
provided in subsection 1.4(e)) enter into an underwriting agreement in customary form with the
underwriter or underwriters selected for such underwriting. Notwithstanding any other provision
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of this Section 1.2, if the underwriter or underwriters advise(s) the Initiating Holders in writing
that marketing factors require a limitation of the number of shares to t* underwritten, then the
Initiating Holders shall so advise all Holders of Registrable Securities which would otherwise be
underwritten pursuant hereto, and the number of shares of Registrable Securities that may be
included in the underwriting shall be allocated among all Holders thereof, including the Initiating

"Holders, in proportion (as nearly as practicable) to the amount of Registrable Securities of the
Company owned by each Holder; provided, however, that the number of shares of Registrable
Securities to be included in such underwriting shall not be reduced unless all other securities,
including, without limitation, any shares offered by the Company, are first entirely excluded
from the underwriting.

(c) The Company is obligated to effect only two (2) registrations pursuant to
this Section 1.2 (counting for this purpose only registrations that have been declared or ordered
effective and pursuant to which Registrable Securities have been sold and registrations that have
been withdrawn by the Holders as to which the Holders have not elected to bear the expenses of
such registration pursuant to Section 1.6 hereof and would, absent such election, have been
required to bear such expenses).

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company shall furnish to Holders
requesting a registration statement pursuant to this Section 1.2, a certificate signed by the
President of the Company stating that in the good faith judgment of the Board of Directors of the
Company, it would be seriously detrimental to the Company and its stockholders for such
registration statement to be filed and that it is therefore essential to defer the filing of such
registration statement, the Company shall have the right to defer such filing for a period of not
more than 120 days after receipt of the request of the Initiating Holders; provided, however, that
the Company may defer its obligations for this reason only once in any twelve-month period.

1 -3 Company Registration. If (but without any obligation to do so) the Company
proposes to register any of its Common Stock or other securities under the Act in connection
with a public offering of such securities solely for cash (including a registration effected by the
Company for stockholders other than the Holders but not including a registration relating solely
to the sale of securities to participants in a Company stock plan, or a registration on any form
that does not include substantially the same information as would be required to be included in a
registration statement covering the sale of the Registrable Securities), the Company shall, at such
time, promptly give each Holder written notice of such registration. Upon the written request of
each Holder given within twenty (20) days after mailing of such notice by the Company, the
Company shall, subject to the provisions of Section 1.8, cause to be registered under the Act all
of the Registrable Securities that each such Holder has request to be registered.

1 4 Obligations of the Company. Whenever required pursuant to this Section 1 to
effect the registration of any Registrable Securities, the Company shall perform the following
obligations as expeditiously as reasonably possible:
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(a) The Company shall prepare and file with the SEC a registration statement
with respect to such Registrable Securities and use its best efforts to cause such registration
statement to become effective and, upon the request of the Holders of a majority of the
Registrable Securities registered thereunder, to keep such registration statement effective for up

j o one hundred twenty (120) days.

(b) The Company shall prepare and file with the SEC such amendments and
supplements to such registration statement and the prospectus used in connection with such
registration statement as may be necessary to comply with the provisions of the Act with respect
to the disposition of all securities covered by such registration statement.

(c) The Company shall furnish to the Holders such numbers of copies of the
prospectus, including a prospectus subject to completion, in conformity with the requirements of
the Act, and such other documents as they may reasonably request in order to facilitate the
disposition of Registrable Securities owned by them.

(d) The Company shall use its best efforts to register and qualify the securities
covered by such registration statement under such other securities or Blue Sky laws of such
jurisdictions as shall be reasonably requested by the Holders, provided that the Company shall
not be required in connection therewith or as a condition thereto to qualify to do business or to
file a general consent to service of process in any such states or jurisdictions.

(e) In the event of any underwritten public offering, the Company shall enter
into and perform its obligations under an underwriting agreement, in usual and customary form,
with the managing underwriter of such offering. Each Holder participating in such underwriting
shall also enter into and perform its obligations under such an agreement.

(0 The Company shall notify each Holder of Registiable Securities covered by
such registration statement at any time when a prospectus relating thereto is required to be
delivered under the Act of the happening of any event as a result of wlu'ch the prospectus
included in such registration statement, as then in effect, includes an untrue statement of a
material fact or omits to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make
the statements therein not misleading in the light of the circumstances then existing.

(g) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall have no obligation with
respect to any registration requested pursuant to Sections 1.2 or 1.13 if the number of shares or
the anticipated aggregate offering price of the Registrable Securities to be included in the
registration does not equal or exceed the number of shares or the anticipated aggregate offering
price required to trigger the Company's obligation to initiate such registration as specified in
subsection 1.2(a) or subsection 1.13(b)(iii), as applicable.

JFM3M.R4(5PJ)
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1.5 Obligations of the Investors.

(a) It shall be a condition precedent to the obligations of the Company to take
any action pursuant to this Section 1 with respect to the Registrable Securities of any selling
Holder that such Holder shall furnish to the Company such information regarding itself, the
"Registrable Securities held by it, and the intended method of disposition of such securities as
shall be required to effect the registration of such Holder's Registrable Securities.

*
(b) In the event of any underwritten public offering, each Holder participating

in such underwriting shall enter into and perform its obligations under an underwriting
agreement in customary form with the managing underwriter of such offering.

1.6 Expenses of Demand Registration. All expenses other than underwriting discounts
and commissions incurred in connection with registrations, filings or qualifications pursuant to
Section 1.2, including (without limitation) all registration, filing and qualification fees, printers'
and accounting fees, fees and disbursements of counsel for the Company and the reasonable fees
and disbursements of one counsel for the selling Holders not to exceed $25,000, shall be borne
by the Company; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to pay for any
expenses of any registration proceeding begun pursuant to Section 1.2 if the registration request
is subsequently withdrawn at the request of the Holders of a majority of the Registrable
Securities to be registered (in which case all participating holders shall bear such expenses on a
pro rata basis), unless the Holders of at least a majority of the Registrable Securities then
outstanding agree to forfeit their right to one demand registration pursuant to Section 1.2;
provided further, however, that if at the time of such withdrawal, the Holders have learned of a
material adverse change in the operating results, financial condition or business of the Company
from that known to the Holders at the time of the request and have withdrawn the request with
promptness following disclosure by the Company of such material adverse change, then the
Holders shall not be required to pay any of such expenses and shall retain their rights pursuant
to Section 1.2.

1.7 Expenses of Company Registration. The Company shall bear and pay all expenses
incurred in connection with any registration, filing or qualification of Registrable Securities with
respect to the registrations pursuant to Section 1.3 for each Holder (which right may be assigned
as provided in Section 1.14), including (without limitation) all registration, filing, and
qualification fees, fees and disbursements of Company counsel, printers' and accounting fees
relating or apportionable thereto and the reasonable fees and disbursements of one counsel for
the selling Holders not to exceed $25,000, but excluding underwriting discounts and
commissions relating to Registrable Securities.

1.8 Underwriting Requirements.

(a) In connection with any offering involving an underwriting of shares of the
Company's capital stock, the Company shall not be required under Section 1.3 to include any of
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the Holders' securities in such underwriting unless they accept the terms of the underwriting as
agreed upon between the Company and the underwriters selected by it (or by other persons
entitled to select the underwriters), and then only in such quantity as the underwriters determine
in their sole discretion will not, due to marketing factors, jeopardize the success of the offering

J>y the Company.

(b) If the total amount of securities, including Registrable Securities, requested
by stockholders to be included in such offering exceeds the amount of securities sold other than
by the Company that the underwriters determine in their sole discretion is compatible with the
success of the offering, then the Company shall be required to include in the offering only that
number of such securities, including Registrable Securities, which the underwriters determine in
their sole discretion will not jeopardize the success of the offering (the securities so included to
be apportioned pro rata among the Holders requesting inclusion in such registration according to
the total amount of securities entitled to be included therein owned by each such Holder on a pro
rata basis); provided, however, that any such limitation or "cut-back" shall be first applied to all
shares proposed to be sold in such offering, other than for the account of the Company, which
are not Registrable Securities.

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 1.8, in no event
shall the amount of securities of the selling Holders requested to be included in any offering
under Section 1.3 be reduced below thirty percent (30%) of the total amount of securities
included in such offering, unless such offering is the initial public offering of the Company's
equity securities, in which case the Holders may be excluded entirely if the underwriters make
the determination described above and if no other securities held by a stockholder of the
Company are included.

1-9 Withdrawal Rights a.nd Reallocation. If any Holder disapproves of the terms of
any such underwriting, such Holder may elect to withdraw therefrom by written notice to the
Company and the underwriters. If such Holder's shares are withdrawn from registration, or if
the number of shares of Registrable Securities was previously reduced due to marketing factors,
the Company shall offer to all Holders retaining the right to include securities in the registration
the right to include additional Registrable Securities in the registration, with such shares being
allocated on a pro rata basis among the Holders of Registrable Securities.

1 • 10 Delay of Registration. No Holder shall have any right to obtain or seek an
injunction restraining or otherwise delaying any such registration as the result of any controversy
that might arise with respect to the interpretation or implementation of this Section 1.
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1.11 Indemnification. In the event any Registrable Securities are included in a
registration statement under this Section 1:

(a) To the extent permitted by law, the Company will indemnify and hold
harmless each Holder, the officers, directors and general partners of each Holder, any

"underwriter (as defined in the Act) for such Holder and each person, if any, who controls such
Holder or underwriter within the meaning of the Act or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the "1934 Act"), against any losses, claims, damages, or liabilities (joint or several) to
which they may become subject under the Act, the 1934 Act or other federal or state law,
including any of the foregoing incurred in settlement of any litigation, commenced or threatened,
insofar as such losses, claims, damages, or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) arise out of
or are based upon any of the following statements, omissions or violations (each of which is
referred to herein as a "Violation"):

(i) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact
contained in such registration statement, including any prospectus subject to completion or final
prospectus contained therein or any amendments or supplements thereto;

(ii) the omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact
required to be stated therein, or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading; or

(iii) any violation or alleged violation by the Company of the Act, the
1934 Act, any state securities law or any rule or regulation promulgated under the Act, the 1934
Act or any state securities laws. In addition, the Company will promptly reimburse each such
Holder, officer, director or general partner, underwriter or controlling person for any legal or
other expenses reasonably incurred by them, on an as-incurred basis, in connection with
investigating or defending any such loss, claim, damage, liability, or action.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the indemnity provisions contained in this Section 1.11 (a)
shall not apply to amounts paid in settlement of any such loss, claim, damage, liability, or action
if such settlement is effected without the written consent of the Company (which consent shall
not be unreasonably withheld), nor shall the Company be liable in any such case for any such
loss, claim, damage, liability, or action to the extent that it arises out of or is based upon a
Violation that results from reliance upon written information furnished expressly for use in
connection with such registration by any such Holder, officer, director, general partner,
underwriter or controlling person.

(b) To the extent permitted by law, each selling Holder shall indemnify and
hold harmless the Company, each of its directors, each of its officers who have signed the
registration statement, each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of the
Act, any underwriter and any Holder selling securities in such registration statement or any of its
directors, officers or general partners or each person, if any, who controls such Holder, against
any losses, claims, damages, or liabilities (joint or several) to which the Company (or any
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director, officer, controlling person), or underwriter (or controlling person), or Holder (or
director, officer, general partner or controlling person thereof) may become subject, under the
Act, the 1934 Act or other federal or state law, insofar as such losses, claims, damages, or
liabilities (or action in respect thereto) arise out of or are based upon any Violation, in each case
to the extent (and only to the extent) that such Violation results from idiance upon written
Information furnished by such Holder expressly for use in connection with such registration.

Each such Holder will promptly reimburse any legal or other expenses reasonably
incurred, on an as-incurred basis, by the Company (or any director, officer, controlling person),
underwriter (or controlling person), Holder (or any director, officer, general partner, or
controlling person thereof) in connection with investigating or defending any such loss, claim,
damage, liability, or action; provided, however, that the indemnity agieement contained in this
Section l . l l (b) shall not apply to amounts paid in settlement of any such loss, claim, damage,
liability or action if such settlement is effected without the written consent of the Holder, which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the liability of each Holder under this Section 1.1 l(b)
shall be limited to an amount equal to the aggregate proceeds of the shares sold by such Holder
in the offering pursuant to which the Violation is claimed to have occurred, unless such liability
arises out of or is based on willful misconduct of such Holder.

(c) Within a reasonable time after receipt by an indemnified patty of notice of
the commencement of any action (including any governmental action) under this Section 1.11,
such indemnified party shall, if a claim in respect thereof is to be made against any indemnifying
party under this Section 1.11, deliver to the indemnifying party a written notice of the
commencement thereof. Such indemnifying party shall have the right to participate in and
subject to the consent of the indemnified party, which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld, the indemnifying parry shall have the right to enter into settlement of such action, and,
to the extent the indemnifying party so desires, jointly with any other indemnifying party
similarly noticed, to assume the defense of such action with counsel mutually satisfactory to the
parties; provided, however, that the indemnified party shall cooperate with the indemnifying
party, and that if representation of an indemnified party by the counsel retained by the
indemnifying party would be inappropriate due to actual or potential differing interests between
such indemnified party and any other party represented by such counsel in such proceeding, such
indemnified party shall have the right to retain its own counsel, with the reasonable fees and
reasonable expenses to be paid by the indemnifying party.

The failure of an indemnified party to deliver written notice to the indemnifying party
within a reasonable time of the commencement of any such action, if such failure is prejudicial
to the indemnifying party, shall relieve such indemnifying party of any liability to the
indemnified party under this Section 1.11 to the extent such party is prejudiced. However, the
omission of the indemnified party to deliver such written notice to the indemnifying party will
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not relieve such indemnifying party of any liability that it may have to any indemnified party
otherwise than under this Section 1.11.

(d) If the indemnification provided for in this Section 1.11 is held by a court
of competent jurisdiction to be unavailable to an indemnified party with respect to any loss,
Tlaim, damage, liability, or action referred to therein, then the indemnifying party, in lieu of
indemnifying such indemnified party hereunder, shall contribute to the amount paid or payable
by such indemnified party as a result of such loss, claim, damage, liability or action in such
proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the indemnifying party on the one hand
and of the indemnified party on the other in connection with the statements or omissions that
resulted in such loss, claim, damage, liability or action as well as any other relevant equitable
considerations. The relative fault of the indemnifying party and of the indemnified party shall be
determined by reference to, among other things, whether the violation of law or the untrue or
alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission to state a material fact relates to acts
of or information supplied by the indemnifying party and the parties' relative intent, knowledge,
access to information, and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission.

(e) Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that the provisions on
indemnification and contribution contained in the underwriting agreement entered into in
connection with the underwritten public offering are in conflict with the foregoing provisions,
the provisions in the underwriting agreement shall control.

(f) The obligations of the Company and of the Holders under this Section 1.11
shall survive the conversion, if any, of the Series A, B or C Preferred Stock and the completion
of any offering of Registrable Securities in a registration statement under this Section 1 or
otherwise.

1.12 Reports Under the 1934 Act. With a view to making available to the Holders the
benefits of Rule 144 promulgated under the Act and any other rule or regulation of the SEC that
may at any time permit a Holder to sell securities of the Company to the public without
registration or pursuant to a registration on Form S-3, the Company agrees:

(a) to make and keep public information available, as those terms are defined
under SEC Rule 144, at all times after ninety (90) days after the effective date of the first
registration statement filed by the Company for the offering of its securities to the general
public;

(b) to take such action, including the voluntary registration of the Company's
Common Stock under Section 12 of the 1934 Act, as is necessary to enable the Holders to utilize
Form S-3, subject to Section 1.13 herein, for the sale of their Registrable Securities, such action
to be taken as soon as practicable after the end of the fiscal year in which the first registration
statement filed by the Company for the offering of its securities to the general public is declared
effective;
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(c) to file with the SEC all reports and other documents required of the
Company under the Act and the 1934 Act in a timely manner; and

(d) to furnish to any Holder, so long as such Holder owns Registrable
Securities, forthwith upon request (i) a written statement by the Company that it has complied
vvith the reporting requirements of SEC Rule 144 (at any time after ninety (90) days after the
effective date of the first registration statement filed by the Company), the Act and the 1934 Act
(at any time after it has become subject to such reporting requirements), or that it qualifies as a
registrant whose securities may be resold pursuant to Form S-3 (at any time after it so qualifies),
(ii) a copy of the Company's most recent annual or quarterly report and (in) such other
infonnation as may be reasonably requested by such Holder in order to avail itself of any rule or
regulation of the SEC that permits the selling of any such securities without registration or
pursuant to such Form S-3.

1.13 Form S-3 Registration. In case the Company shall receive from any Holder or
Holders holding in the aggregate at least twenty-five percent (25%) of the Registrable Securities,
a written request that the Company effect a registration on Form S-3 and any related
qualification or compliance with respect to all or a part of the Registrable Securities owned by
such Holder or Holders, the Company shall comply with the following obligations:

(a) The Company shall promptly give written notice of the proposed
registration, and any related qualification or compliance, to all other Holders. In the event the
registration is proposed to be part of a firm commitment underwritten public offering, the
substantive provisions of paragraph (b) of Section 1.2 hereof shall be applicable to each such
registration initiated under this Section 1.13.

(b) As soon as practicable, the Company shall effect such registration and all
such qualifications and compliances as may be so requested and as would pennit or facilitate the
sale and distribution of all or such portion of such Holder's or Holders' Registrable Securities as
are specified in such request, together with all or such portion of the Registrable Securities of
any other Holder or Holders joining in such request as are specified in a written request given
within 15 days after receipt of such written notice from the Company. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Company shall not be obligated to effect any such registration, qualification or
compliance, pursuant to this Section 1.13 if: (i) Form S-3 is not available for such offering by
the Holders; (ii) the Holders, together with the holders of any other securities of the Company
entitled to inclusion in such registration, propose to sell Registrable Securities and such other
securities (if any) at an aggregate price to the public of less than $1,000,000; (iii) the Company
furnishes to the Holders a certificate signed by the President of the Company stating that in the
good faith judgment of the Board of Directors of the Company, it would be seriously detrimental
to the Company and its stockholders for such Form S-3 registration to be effected at such time,
in which event the Company shall have the right to defer the filing of the Form S-3 registration
statement for a period of not more than 120 days after receipt of the request of the Holder or
Holders under this Section 1.13; (iv) the Company has, within the twelve (12) month period
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preceding the date of such request, already effected a registration on Form S-3 for the Holders
pursuant to this Section 1.13; (v) the Company would be required to qualify to do business or to
execute a general consent to service of process in effecting such registration, qualification or
compliance in a particular jurisdiction; or (vi) a registration statement respecting securities of the
Company has been declared effective within 180 days of such request.

(c) Subject to the foregoing, the Company shall file a registration statement
covering the Registrable Securities so requested to -be registered as soon as practicable after
receipt of the request or requests of the Holders. All expenses incurred in connection with the
registrations requested pursuant to this Section 1.13, including (without limitation) all
registration, filing, qualification, printers' and accounting fees, reasonable fees and
disbursements of one counsel for the selling Holder or Holders and counsel for the Company,
but excluding any underwriters' discounts or commissions associated with Registrable Securities,
shall be borne by the Company. Registrations effected pursuant to this Section 1.13 shall not be
counted as demands for registration or registrations effected pursuant to Sections 1.2 or 1.3,
respectively.

1.14 Assignment °f Registration Rights. The rights to cause the Company to register
Registrable Securities granted under this Section 1 may be assigned by a Holder to a transferee
or assignee who acquires (i) 100,000 shares (as adjusted for stock splits, combinations, dividends
and the like) of the Registrable Securities held by such Holder or, if less, (ii) all of the
Registrable Securities then held by such Holder, provided in either case, the Company is, within
a reasonable time prior to such transfer, furnished with written notice of the name and address of
such proposed transferee or assignee and the securities with respect to which such registration
rights are being assigned: provided further that such assignment shall be effective only if the
transferee enters into a written agreement providing that such transferee shall be bound by the
provisions of Section 1 of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision
contained herein to the contrary, the right to cause the Company to register Registrable
Securities may be assigned by a Holder to any constituent partner of a partnership Holder and
any affiliate, subsidiary or parent of a corporate Holder provided that such transferee agrees in
writing to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

1.15 "Market Stand-Off Agreement.

Each Investor hereby agrees that it shall not, to the extent specified by the Company and
an underwriter of Common Stock (or other securities) of the Company, sell, offer to sell,
contract to sell (including without limitation any short sale), grant any option to purchase or
otherwise transfer or dispose of (other than to donees who agree to be similarly bound) any
securities of the Company (other than securities already registered) during a reasonable and
customary period of time not to exceed one hundred and eighty (180) days, as agreed to by the
Company and the underwriters, following the effective date of the initial registration statement of
the Company filed under the Act or any subsequent registration filed by the Company for a
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period of two (2) years following the initial registration statement; provided, however, that all
officers and directors of the Company enter into similar agreements.

In order to enforce the foregoing covenant, the Company may impose stop transfer
instructions with respect to the securities of each Holder (and the shares or securities of every

"other person subject to the foregoing restriction) until the end of such one hundred and eighty
(180) day period.

1.16 Termination of the Company's Obligations. The rights to cause the Company to
register securities granted to Holders pursuant to Sections 1.2 and 1.3 shall terminate as to any
Holder, on the earlier of (i) three years following the consummation of the Company's initial
public offering or (ii) such time as the Holder can provide an opinion acceptable to counsel to
the Company that such Holder has the ability to sell all of the Registrable Securities owned by
such stockholder under SEC Rule 144 within a six-month period.

1.17 Limitations on Subsequent Registration Rights. From and after the date of this
Agreement, the Company shall not, without the prior written consent of the Holders of a
majority of the outstanding Registrable Securities, enter into any agreement with any holder or
prospective holder of any securities of the Company which would allow such holder or
prospective holder (i) to include such securities in any registration filed under Section 1.2 or 1.3
hereof, unless under the terms of such agreement, such holder or prospective holder may include
such securities in any such registration only to the extent that the inclusion of his securities will
not reduce the amount of the Registrable Securities of the Holders which is included or (ii) to
make a demand registration which could result in such registration statement being declared
effective prior to the earlier of either of the dates set forth in subsection 1 -2(a) or within one
hundred twenty (120) days of the effective date of any registration effected pursuant to
Section 1.2.

2.0 COVENANTS.

2.1 Delivery of Financial Statements. The Company shall, as soon as practicable, but
in any event within ninety (90) days after the end of each fiscal year of the Company, furnish to
each Investor a consolidated profit and loss statement for such fiscal year, a consolidated balance
sheet of the Company and a consolidated statement of stockholders' equity as of the end of such
year, and a consolidated statement of cash flows for such year, such year-end financial reports to
be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and audited and
certified by independent public accountants of nationally recognized standing selected by the
Company.

2.2 Additional Information Rights. The Company shall furnish each Investor holding
at least 100,000 shares of Series A, B or C Preferred Stock (including any shares of Common
Stock issued upon the conversion of such Series A, B or C Preferred Stock):
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(a) within thirty (30) days of the end of each month, an unaudited consolidated
profit and loss statement, consolidated statement of cash flows and consolidated balance sheet for
and as of the end of such month, and comparison to year-end results (if any) and projections (if
any), all in reasonable detail;

(b) as soon as practicable, but in any event fifteen (15) days prior to the end of
each fiscal year, a budget and business plan for the next fiscal year, prepared on a monthly
basis, including balance sheets and statements of cash flows for such months and, as soon as
prepared, any other budgets or revised budgets prepared by the Company;

(c) such other information relating to the financial condition, business,
prospects or corporate affairs of the Company as an Investor or any assignee of an Investor may
from time to time request, provided, however, that (subject to any individual's right to
information by virtue of such individual's position as a director of the Company) the Company
shall not be obligated under this subsection (c) or any other subsection of this Section 2.2 to
provide information which it reasonably deems in good faith to be a trade secret or similar
confidential information; and

(d) such written information and financial statements as may be required to
enable such Investor to resell any shares of the Company's stock under Rule 144A promulgated
under the Act, or any successor statute or regulation.

2.3 Limitation on Information Rights. The rights to receive financial information set
forth in Sections 2.1 and 2.2 above may be assigned by each Investoi to a subsequent transferee
or assignee of at least 100,000 shares (as adjusted for stock splits, combinations, dividends and
the like) of such Investor's Series A, B or C Preferred Stock (or Common Stock issued upon
conversion of such Series A, B or C Preferred Stock, or a combination thereof) or, if less, all of
such Investor's Series A, B or C Preferred Stock (including any shares of Common Stock issued
upon the conversion of such Series A, B or C Preferred Stock), provided that the transferee or
assignee of such rights is not deemed by the Board of Directors, in its reasonable judgment, to
be a current or potential competitor of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any
other provision contained herein to the contrary, the information rights contained in Section 2.1
and 2.2 above may be assigned by a Holder to any constituent partner of a partnership Holder or
any affiliate, subsidiary or parent of a corporate Holder provided that such transferee agrees in
writing to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

2.4 Inspection. The Company shall permit each Investor, at such Investor's expense,
to visit and inspect the Company's properties, to examine its books of account and corporate
records and to discuss the Company's affairs, finances and accounts with its officers, alt at such
reasonable times as may be requested by the Investor; provided, however, that the Company
shall not be obligated pursuant to this Section 2.4 to provide access to any information which it
reasonably deems in good faith to be a trade secret or confidential information.
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2.5 Right of First Refusal. The Company hereby grants to each Holder who owns
any Series A, B or C Preferred Stock (the "Shares") or any shares of Common Stock issued
upon conversion of the Shares, the right of first refusal to purchase a pro rata share of New
Securities (as defined in this Section 2.4) which die Company may, from time to time, propose
to sell and issue. A Holder's pro rata share, for purposes of this right of first refusal, is the
Htio of the number of shares of Common Stock owned by such Holder immediately prior to the
issuance of New Securities, assuming full conversion of the Shares, to the total number of shares
of Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to the issuance of New Securities, assuming
full conversion of the Shares and exercise of all outstanding rights, options and warrants to
acquire Common Stock of the Company. This right of first refusal shall be subject to the
following provisions:

(a) "New Securities" shall mean any capital stock (including Common Stock
and/or Preferred Stock) of the Company whether now authorized or not, and rights, options or
warrants to purchase such capital stock, and securities of any type whatsoever that are, or may
become, convertible into capital stock; provided that the term "New Securities" does not include
(i) Series A or B Preferred Stock; (ii) Series C Preferred Stock sold pursuant to the Series C
Agreement; (iii) securities issued upon conversion of the Shares; (iv) securities issued pursuant
to the acquisition of another business entity or business segment of any such entity by the
Company by merger, purchase of substantially all the assets or other reorganization whereby the
Company will own not less than fifty-one percent (51 %) of the voting power of such business
entity or business segment of any such entity; (v) any borrowing, direct or indirect, from
financial institutions or other persons by die Company, whether or not presently authorized,
including any type of loan or payment evidenced by any type of debt instrument, provided that
such borrowing does not have any equity features including warrants, options or other rights to
purchase capital stock and are not convertible into capital stock of the Company; (vi) securities
issued to employees, consultants, officers or directors of the Company, other than James C.
Clark, James L. Barksdale or Marc L. Andreessen, pursuant to any stock option, stock purchase
or stock bonus plan, agreement or arrangement approved by the Board of Directors;
(vii) securities issued to James H. Clark, James L. Barksdale or Marc L. Andreessen, provided
such issuance is approved by a majority of the non-employee members of the Board of Directors
(excluding Messrs. Clark, Barksdale and Andreessen); (viii) securities issued in connection with
obtaining lease financing, whether issued to a lessor, guarantor or other person and is for
purposes other than equity financing of the Company; (ix) securities issued in a firm
commitment underwritten public offering pursuant to a registration under the Act, provided that
in connection therewith all of the outstanding shares of the Company's Preferred Stock are
automatically converted into Common Stock pursuant to either clause (A) or clause (B) of
paragraph (b) of Section 3 of Part B of Article IV of the Company's Restated Certificate of
Incorporation; (x) securities issued in connection with any stock split, stock dividend or
recapitalization of the Company so long as such issuance results in adjustments to the conversion
rate under the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company with respect to the Preferred
Stock; and (xi) any right, option or warrant to acquire any security convertible into the securities
excluded from the definition of New Securities pursuant to subsections (i) through (x) above.
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(b) In the event the Company proposes to undertake an issuance of New
Securities, it shall give each Holder written notice of its intention, describing the type of New
Securities, and their price and the general terms upon which the Company proposes to issue the
same. Each Holder shall have twenty (20) days after any such notice is effective to agree to
purchase up to such Holder's pro rata share of such New Securities for the price and upon the
terms specified in the notice by giving written notice to the Company and stating therein the
quantity of New Securities to be purchased.

*
(c) In the event the Holders fail to exercise the right of first refusal, in full or

in part, within said twenty <20)-day period, the Company shall have sixty (60) days thereafter to
sell or enter into an agreement (pursuant to which the sale of New Securities covered thereby
shall be closed, if at all, within sixty (60) days from the date of said agreement) to sell the New
Securities respecting which the Holders* right of fust refusal option set forth in this Section 2.4
was not exercised, at a price and upon terms no more favorable to the purchasers thereof than
specified in the Company's notice to Holders pursuant to Section 2.4(b). In the event the
Company has not sold within said 60-day period or entered into an agreement to sell the New
Securities within said 60-day period (or sold and issued New Securities in accordance with the
foregoing within sixty (60) days from the date of said agreement), the Company shall not
thereafter issue or sell any New Securities, without first again offering such securities to the
Holders in the manner provided in Section 2.4(b) above.

(d) The right of first refusal granted under this Agreement shall expire upon,
and shall not be applicable to, the first sale of Common Stock of the Company to the public
effected pursuant to a registration statement filed with, and declared effective by, the SEC under
the Act; provided that in connection therewith all of the outstanding shares of die Company's
Preferred Stock are automatically converted into Common Stock pursuant to either clause (A) or
clause (B) of paragraph (b) of Section 3 of Part B of Article IV of the Company's Restated
Certificate of Incorporation.

(e) The right of first refusal set forth in this Section 2.5 may be assigned by a
Holder to a transferee or assignee who acquires (i) 100,000 shares (as adjusted for stock splits,
combinations, dividends and the like) of the Series A, B or C Preferred Stock (or Common
Stock issued upon conversion of such Series A, B or C Preferred Stock, or a combination
thereof) held by such Holder or, if less, (ii) all of the Series A, B or C Preferred Stock (or
Common Stock issued upon conversion of such Series A, B or C Preferred Stock, or a
combination thereof) then held by such Holder, provided in either case, the Company is, within
a reasonable time prior to such transfer, furnished with written notice of the name and address of
such proposed transferee or assignee and the securities with respect to which such rights of first
refusal are being assigned; provided further that such assignment shall be effective only if the
transferee enters into a written agreement providing that such transferee shall be bound by the
provisions of Section 2.5 of this Agreement. Notwithstanding die foregoing or any other
provision contained herein to the contrary, the right of first refusal may be assigned by a Holder
to any constituent partner of a partnership Holder and any affiliate, subsidiary or parent of a
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corporate Holder provided that such transferee agrees in writing to be bound by the terms and
conditions of this Agreement.

2.6 Voting Agreement with Respect to the Board of Directors.

~ (a) Each holder of outstanding Series C Preferred Stock (a "Series C Stockholder")
agrees to vote, or cause to be voted, all of the shares of Series C Preferred Stock registered in
its name in favor of and in order to elect a nominee reasonably acceptable to the Company's
Board of Directors as the director which the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock are entitled
to elect to the Company's Board of Directors pursuant to paragraph (b) of Section 5 of Part B of
Article IV of the Company's Restated Certificate of Incorporation. Each Series C Stockholder
further agrees that the director elected to fill any vacancy created in respect of the director so
elected by the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock shall be reasonably acceptable to the
Company's Board of Directors.

(b) All certificates representing any Series C Preferred Stock subject to the provisions
of this Agreement shall have endorsed thereon a legend to substantially the following effect:

"THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE
SUBJECT TO VOTING COVENANTS AS SET FORTH IN THAT
CERTAIN INVESTORS' RIGHTS AGREEMENT DATED APRIL 5, 1995, A
COPY OF WHICH MAY BE OBTAINED AT NO COST BY WRITTEN
REQUEST MADE BY THE HOLDER OF RECORD OF THIS
CERTIFICATE TO THE SECRETARY OF THE CORPORATION AT THE
PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF THE CORPORATION."

2.7 Termination of Covenants. Unless terminated earlier, the covenants set forth in
these Sections 2.1, 2.2 and 2.4 shall terminate and be of no further force or effect upon the first
occurrence when the sale of securities, pursuant to a registration statement filed by the Company
under the Act in connection with the firm commitment underwritten offering of its securities to
the general public, is consummated or when the Company first becomes subject to the periodic
reporting requirements of Section 13 of the 1934 Act, or five years from the date hereof.

3.0 MISCELLANEOUS.

3.1 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed under the
laws of the State of California as applied to agreements among California residents, made and to
be performed entirely within the State of California.

3.2 Successors and Assigns. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the
provisions hereof shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the successors, assigns,
heirs, executors, and administrators of the parties hereto (including transferees of any shares of
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Series A. B or C Preferred Stock sold under their respective stock puichase agreements or any
Common Stock issued upon conversion thereof).

3.3 Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the full and entire understanding
jind agreement among the parties with regard to the subject matter hereof, and no party shall be
liable or bound to any other party in any manner by any representations, warranties, covenants,
or agreements except as specifically set forth herein. Nothing in this Agreement, express or
implied, is intended to confer upon any party, other than the parties hereto and their respective
successors and assigns, any rights, remedies, obligations, or liabilities under or by reason of this
Agreement, except as expressly provided herein.

3.4 Severabilitv. Any invalidity, illegality, or limitation of the enforceability with
respect to any Investor of any one or more of the provisions of this Agreement, or any part
thereof, whether arising by reason of the law of any such Investor's domicile or otherwise, shall
in no way affect or impair the validity, legality, or enforceability of this Agreement with respect
to any other Investor. In case any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal, or
unenforceable, it shall, to the extent practicable, be modified so as to make it valid, legal and
enforceable and to retain as nearly as practicable the intent of the parties, and the validity,
legality, and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or
impaired thereby.

3.5 Amendment and Waiver. Any term of this Agreement may be amended and the
observance of any term of this Agreement may be waived (either generally or in a particular
instance and either retroactively or piospectively) only with the written consent of the Company
and the Holders of a majority of the Preferred Stock (or the Registrable Securities issued upon
conversion thereof) then outstanding voting together as a class on an as converted basis,
provided that the effect of such amendment or waiver is to treat all Holders equally. Any
amendment or waiver effected in accordance with this paragraph shall be binding upon each
Holder of Registrable Securities at the time outstanding (including securities exercisable for or
convertible into Registrable Securities), each future holder of all such securities, and the
Company.

3.6 Delays or Omissions. No delay or omission to exercise any right,'power, or
remedy accruing to any Investor or any permitted transferee upon any breach, default or
noncompliance of the Company under this Agreement shall impair any such right, power, or
remedy, nor shall it be construed to be a waiver of any such breach, default or noncompliance,
or any acquiescence therein, or of any similar breach, default or noncompliance thereafter
occurring. It is further agreed that any waiver, permit, consent, or approval of any kind or
character on the Investors' part of any breach, default or noncompliance under this Agreement
or any waiver on the Investors' part of any provisions or conditions of this Agreement must be
in writing and shall be effective only to the extent specifically set forth in such writing, and that
all remedies, either under this Agreement, by law, or otherwise afforded to each Investor, shall
be cumulative and not alternative.
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3.7 Notices, etc. Unless otherwise provided, any notice required or permitted under
this Agreement shall be given to the party to be so notified in writing and shall be deemed
effective upon personal delivery, upon delivery by confirmed facsimile or electronic transmission
(with duplicate original sent by United States mail), or three business days after deposit with the
United States Post Office, by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid and addressed to the

"party to be notified at the address indicated for such party on Schedule A hereto (or, if to the
Company, at the address of its principal executive offices), or at such other address as such
party may designate by ten (10) days' advance written notice to the other parties.

3.8 Titles and Subtitles. The titles of the paragraphs and subparagraphs of this
Agreement are for convenience of reference only and are not to be considered in construing this
Agreement.

3.9 Expenses. If any action at law or in equity is necessary to enforce or interpret the
terms of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees,
expenses and necessary disbursements in addition to any other relief to which such party may be
entitled.

3.10 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts,
each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one
instrument.

3.11 Aggregation of Stock. All shares of Preferred Stock held or acquired by affiliated
entities or persons shall be aggregated together for the purposes of determining the availability of
any right under this Agreement.

3.12 Prior Agreement. This Agreement supersedes and replaces the Amended and
Restated Investors' Rights Agreement between the Company and certain of the Investors dated as
of December 9, 1994.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Second Amended and Restated
Investors' Rights Agreement as of the date first above written.

COMPANY:

~ NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

By:
James L. Barksdale, President and

Chief Executive Officer

Address: 501 East Middle field Road
Mountain View, CA 94043
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NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

SIGNATURE PAGE

TO

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED INVESTORS' RIGHTS AGREEMENT

The undersigned hereby executes and delivers the Second Amended and Restated Investors'
Rights Agreement (the "Agreement") to which this Signature Page is attached effective as of the
date of die Agreement, which Agreement and Signature Page, together with all counterparts of
said Agreement and Signature Pages of the other parties named in said Agreement, shall
constitute one and the same document in accordance with the terms of said Agreement.

Name of Stockholder

By:.

Print Name:

Tide:
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SCHEDULE A

Schedule of Investors

Name and Address

Kleiner Perkins Caufield & Byers VII
4 Embarcadero Center, #3520
San Francisco, CA 94111

KPCB VII Founders Fund
4 Embarcadero Center, #3520
San Francisco, CA 94111

James H. Clark
c/o Netscape Communications Corporation
501 East Middlefield Road
Mountain View, CA 94043

John Kohler
16033 Matilija Drive
Los Gatos, CA 95030

James Sha
18 Valley Oak
Portola Valley, CA 94028

RSA Data Security, Inc.
100 Marine Parkway, #500
Redwood City, CA 94065

Paul Koontz
109 Los Charros Lane
Portola Valley, CA 94028

Robert V. Gunderson, Jr.
2200 Geng Road
Two Embarcadero Place
Palo Alto, CA 94303

Number of Shares of Preferred Stock

Series A

4,000,000

66,000

25,000

60,000

Series B

1,980.000

220,000

500,000

44,444

75.000

11,111

4,445

Series C
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Name and Address

-Cliff Friedman
Bear, Stearns & Co.
245 Park Avenue, 12th Floor
New York, NY 10167

Scott Siegler
558 North Bristol Avenue
Los Angeles, CA 90049

TCI Netscape Holdings, Inc.
c/o TCI Technology Ventures
Terrace Tower II
5619 DTC Parkway
Englewood, CO 80111-3000
Attention: Charles Moldow

The Times Mirror Company
Times Mirror Square
220 W. First Street
Los Angeles, CA 90012
Attention: Scott Whiteside

Michael Liebhold

Adobe Systems Incorporated
1585 Charleston Road
Mountain View, CA 94039-7900
Attention: Bruce Nakao

Colleen Pouliot, Esq.

Knight-Rtdder Investment Company
c/o Knight-Ridder, Inc.
One Herald Plaza
Miami. FL 33132
Attention: Tony Ridder

The Hearst Corporation
959 8th Avenue
New York, NY 10019
Attention: Steve Horen

Number of Shares of Preferred Stock

Series A Series B

11,111

11,111

Series C

444,445

444,445

444,445

222,223

222,223
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NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
PURCHASE AGREEMENT

AGREEMENT made as of this day of , 199_, by
and among Netscape Communications Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the

-"Corporation"), , the holder of a stock option ("Optionee") under the
Corporation's 1994 Stock Option Plan (the "Plan"), and , Optionee's
spouse.

All capitalized terms in this Agreement shall have the meaning assigned to
them in this Agreement or in the attached Appendix, unless otherwise indicated.

A. EXERCISE OF OPTION

1. Exercise. Optionee hereby purchases shares of Common
Stock (the "Purchased Shares") pursuant to that certain option (the "Option") granted
Optionee on (the "Grant Date") to purchase up to shares of
Common Stock under the Plan at the exercise price of $ per share (the "Exercise
Price").

2. Payment. Concurrently with the delivery of this Agreement to the
Corporate Secretary, Optionee shall pay the Exercise Price for the Purchased Shares in
accordance with the provisions of the Option Agreement and shall deliver whatever
additional documents may be required by the Option Agreement as a condition for exercise,
together with a duly-executed blank Assignment Separate from Certificate (in the form
attached hereto as Exhibit I) with respect to the Purchased Shares.

3. Delivery of Certificates. The certificates representing the Purchased
Shares hereunder which are subject to the Repurchase Right shall be held in escrow by the
Corporate Secretary in accordance with the provisions of Article G.

4. Stockholder Rights. Until such time as the Corporation actually
exercises its Repurchase Right, First Refusal Right or Special Purchase Right under this
Agreement, Optionee (or any successor in interest) shall have all the rights of a stockholder
(including voting, dividend and liquidation rights) with respect to the Purchased Shares,
including the Purchased Shares held in escrow under Article G, subject, however, to the
transfer restrictions of Article D.

B. SECURITIES LAW COMPLIANCE

1. Exemption from Registration. The Purchased Shares have not been
registered under the 1933 Act and are accordingly being issued to Optionee in reliance upon
the exemption from such registration provided by Rule 701 of the SEC for stock issuances
under compensatory benefit plans such as the Plan. Optionee hereby acknowledges receipt
of a*copy of the Plan in the form of Exhibit C to the Grant Notice.
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2. Restricted Securities.

(a) Optionee hereby confirms that Optionee has been informed that
the Purchased Shares are restricted securities under the 1933 Act and may not be resold or
transferred unless the Purchased Shares are first registered under the Federal securities laws
or unless an exemption from such registration is available. Accordingly, Optionee hereby

^acknowledges that Optionee is prepared to hold the Purchased Shares for an indefinite
period and that Optionee is aware that Rule 144 of the SEC issued under the 1933 Act is
not presently available to exempt the resale of the Purchased Shares from the registration
requirements of the 1933 Act.

(b) Upon the expiration of the ninety (90)-day period immediately
following the date on which the Corporation first becomes subject to the reporting
requirements of the Exchange Act, the Purchased Shares, to the extent vested under
Article £, may be sold (without registration) pursuant to the applicable requirements of
Rule 144. If Optionee is at the time of such sale an affiliate of the Corporation for
purposes of Rule 144 or was such an affiliate during the preceding three (3) months, then
the sale must comply with all the requirements of Rule 144 (including the volume limitation
on the number of shares sold, the broker/market-maker sale requirement and the requisite
notice to the SEC); however, the two (2)-year holding period requirement of Rule 144 will
not be applicable. If Optionee is not at the time of the sale an affiliate of the Corporation
nor was such an affiliate during the preceding three (3) months, then none of the
requirements of Rule 144 (other than the broker/market-maker sale requirement for
Purchased Shares held for less than three (3) years following payment in cash of the
Exercise Price therefor) will be applicable to the sale.

(c) Should the Corporation not become subject to the reporting
requirements of the Exchange Act, then Optionee may, provided he or she is not at the time
an affiliate of the Corporation (nor was such an affiliate during the preceding three (3)
months), sell the Purchased Shares (without registration) pursuant to paragraph (k) of
Rule 144 after the Purchased Shares have been held for a period of three (3) years
following the payment of the Exercise Price for such shares.

3. Disposition of Shares. Optionee hereby agrees that Optionee shall
make no disposition of the Purchased Shares (other than a permitted transfer under
paragraph D.I) unless and until there is compliance with all of the following requirements:

(i) Optionee shall have provided the Corporation with a
written summary of the terms and conditions of the proposed disposition,

(ii) Optionee shall have complied with all requirements of
this Agreement applicable to the disposition of the Purchased Shares.
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(iii) Optionee shall have provided the Corporation with
written assurances, in form and substance satisfactory to the Corporation, that
(a) the proposed disposition does not require registration of the Purchased
Shares under the 1933 Act or (b) all appropriate action necessary for
compliance with the registration requirements of the 1933 Act or of any
exemption from registration available under the 1933 Act (including Rule 144)
has been taken.

(iv) Optionee shall have provided the Corporation with
written assurances, in form and substance satisfactory to the Corporation, that
the proposed disposition will not result in the contravention of any transfer
restrictions applicable to the Purchased Shares pursuant to the provisions of
the Rules of the California Corporations Commissioner identified in
paragraph B.5.

The Corporation shall .not be required (i) to transfer on its books any
Purchased Shares which have been sold or transferred in violation of the provisions of this
Agreement S2L (ii) to treat as the owner of the Purchased Shares, or otherwise to accord
voting, dividend or liquidation rights to, any transferee to whom the Purchased Shares have
been transferred in contravention of this Agreement.

4. Restrictive Legends. In order to reflect the restrictions imposed by this
Agreement upon the disposition of the Purchased Shares, the stock certificates for the
Purchased Shares shall be endorsed with restrictive legends, including one or more of the
following legends:

(i) "The shares represented by this certificate have not been
registered under the Securities Act of 1933. The shares ma)' not be sold or
offered for sale in the absence of (a) an effective registration statement for
the shares under such Act, (b) a 'no action* letter of the Securities and
Exchange Commission with respect to such sale or offer or (c) satisfactory
assurances to the Corporation that registration under such Act is not required
with respect to such sale or offer."

(ii) "It is unlawful to consummate a sale or transfer of this
security, or any interest therein, or to receive any consideration therefor,
without the prior written consent of the Commissioner of Corporations of the
State of California, except as permitted in the Commissioner's Rules."

(iii) "The shares represented by this certificate are unvested
and accordingly may not be sold, assigned, transferred, encumbered, or in any
manner disposed of except in conformity with the terms of a written
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agreement dated ., 199_ between the Corporation and the
registered holder of the shares (or the predecessor in interest to the shares).
Such agreement grams certain repurchase rights and rights of first refusal to
the Corporation (or its assignees) upon the sale, assignment, transfer,
encumbrance or other disposition of the shares or upon termination of service
with the Corporation. A copy of such agreement is maintained at the
Corporation's principal corporate offices."

5. Receipt of Commissioner Rules. Optionee hereby acknowledges receipt
of a copy of Section 260.141.11 of the Rules of the California Corporations Commissioner,
a copy of which is attached as Exhibit II to this Agreement.

C. SPECIAL TAX ELECTION

1. Section 83fb) Election For Exercise of Non-Stafutorv Stock Option.
If the Purchased Shares are acquired hereunder pursuant to the exercise of a Non-Statutory
Option, as specified in the Grant Notice, then Optionee understands that under Code
Section 83, the excess of the Fair Market Value of the Purchased Shares on the date any
forfeiture restrictions applicable to such shares lapse over the Exercise Price paid for such
shares will be reportable as ordinary income on the lapse date. For this purpose, the term
"forfeiture restrictions" includes the right of the Corporation to repurchase the Purchased
Shares pursuant to the Repurchase Right provided under Article E. Optionee understands
that he/she may elect under Code Section 83(b) to be taxed at the time the Purchased
Shares are acquired hereunder, rather than when and as such Purchased Shares cease to be
subject to such forfeiture restrictions. Such election must be filed with the Internal Revenue
Service within thirty (30) days after the date of this Agreement. Even if the Fair Market
Value of the Purchased Shares on the date of this Agreement equals the Exercise Price paid
(and thus no tax is payable), the election must be made to avoid adverse tax consequences
in the future. THE FORM FOR MAKING THIS ELECTION IS ATTACHED AS EXHIBIT
HI HERETO. OPTIONEE UNDERSTANDS THAT FAILURE TO MAKE THIS FILING
WITHIN THE APPLICABLE THIRTY (30)-DAY PERIOD WILL RESULT IN THE
RECOGNITION OF ORDINARY INCOME BY OPTIONEE AS THE FORFEITURE
RESTRICTIONS LAPSE,

2. Conditional Section 83(b) Ejection For Exercise of Incentive Option.
If the Purchased Shares are acquired hereunder pursuant to the exercise of an Incentive
Option under the Federal tax laws, as specified in the Grant Notice, then the following tax
principles shall be applicable to the Purchased Shares:

(i) For regular tax purposes, no taxable income will be
recognized at the time the Option is exercised.
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(ii) The excess of (a) the Fair Market Value of the
Purchased Shares on the date the Option is exercised or (if later) on the date
any forfeiture restrictions applicable to the Purchased Shares lapse over (b)
the Exercise Price paid for the Purchased Shares will be includible in
Optionee's taxable income for alternative minimum tax purposes.

(iii) If Optionee makes a disqualifying disposition of the
Purchased Shares, then Optionee will recognize ordinary income in the year
of such disposition equal in amount to the excess of (a) the Fair Market
Value of the Purchased Shares on the date the Option is exercised or (if
later) on the date any forfeiture restrictions applicable to the Purchased
Shares lapse over (b) the Exercise Price paid for the Purchased Shares. Any
additional gain recognized upon the disqualifying disposition will be either
short-term or long-term capital gain depending upon the period for which the
Purchased Shares are held prior to the disposition.

(iv) For purposes of the foregoing, the term "forfeiture
restrictions" will include the right of the Corporation to repurchase the
Purchased Shares pursuant to the Repurchase Right under Article E. The
term "disqualifying disposition" means any sale or other disposition & of the
Purchased Shares within two (2) years after the Grant Date or within one (1)
year after the exercise date of the Option.

(v) In the absence of final Treasury Regulations relating to
Incentive Options, it is not certain whether Optionee may, in connection with
the exercise of the Option for any Purchased Shares at the time subject to
forfeiture restrictions, file a protective election under Code Section 83(b)
which would limit (a) Optionee's alternative minimum taxable income upon
exercise and (b) Optionee's ordinary income upon a disqualifying disposition
to the excess of the Fair Market Value of the Purchased Shares on the date
the Option is exercised over the Exercise Price paid for the Purchased Shares.
The appropriate form for making such a protective election is attached as
Exhibit in to this Agreement and must be filed with the Internal Revenue
Service within thirty (30) days after the date of this Agreement. However,

i / Generally, a disposition of shares purchased under an Incentive Option includes any
transfer of legal title, including a transfer by sale, exchange or gift, but does not
include a transfer to the Optionee's spouse, a transfer into joint ownership with right
of survivorship if Optionee remains one of the joint owners, a pledge, a transfer by
bequest or inheritance or certain tax free exchanges permitted under the Code.
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such election if properly filed will only be allowed to the extent the final
Treasury Regulations permit such a protective election.

3. FILING RESPONSIBILITY. OPTIONEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT
IT IS OPTIONEE'S SOLE RESPONSIBILITY, AND NOT THE CORPORATION'S, TO
FILE A TIMELY ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83<b), EVEN IF OPTIONEE REQUESTS

-THE CORPORATION OR ITS REPRESENTATIVES TO MAKE THIS FILING ON HIS
OR HER BEHALF.

D. TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

1. Restriction on Transfer. Optionee shall not transfer, assign, encumber
or otherwise dispose of any of the Purchased Shares which are subject to the Repurchase
Right under Article E. In addition, Purchased Shares which are released from the
Repurchase Right shall not be transferred, assigned, encumbered or otherwise made the
subject of disposition in contravention of the First Refusal Right under Article F or the
market stand-off provisions of paragraph D.3. Such restrictions on transfer, however, shall
iioj be applicable to (i) a gratuitous transfer of the Purchased Shares, provided and only if
Optionee obtains the Corporation's prior written consent to such transfer, (ii) a transfer of
title to the Purchased Shares effected pursuant to Optionee's will or the laws of intestate
succession or (iii) a transfer to the Corporation in pledge as security for any purchase-money
indebtedness incurred by Optionee in connection with the acquisition of the Purchased
Shares.

2. Transferee Obligations. Each person (other than the Corporation) to
whom the Purchased Shares are transferred by means of one of the permitted transfers
specified in paragraph D.I must, as a condition precedent to the validity of such transfer,
acknowledge in writing to the Corporation that such person is bound by the provisions of
this Agreement and that the transferred shares are subject to (i) both the Repurchase Right
and the First Refusal Right granted hereunder and (ii) the market stand-off provisions of
paragraph D.3, to the same extent such shares would be so subject if retained by Optionee.

3. Market Stand-OfT.

(a) In connection with any underwritten public offering by the
Corporation of its equity securities pursuant to an effective registration statement filed
under the 1933 Act, including the Corporation's initial public offering, Owner shall not sell,
make any short sale of, loan, hypothecate, pledge, grant any option for the purchase of, or
otherwise dispose or transfer for value or otherwise agree to engage in any of the foregoing
transactions with respect to, any Purchased Shares without the prior written consent of the
Corporation or its underwriters. Such limitations shall be in effect for such period of time
from and after the effective date of the final prospectus for the offering as may be requested
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by the Corporation or such underwriters; provided, however, that in no event shall such
period exceed one hundred eighty (180) days. The limitations of this paragraph D.3 shall
in all events terminate two (2) years after the effective date of the Corporation's initial
public offering.

(b) Owner shall be subject to the market stand-off provisions of this
.paragraph D.3 provided and only if the officers and directors of the Corporation are also
subject to similar arrangements.

(c) In the event of any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization,
combination of shares, exchange of shares or other change affecting the Corporation's
outstanding Common Stock effected as a class without the Corporation's receipt of
consideration, then any new, substituted or additional securities distributed with respect to
the Purchased Shares shall be immediately subject to the provisions of this paragraph D.3,
to the same extent the Purchased Shares are at such time covered by such provisions.

(d) In order to enforce the limitations of this paragraph D.3, the
Corporation may impose stop-transfer instructions with respect to the Purchased Shares until
the end of the applicable stand-off period.

E. REPURCHASE RIGHT

1. Grant. Hie Corporation is hereby granted the right (the "Repurchase
Right"), exercisable at any time during the sixty (60)-day period following the date Optionee
ceases for any reason to remain in Service or (if later) during the; sixty (60)-day period
following the execution date of this Agreement, to repurchase at the Exercise Price all or
(at the discretion of the Corporation and with the consent of Optionee) any portion of the
Purchased Shares in which Optionee is not, at the time of his or her cessation of Service,
vested in accordance with the vesting provisions of paragraph E.3 (such shares to be
hereinafter called the "Unvested Shares").

2. Exercise of the Repurchase Right. The Repurchase Right shall be
exercisable by written notice delivered to each Owner of the Unvested Shares prior to the
expiration of the applicable sixty (60)-day period specified in paragraph E.I. The notice
shall indicate the number of Unvested Shares to be repurchased and the date on which the
repurchase is to be effected, such date to be not more than thirty (30) days after the date
of notice. To the extent one or more certificates representing Unvested Shares may have
been previously delivered out of escrow to Owner, Owner shall, prior to the close of
business on the date specified for the repurchase, deliver to the Corporate Secretary the
certificates representing the Unvested Shares to be repurchased, each certificate to be
properly endorsed for transfer. The Corporation shall, concurrently with the receipt of such
stock certificates (either from escrow in accordance with paragraph G3 or from Owner as
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herein provided), pay to Owner in cash or cash equivalents (including the cancellation of
any purcbase-money indebtedness), an amount equal to the Exercise Price previously paid
for the Unvested Shares which are to be repurchased from Owner.

3. Termination of the Repurchase Right. The Repurchase Right shall
terminate with respect to any Unvested Shares for which it is not timely exercised under

^jaragraph E.2. In addition, the Repurchase Right shall terminate, and cease to be
exercisable, with respect to any and all Purchased Shares in wliich Optionee vests in
accordance with the vesting schedule specified in the Grant Notice. All Purchased Shares
as to which the Repurchase Right lapses shall, however, continue to be subject to (i) the
First Refusal Right of the Corporation and its assignees under Article F, (ii) the market
stand-off provisions of paragraph D.3 and (iii) the Special Purchase Right under Article H.

4. Aggregate Vesting Limitation. If the Option is exercised in more than
one increment so that Optionee is a party to one or more other Stock Purchase Agreements
("Prior Purchase Agreements") which are executed prior to the date of this Agreement, then
the total number of Purchased Shares as to which Optionee shall be deemed to have a fully-
vested interest under this Agreement and all Prior Purchase Agreements shall not exceed
in the aggregate the number of Purchased Shares in which Optionee would otherwise at the
time be vested, in accordance with the vesting provisions of paragraph E.3, had all the
Purchased Shares been acquired exclusively under this Agreement.

5. Fractional Shares. No fractional shares shall be repurchased by the
Corporation. Accordingly, should the Repurchase Right extend to a fractional share (in
accordance with the vesting provisions of paragraph E.3) at the time Optionee ceases
Service, then such fractional share shall be added to any fractional share in which Optionee
is at such time vested in order to make one whole vested share no longer subject to the
Repurchase Right.

6. Additional Shares or Substituted Securities. In the event of any stock
split, stock dividend, recapitalization, combination of shares, exchange of shares or other
change affecting the outstanding Common Stock as a class effected without the
Corporation's receipt of consideration, any new, substituted or additional securities or other
property (including money paid other than as a regular cash dividend) which is by reason
of any such transaction distributed with respect to the Purchased Shares shall be
immediately subject to the Repurchase Right, but only to the extent the Purchased Shares
are at the time covered by such right. Appropriate adjustments to reflect the distribution
of such securities or property shall be made to the number and/or class of Purchased Shares
subject to this Agreement and to the price per share to be paid upon the exercise of the
Repurchase Right in order to reflect the effect of any such transaction upon the
Corporation's capital structure: provided, however, that the aggregate price shall remain the
same.
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7. Corporate Transaction.

(a) Immediately prior to the consummation of a Corporate
Transaction, the Repurchase Right shall automatically lapse in its entirety, except to the
extent the Repurchase Right is to be assigned to the successor corporation (or its parent
company) in connection with such Corporate Transaction.

(b) To the extent the Repurchase Right remains in effect following
a Corporate Transaction, the right shall apply to the new capital stock or other property
(including cash paid other than as a regular cash dividend) received in exchange for the
Purchased Shares in consummation of the Corporate Transaction, but only to the extent the
Purchased Shares are at the time covered by such right. Appropriate adjustments shall be
made to the price per share payable upon exercise of the Repurchase Right to reflect the
effect of the Corporate Transaction upon the Corporation's capital structure; provided.
however, that the aggregate price shall remain the same.

F. RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL

1. Grant. The Corporation is hereby granted the right of first refusal (the
"First Refusal Right"), exercisable in connection with any proposed transfer of the Purchased
Shares in which Optionee has vested in accordance with the vesting provisions of Article E.
For purposes of this Article F, the term "transfer" shall include any sale, assignment, pledge,
encumbrance or other disposition of the Purchased Shares intended to be made by Owner,
but shall not include any of the permitted transfers under paragraph D.I.

2. Notice Qf Intended Disposition. In the event any Owner of the
Purchased Shares desires to accept a bona fide third-party offer foi the transfer of any or
all of such shares (the Purchased Shares subject to such offer to be hereinafter called the
'Target Shares"), Owner shall promptly (i) deliver to the Corporate Secretary written notice
(the "Disposition Notice") of the terms and conditions of the offer, including the purchase
price and the identity of the third-party offeror, and (ii) provide satisfactory proof that the
disposition of the Target Shares to such third-party offeror would not be in contravention
of the provisions set forth in Articles B and D.

3. Exercise of Right. The Corporation (or its assignees) shall, for a period
of twenty-five (25) days following receipt of the Disposition Notice, have the right to
repurchase any or all of the Target Shares subject to the Disposition Notice upon the same
terms and conditions as those specified therein or upon such other terms and conditions (not
materially different from those specified in the Disposition Notice) to which Owner
consents. Such right shall be exercisable by delivery of written notice (the "Exercise Notice")
to Owner prior to the expiration of the twenty-five (25)-day exercise period. If such right
is exercised with respect to all the Target Shares, then the Corporation (or its assignees)
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shall effect the repurchase of such shares, including payment of the purchase price, not more
than five (5) business days after delivery of the Exercise Notice; and at such time Owner
shall deliver to the Corporation the certificates representing the Target Shares to be
repurchased, each certificate to be properly endorsed for transfer. 1b the extent any of the
Target Shares are at the time held in escrow under Article G, the certificates for such shares
shall automatically be released from escrow and delivered to the Corporation for purchase.

Should the purchase price specified in the Disposition Notice be payable in
property other than cash or evidences of indebtedness, the Corporation (or its assignees)
shall have the right to pay the purchase price in-the form of cash equal in amount to the
value of such property. If Owner and the Corporation (or its assignees) cannot agree on
such cash value within ten (10) days after the Corporation's receipt of the Disposition
Notice, the valuation shall be made by an appraiser of recognized standing selected by
Owner and the Corporation (or its assignees) or, if they cannot agree on an appraiser within
twenty (20) days after the Corporation's receipt of the Disposition Notice, each shall select
an appraiser of recognized standing and the two (2) appraisers shall designate a third
appraiser of recognized standing, whose appraisal shall be determinative of such value. The
cost of such appraisal shall be shared equally by Owner and the Corporation. The closing
shall then be held on the later of (i) the fifth business day following delivery of the Exercise
Notice or (ii) the fifth business day after such cash valuation shall have been made.

4. Non-Exercise of Right. In the event the Exercise Notice is not given
to Owner within twenty-five (25) days following the date of the Corporation's receipt of the
Disposition Notice, Owner shall have a period of thirty (30) days thereafter in which to sell
or otherwise dispose of the Target Shares to the third-party offeror identified in the
Disposition Notice upon terms and conditions (including the purchase price) no more
favorable to such third-party offeror than those specified in the Disposition Notice: provided.
however, that any such sale or disposition must not be effected in contravention of the
provisions of Article B. To the extent any of the Target Shares aie at the time held in
escrow under Article G, the certificates for such shares shall automatically be released from
escrow and surrendered to Owner. The third-parry offeror shall acquire the Target Shares
free and clear of the Repurchase Right under Article E and the First Refusal Right
hereunder, but the acquired shares shall remain subject to (i) the securities law restrictions
of paragraph B.2(a) and (ii) the market stand-off provisions of paragraph D.3. In the event
Owner does not effect such sale or disposition of the Target Shares within the specified
thirty (30)-day period, the First Refusal Right shall continue to be applicable to any
subsequent disposition of the Target Shares by Owner until such right lapses in accordance
with paragraph F.7.

5. Partial Exercise of Right. In the event the Corporation (or its
assignees) makes a timely exercise of the First Refusal Right with respect to a portion, but
not all, of the Target Shares specified in the Disposition Notice, Owner shall have the
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option, exercisable by written notice to the Corporation delivered within five (5) days after
Owner's receipt of the Exercise Notice, to effect the sale of the Target Shares pursuant to
either of the following alternatives:

(i) sale or other disposition of all the Target Shares to the
third-party offeror identified in the Disposition Notice, but in full compliance
with the requirements of paragraph F.4, as if the Corporation did not exercise
the First Refusal Right hereunder; or

(ii) sale to the Corporation (or its assignees) of the portion
of the Target Shares which the Corporation (or its assignees) has elected to
purchase, such sale to be effected in substantial conformity with the provisions
of paragraph F.3.

Failure of Owner to deliver timely notification to the Corporation under this
paragraph F.S shall be deemed to be an election by Owner to sell the Target Shares
pursuant to alternative (i) above.

6. Recapitalization/Reorganization.

(a) In the event of any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization,
combination of shares, exchange of shares or other transaction affecting the outstanding
Common Stock as a class effected without the Corporation's receipt of consideration, any
new, substituted or additional securities or other property which is by reason of such
transaction distributed with respect to the Purchased Shares shall be immediately subject
to the First Refusal Right hereunder, but only to the extent the Purchased Shares are at the
time covered by such right.

(b) In the event of a Reorganization, the First Refusal Right shall
remain in full force and effect and shall apply to the new capital stock or other property
received in exchange for the Purchased Shares in consummation of the Reorganization, but
only to the extent the Purchased Shares are at the time covered by such right.

7. Lafi££. The First Refusal Right under this Article F shall lapse and
cease to have effect upon the earliest to occur of (i) the first date on which shares of the
Common Stock are held of record by more than five hundred (500) persons, (ii) a
determination is made by the Board that a public market exists for the outstanding shares
of Common Stock or (iii) a firm commitment underwritten public offering, pursuant to an
effective registration statement under the 1933 Act, covering the offer and sale of the
Common Stock in the aggregate amount of at least ten million dollars ($10,000,000).
However, the market stand-off provisions of paragraph D.3 shall continue to remain in full
force and effect following the lapse of the First Refusal Right hereunder.
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G. ESCROW

1. Deposit. Upon issuance, the certificates for the Purchased Shares shall
be deposited in escrow with the Corporate Secretary to be held in accordance with the
provisions of this Article G. Each deposited certificate shall be accompanied by a duly-
executed Assignment Separate from Certificate in the form of Exhibit I. The deposited

-certificates, together with any other assets or securities from time to time deposited with the
Corporate Secretary pursuant to the requirements of this Agreement, shall remain in escrow
until such time or times as the certificates (or other assets and securities) are to be released
or otherwise surrendered for cancellation in accordance with paragraph G.3. Upon delivery
of the certificates (or other assets and securities) to the Corporate Secretary, Owner shall
be issued an instrument of deposit acknowledging the number of Purchased Shares (or other
assets and securities) delivered in escrow.

2. Recapitalization. In the event of any stock: split, stock dividend,
recapitalization, combination of shares, exchange of shares, or other change affecting the
Corporation's outstanding Common Stock as a class effected without the Corporation's
receipt of consideration or in the event of a Corporate Transaction or Reorganization, any
new, substituted or additional securities or other property which is by reason of such
transaction distributed with respect to the Purchased Shares shall be immediately delivered
to the Corporate Secretary to be held in escrow under this Article G, but only to the extent
the Purchased Shares are at the time subject to the escrow requirements of paragraph G.I.
However, all regular cash dividends on the Purchased Shares (or other securities at the time
held in escrow) shall be paid directly to Owner and shall not be held in escrow.

3. Release/Surrender. The Purchased Shares, together with any other
assets or securities held in escrow nereunder, shall be subject to the following terms and
conditions relating to their release from escrow or their surrender to the Corporation for
repurchase and cancellation:

(i) Should the Corporation (or its assignees) elect to exercise
the Repurchase Right with respect to any Purchased Shares, then the
escrowed certificates for such Purchased Shares (together with any other
assets or securities attributable thereto) shall be delivered to the Corporation
concurrently with the payment to Owner, in cash or cash equivalent (including
the cancellation of any purchase-money indebtedness), of an amount equal to
the aggregate Exercise Price for such Purchased Shares, and Owner shall
cease to have any further rights or claims with respect to such Purchased
Shares (or other assets or securities attributable to such Purchased Shares).

(ii) Should the Corporation (or its assignees) elect to exercise
its First Refusal Right with respect to any vested Target Shares held at the
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time in escrow hereunder, then the escrowed certificates for such Target
Shares (together with any other assets or securities attributable thereto) shall,
concurrently with the payment of the paragraph F.3 purchase price for such
Target Shares to Owner, be surrendered to the Corporation, and Owner shall
cease to have any further rights or claims with respect to such Target Shares
(or other assets or securities attributable thereto).

(iii) Should the Corporation (or its assignees) elect noj to
exercise its First Refusal Right with respect to any Target Shares held at the
time in escrow hereunder, then the escrowed certificates for such Target
Shares (together with any other assets or securities attributable thereto) shall
be surrendered to Owner for disposition in accordance with provisions of
paragraph F.4.

(iv) As the interest of Optionee in the Purchased Shares (or
any other assets or securities attributable thereto) vests in accordance with the
provisions of Article E, the certificates for such vested shares (as well as all
other vested assets and securities) shall be released from escrow upon
Owner's request, but not more frequently than once every six (6) months.

(v) All purchased shares in which Optionee is vested (and
any other vested assets and securities attributable thereto) shall be released
within thirty (30) days after the earliest to occur of (a) Optionee's cessation
of Service, (b) the termination of the Repurchase Right in accordance with
the applicable provisions of Article E or (c) the termination of the First
Refusal Right in accordance with paragraph F.7.

(vi) All Purchased Shares (or other assets or securities)
released from escrow in accordance with the provisions of subparagraph (iv)
or (v) above shall nevertheless remain subject to (a) the First Refusal Right,
to the extent such right has not otherwise lapsed pursuant to paragraph F.7,
(b) the market stand-off provisions of paragraph D.3 until such provisions
terminate in accordance therewith and (c) the Special Purchase Right, to the
extent such right has not otherwise lapsed pursuant to paragraph H.4.

H.

1. Grant. In connection with the dissolution of Optionee's marriage or
the legal separation of Optionee and Optionee's spouse, the Corporation shall have the right
(the "Special Purchase Right"), exercisable at any time during the thirty (30)-day period
following the Corporation's receipt of the required Dissolution Notice under paragraph H.2,
to purchase from Optionee's spouse, in accordance with the provisions of paragraph H.3,

BPHPjn\SEL\0064074.02
12/16/9*



all or any portion of the Purchased Shares which would otherwise be awarded to such
spouse in settlement of any community property or other marital property rights such spouse
may have in such shares.

2. Notice of Decree or Agreement. Optionee shall promptly provide the
Corporate Secretary with written notice (the "Dissolution Notice") of (i) the entry of any

-judicial decree or order resolving the property rights of Optionee and Optionee's spouse in
connection with their marital dissolution or legal separation or (ii) the execution of any
contract or agreement relating to the distribution or division of such property rights. The
Dissolution Notice shall be accompanied by a copy of the actual decree of dissolution or
settlement agreement between Optionee and Optionee's spouse which provides for the
award to the spouse of one or more Purchased Shares in settlement of any community
property or other marital property rights such spouse may have in such shares.

3. Exercise of Special Purchase Right. The Special'Purchase Right shall
be exercisable by delivery of written notice (the "Purchase Notice") to Optionee and
Optionee's spouse within thirty (30) days after the Corporation's receipt of the Dissolution
Notice. The Purchase Notice shall indicate the number of shares to be purchased by the
Corporation, the date such purchase is to be effected (such date to be not less than five (S)
business days, nor more than ten (10) business days, after the date cif the Purchase Notice)
and the Fair Market Value to be paid for such Purchased Shares. Optionee (or Optionee's
spouse, to the extent such spouse has physical possession of the Purchased Shares) shall,
prior to the close of business on the date specified for the purchase, deliver to the
Corporate Secretary the certificates representing the shares to be purchased, each certificate
to be properly endorsed for transfer. To the extent any of the shares to be purchased by
the Corporation are at the time held in escrow under Article G, the certificates for such
shares shall be promptly delivered out of escrow to the Corporation. The Corporation shall,
concurrently with the receipt of the stock certificates, pay to Optionee's spouse (in cash or
cash equivalents) an amount equal to the Fair Market Value specified for such shares in the
Purchase Notice.

If Optionee's spouse does not agree with the Fair Market Value specified for
the shares in the Purchase Notice, then the spouse shall promptly notify the Corporation in
writing of such disagreement and the fair market value of such shares shall thereupon be
determined by an appraiser of recognized standing selected by the Corporation and the
spouse. If they cannot agree on an appraiser within twenty (20) days after the date of the
Purchase Notice, each shall select an appraiser of recognized standing, and the two (2)
appraisers shall designate a third appraiser of recognized standing whose appraisal shall be
determinative of such value. The cost of the appraisal shall be shared equally by the
Corporation and Optionee's spouse. The closing shall then be held on the fifth business day
following the completion of such appraisal; provided, however, that if the appraised value
is more than twenty-five percent (25%) greater than the Fair Market Value specified for the
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shares in the Purchase Notice, the Corporation shall have the right, exercisable prior to the
expiration of such five (5) business-day period, to rescind the exercise of the Special
Purchase Right and thereby revoke its election to purchase the shares awarded to the
spouse.

4. Lap$e. The Special Purchase Right under this Article H shall lapse and
-cease to have effect upon the earlier to occur of (i) the first date on which the First Refusal
Right lapses or (ii) the expiration of the thirty (30)-day exercise period specified in
paragraph H3, to the extent the Special Purchase Right is not timely exercised in
accordance with such paragraph.

I. GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Assignment. The Corporation may assign its Repurchase Right, its First
Refusal Right and/or its Special Purchase Right to any person or entity selected by the
Board, including (without limitation) one or more stockholders of Ihe Corporation.

If the assignee of the Repurchase Right is other than (i) a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Corporation or (ii) the parent corporation owning one hundred percent
(100%) of the Corporation's outstanding capital stock, then such assignee must make a cash
payment to the Corporation, upon the assignment of the Repurchase Right, in an amount
equal to the excess (if any) of (i) the Fair Market Value of the Purchased Shares at the time
subject to the assigned Repurchase Right over (ii) the aggregate repurchase price payable
for the Purchased Shares thereunder.

2. No Employment or Service Contract. Nothing in this Agreement or in
the Plan shall confer upon Optionee any right to continue in Service for any period of
specific duration or interfere with or otherwise restrict in any way the rights of the
Corporation (or any Parent or Subsidiary) or Optionee, which rights are hereby expressly
reserved by each, to terminate Optionee's Service at any time for any reason whatsoever,
with or without cause.

3. Notice}. Any notice required in connection with (i) the Repurchase
Right, the Special Purchase Right or the First Refusal Right or (ii) the disposition of any
Purchased Shares covered thereby shall be given in writing and shall be deemed effective
upon personal delivery or upon deposit in the United States mail, registered or certified,
postage prepaid and addressed to the party entitled to such notice at the address indicated
below such party's signature line on this Agreement or at such other address as such party
may designate by ten (10) days advance written notice under this paragraph 1.3 to all other
parties to this Agreement.
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4. No Waiver. The failure of the Corporation (or its assignees) in any
instance to exercise the Repurchase Right, or the failure of ihe Corporation (or its
assignees) in any instance to exercise the First Refusal Right, or the failure of the
Corporation (or its assignees) in any instance to exercise the Special Purchase Right shall
not constitute a waiver of any other repurchase rights and/or rights of first refusal that may
subsequently arise under the provisions of this Agreement or any other agreement between

-the Corporation and Optionee or Optionee's spouse. No waiver of any breach or condition
of this Agreement shall be deemed to be a waiver of any other or subsequent breach or
condition, whether of like or different nature.

5. Cancellation of Shares. If the Corporation (or its assignees) shall make
available, at the time and place and in the amount and form provided in this Agreement,
the consideration .for the Purchased Shares to be repurchased in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement, then from and after such time, the person from whom such
shares are to be repurchased shall no longer have any rights as a holder of such shares
(other than the right to receive payment of such consideration in accordance with this
Agreement). Such shares shall be deemed purchased in accordance with the applicable
provisions hereof, and the Corporation (or its assignees) shall be deemed the owner and
holder of such shares, whether or not the certificates therefor have been delivered as
required by this Agreement.

J. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

1. Optionee Undertaking. Optionee hereby agrees to take whatever
additional action and execute whatever additional documents the Corporation may deem
necessary or advisable in order to carry out or effect one or more of the obligations or
restrictions imposed on either Optionee or the Purchased Shares pursuant to the express
provisions of this Agreement.

2. Agreement is Entire Contract. This Agreement constitutes the entire
contract between the parties hereto with regard to the subject matter hereof. This
Agreement is made pursuant to the provisions of the Plan and shall in all respects be
construed in conformity with the express terms and provisions of the Plan.

3. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed
in accordance with, the laws of the State of California without resort to that State's conflict-
of-laws rules.

4. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each
of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one
and the same instrument.
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5. Successors and Assigns. The provisions of this Agreement shall inure
to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the Corporation and its successors and assigns and
Optionee and Optionee's legal representatives, heirs, legatees, distributees, assigns and
transferees by operation of law, whether or not any such person shall have become a party
to this Agreement and have agreed in writing to join herein and be bound by the terms and
conditions hereof.

6. Power of Attorney. Optionee's spouse hereby appoints Optionee his or
her true and lawful attorney in fact, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead,
and for his or her use and benefit, to agree to any amendment or modification of this
Agreement and to execute such further instruments and take such further actions as may
reasonably be necessary to carry out the intent of this Agreement. Optionee's spouse
further gives and grants unto Optionee as his or her attorney in fact full power and authority
to do and perform every act necessary and proper to be done in the exercise of any of the
foregoing powers as fully as he or she might or could do if personally present, with full
power of substitution and revocation, hereby ratifying and confirming all that Optionee shall
lawfully do and cause to be done by virtue of this power of attorney.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the
day and year first indicated above.

NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

By:

Title:

Address:

OPTIONEE

Address:

The undersigned spouse of Optionee has read and hereby approves the
foregoing Stock Purchase Agreement. In consideration of the Corporation's granting
Optionee the right to acquire the Purchased Shares in accordance with the terms of such
Agreement, the undersigned hereby agrees to be irrevocably bound by all the terms and
provisions of such Agreement, including (specifically) the right of the Corporation (or its
assignees) to purchase any and all interest or right the undersigned may otherwise have in
such shares pursuant to community property laws or other marital property rights.

OPTIONEE'S SPOUSE

Address:
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EXHIBIT I

ASSIGNMENT SEPARATE FROM CERTIFICATE

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, hereby sell(s),

assign(s) and transfer(s) unto Netscape Communications Corporation (the "Corporation"),

( ) shares of the Common Stock of the Corporation

standing in his or her name on the books of the Corporation represented by Certificate No.

herewith, and does hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint

Attorney to transfer the said stock on the books of the Corporation with full power of

substitution in the premises.

Dated:

Signature

Instruction: Please do not fill in any blanks other than the signature line. Please sign
exactly as you would like your name to appear on the issued stock certificate. The purpose
of this assignment is to enable the Corporation to exercise its Repurchase Right set forth
in the Agreement without requiring additional signatures on the patt of Optionee.
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EXHIBIT II

SECTION 260.141.11
TITLE 10, CALIFORNIA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE

260.141.11 Restriction on Transfer, (a) The issuer of any security upon which
_a restriction on transfer has been imposed pursuant to Sections 260.102.6, 260.141.10 or
260.534 shall cause a copy of this section to be delivered to each issuee or transferee of such
security at the time the certificate evidencing the security is delivered to the issuee or
transferee.

(b) It is unlawful for the holder of any such security to consummate a sale
or transfer of such security, or any interest therein, without the prior written consent of the
Commissioner (until this condition is removed pursuant to Section 260.141.12 of these rules),
except:

(1) to the issuer;

(2) pursuant to the order or process of any court;

(3) to any person described in Subdivision (i) of Section 25102 of the Code
or Section 260.105.14 of these rules;

(4) to the transferor's ancestors, descendants or spouse, or any custodian
or trustee for the account of the transferor or the transferor's ancestors, descendants, or
spouse; or to a transferee by a trustee or custodian for the account of the transferee or the
transferee's ancestors, descendants or spouse;

(5) to holders of securities of the same class of the same issuer;

(6) by way of gift or donation inter vivos or on death;

(7) by or through a broker-dealer licensed under the Code (either acting
as such or as a finder) to a resident of a foreign state, territory or country who is neither
domiciled in this state to the knowledge of the broker-dealer, nor actually present in this
state if the sale of such securities is not in violation of any securities law of the foreign state,
territory or country concerned;

(8) to a broker-dealer licensed under the Code in a principal transaction,
or as an underwriter or member of an underwriting syndicate or selling group;

(9) if the interest sold or transferred is a pledge or other lien given by the
purchaser to the seller upon a sale of the security for which the (Commissioner's written
consent is obtained or under this rule not required;

Bf>HPA1\SEL\0OMO76.D2
12/16/94 II-l



(10) byway of a sale qualified under Sections 25111,25112,25113 or 25121
of the Code, of the securities to be transferred, provided that no order under Section 25140
or Subdivision (a) of Section 25143 is in effect with respect to such qualification;

(11) by a corporation to a wholly owned subsidiary of such corporation, or
by a wholly owned subsidiary of a corporation to such corporation;

_ (12) by way of an exchange qualified under Section 25111, 25112 or 25113
of the Code, provided that no order under Section 25140 or Subdivision (a) of Section 25143
is in effect with respect to such qualification;

(13) between residents of foreign states, territories or countries who are
neither domiciled nor actually present in this state;

(14) to the State Controller pursuant to the Unclaimed Property Law or to
the administrator of the unclaimed property law of another state; or -

(15) by the State Controller pursuant to the Unclaimed Property Law or by
the administrator of the unclaimed property law of another state if, in either such case, such
person (i) discloses to potential purchasers at the sale that transfer of the securities is
restricted under this rule, (ii) delivers to each purchaser a copy of this rule, and (iii) advises
the Commissioner of the name of each purchaser;

(16) by a trustee to a successor trustee when such transfer does not involve
a change in the beneficial ownership of the securities;

(17) by way of an offer and sale of outstanding securities in an issuer
transaction that is subject to the qualification requirement of Section 25110 of the Code but
exempt from that qualification requirement by subdivision (f) of Section .25102; provided
that any such transfer is on the condition that any certificate evidencing the security issued
to such transferee shall contain the legend required by this section.

(c) The certificates representing all such securities subject to such a
restriction on transfer, whether upon initial issuance or upon any transfer thereof, shall bear
on their face a legend, prominently stamped or printed thereon in capital letters of not less
than 10-point size, reading as follows:

"IT IS UNLAWFUL TO CONSUMMATE A SALE OR TRANSFER OF THIS
SECURITY, OR ANY INTEREST THEREIN, OR TO RECEIVE ANY CONSIDERA-
TION THEREFOR. WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE COMMIS-
SIONER OF CORPORATIONS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, EXCEPT AS
PERMITTED IN THE COMMISSIONER'S RULES."
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EXHIBIT III

SECTION 83(b) TAX ELECTION

This statement is being made under Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code, pursuant
to Treas. Reg. Section 1.83-2.

(1) The taxpayer who performed the services is:

~~ Name:

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

Address:
Taxpayer Ident. No.:

(2) The property with respect to which the election is being made is _
of the common stock of Netscape Communications Corporation.

The property was issued on , 199 .

shares

The taxable year in which the election is being made is the calendar year 199_.

The property is subject to a repurchase right pursuant to which the issuer has the
right to acquire the property at the original purchase price if for any reason
taxpayer's employment with the issuer is terminated. The Issuer's repurchase right
lapses in a series of monthly installments over a 50 month period ending on

The fair market value at the time of transfer (determined without regard to any
restriction other than a restriction which by its terms will never lapse) is $
per share.

The amount paid for such property is $_ per share.

A copy of this statement was furnished to Netscape Communications Corporation for
whom taxpayer rendered the services underlying the transfer of property.

(9) This statement is executed on _, 199_.

Spouse (if any) Taxpayer

This election must be filed with the Internal Revenue Service Center with which taxpayer files
his or her Federal income tax returns and must be made within thirty (30) days after the
execution date of the Stock Purchase Agreement. This filing should be made by registered or
certified mail, return receipt requested. Optionee must retain two (2) copies of the completed
form for filing with his or her Federal and state tax returns for the current tax year and an
additional copy for his or her records.
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The property described in the above Section 83(b) election is comprised of shares of
common stock acquired pursuant to the exercise of an incentive stock option under Section
422 of the Internal Revenue Code (the "Code"). Accordingly, it is the intent of the Taxpayer
to utilize this election to achieve the following tax results:

1. The purpose of this election is to have the alternative minimum taxable
income attributable to the purchased shares measured by the amount by which the fair
jnarket value of such shares at the time of their transfer to the Taxpayer exceeds the
purchase price paid for the shares. In the absence of this election, such alternative
minimum taxable income would be measured by the spread between the fair market value
of the purchased shares and the purchase price which exists on the various lapse dates in
effect for the forfeiture restrictions applicable to such shares. The election is to be effective
to the full extent permitted under the Code.

2. Section 421(a)(l) of the Code expressly excludes from income any
excess of the fair market value of the purchased shares over the amount paid for such
shares. Accordingly, this election is also intended to be effective in the event there is a
"disqualifying disposition" of the shares, within the meaning of Section 421(b) of the Code,
which would otherwise render the provisions of Section 83(a) of the Code applicable at that
time. Consequently, the Taxpayer hereby elects to have the amount of disqualifying
disposition income measured by the excess of the fair market value of the purchased shares
on the date of transfer to the Taxpayer over the amount paid for such shares. Since Section
421(a) presently applies to the shares which are the subject of this Section 83(b) election,
no taxable income is actually recognized for regular tax purposes at this time, and no
income taxes are payable, by the Taxpayer as a result of this election.

THIS PAGE 2 IS TO BE ATTACHED TO ANY SECTION 83(b) ELECTION FILED IN
CONNECTION WITH THE EXERCISE OF AN INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION UNDER
THE FEDERAL TAX LAWS.

12/16/W III-2



APPENDIX

DEFINITIONS

A. Board shall mean the Corporation's Board of Directors.

B. Code shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

C Common Stock shall mean the Corporation's common stock.

D. Corporate Transaction shall mean one or more of the following stockholder-
approved transactions:

(i) a merger or consolidation in which securities possessing more
than fifty percent (50%) of the total combined voting power of the
Corporation's outstanding securities are transferred to a person or persons
different from the persons holding those securities immediately prior to such
transaction, or

(ii) the sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all
of the Corporation's assets in complete liquidation or dissolution of the
Corporation.

E. Exchange Act shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

F. Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on any relevant date, prior
to the initial public offering of the Common Stock, shall be determined by the Plan
Administrator after taking into account such factors as it shall deem appropriate.

G. Grant Notice shall mean the notice of grant of stock option pursuant to which
Optionee has been informed of the basic termsy of the Option.

H. Incentive Opttpn shall mean a stock option granted under the Plan which
satisfies the requirements of Code Section 422.

I. 1933 Act shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

J. Non-Statutory Option shall mean an option not intended to meet the
requirements of Code Section 422.

K. Option Agreement shall mean the agreement between the Corporation and
Optionee evidencing the Option.
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L, Owner shall mean Optionee and all subsequent holders of the Purchased
Shares who derive their chain of ownership through a permitted transfer from Optionee in
accordance with paragraph D.I.

M. £ar£Dl shall mean any corporation (other than the Corporation) in an
unbroken chain of corporations ending with the Corporation, provided each corporation in
the unbroken chain (other than the Corporation) owns, at the time of the determination,
stock possessing fifty percent (50%) or more of the total combined voting power of all
classes of stock in one of the other corporations in such chain.

N. Reorganization shall mean any of the following transactions:

(i) a merger or consolidation in which the Corporation is not the
surviving entity,

(ii) a sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of
the Corporation's assets,

(iii) a reverse merger in which the Corporation is this surviving entity
but in which the Corporation's outstanding voting securities are transferred
in whole or in part to a person or persons other than those who held such
securities immediately prior to the merger, or

(iv) any transaction effected primarily to change the state in which
the Corporation is incorporated or to create a holding company structure.

O. SEC shall mean the Securities and Exchange Commission.

P. Service shall mean the provision of services to the Corporation or any Parent
or Subsidiary by an individual in the capacity of an employee, subject to the control and
direction of the employer entity as to both the work to be performed and the manner and
method of performance, a non-employee member of the board of directors or a consultant.

Q. Subsidiary shall mean any corporation (other than the Corporation) in an
unbroken chain of corporations beginning with the Corporation, provided each such
corporation (other than the last corporation) in the unbroken chain owns, at the time of the
determination, stock possessing fifty percent (50%) or more of the total combined voting
power of all classes of stock in one of the other corporations in such chain.
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.— I.

NETSCAPE COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
1994 STOCK OPTION PLAN

(AS AMENDED THROUGH JANUARY 20, 1995)

PURPOSES OF THE PLAN

This 1994 Stock Option Plan is intended to promote the interests of Netscape
Communications Corporation, a Delaware corporation, by providing a method whereby
eligible individuals who provide valuable services to the Corporation (or any Parent or
Subsidiary) may be offered incentives and rewards which will encourage them to acquire a
proprietary interest, or otherwise increase their proprietary interest, in the Corporation and
continue to render services to the Corporation (or any Parent or Subsidiary).

II. DEFINITIONS

For the purposes of this Plan, the following definitions shall be in effect:

A. Board shall mean the Corporation's Board of Directors.

B. Cffde shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

C. Committee shall mean a committee of two (2) or more Board members
appointed by the Board to exercise one or more administrative functions under the Plan.

D. Common Stock shall mean the Corporation's common stock.

H. Corporate Transaction shall mean either of the following stockholder-
approved transactions to which the Corporation is a parry:

(i) a merger or consolidation in which securities possessing
more than fifty percent (50%) of the total combined voting power of the
Corporation's outstanding securities are transferred to a pet son or persons
different from the persons holding those who held those securities
immediately prior to such transaction, or

(ii) the sale, transfer or other disposition of all or
substantially all of the Corporation's assets in complete liquidation or
dissolution of the Corporation.

F. Corporation shall mean Netscape Communications Corporation, a
Delaware corporation.
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